
 
 
 
 
 
 

Grand River Conservation Authority
Agenda - General Meeting

 
Friday, November 24, 2023

9:30 a.m.
Hybrid Meeting of the General Membership

GRCA Administration Centre
Zoom Virtual Meeting

Pages

1. Call to Order

2. Certification of Quorum

3. Chair’s Remarks

4. Review of Agenda

THAT the agenda for the General Membership Meeting be approved as
circulated.

5. Declarations of Pecuniary Interest

6. Minutes of the Previous Meetings 1

THAT the minutes of the General Membership Meeting of October 27, 2023
be approved as circulated.

7. Business Arising from Previous Minutes

8. Hearing of Delegations

9. Presentations

10. Correspondence

11. 1st and 2nd Reading of By-Laws

12. Reports:

a. Minutes of the Ad-hoc CA Act Review Committee - November 8,
2023

10

THAT the minutes of the Ad-hoc Conservation Authorities Act
Regulations Committee Meeting of November 8, 2023 be received
as information.

1. Category 3 Program Request Letter 13



b. GM-11-23-84 - Cash and Investment Status 15

THAT Report Number GM-11-23-84 Cash and Investment Status –
October 2023 be received as information.

c. GM-11-23-86 - Reserves 2023 17

See report for full recommendation.

d. GM-11-23-86 - Financial Summary 29

THAT the Financial Summary for the period ending October 31,
2023 be approved.

e. GM-11-23-88 - Human Resources Policies Update 34

THAT the Human Resources Policies dated November 24, 2023 be
approved and implemented.

f. GM-11-23-85 - Rockwood Bridge No.5 Replacement 109

THAT the Grand River Conservation Authority (GRCA) award the
tender for the Rockwood Bridge No. 5 Replacement to 560789
Ontario Inc. O/A R&M Construction for the amount of $238,022.50
excluding HST;

AND THAT a total budget of $270,000.00 excluding HST be
approved.

g. GM-11-23-87 - Shand Dam Isolation Stoplogs Procurement -
Tender Award

111

THAT the Grand River Conservation Authority award the contract for
the Shand Dam Isolation Stoplog Procurement to Embertech
Industrial Inc. for the amount of $476,000 (excluding HST);

AND THAT an overall project budget of $523,600 (excluding HST)
be approved for this project.

h. GM-11-23-89 - Current Watershed Conditions 113

THAT Report Number GM-11-23-89 – Current Watershed
Conditions as of November 15, 2023 be received as information.

13. Committee of the Whole

14. General Business

15. 3rd Reading of By-Laws

16. Other Business

17. Closed Meeting

THAT the General Membership enter a closed meeting in accordance with
the Municipal Act section 239(2) for the following purpose(s): labour
relations or employee negotiations, and litigation or potential litigation.

a. Minutes of the previous closed session

b. Labour Relations or Employee Negotiations

c. Litigation or potential litigation



18. Next Meetings

19. Adjourn

Regrets only to:

Office of the Chief Administrative Officer,  Phone: 519-621-2763 ext. 2200



Grand River Conservation Authority 
Minutes - General Membership Meeting 

Date: 
Time: 
Location: 

October 27, 2023 
9:30 am 
Hybrid Meeting of the General Membership 
GRCA Administration Centre 
Zoom Virtual Meeting 

Members Present Bruce Banbury, Christine Billings, John Challinor II, Ken Yee Chew, 
Brian Coleman, Doug Craig, Kevin Davis, Mike Devine, Jim Erb, 
Susan Foxton, Guy Gardhouse, Gord Greavette, Colleen James, 
Daniel Lawrence, David Miller, Natasha Salonen, Sandy Shantz, Jerry 
Smith, Shawn Watters, Chris White, Kari Williams, Alex Wilson 

Regrets Gino Caputo, Lisa Hern, Rob Shirton, Pam Wolf 
Staff Samantha Lawson, Karen Armstrong, Beth Brown, Krista Bunn, Ron 

Gasparetto, Brandon Heyer, Janet Ivey, Katelyn Lynch, Sonja Radoja, 
Lisa Stocco, Vahid Taleban, Pam Walther-Mabee, Eowyn Spencer 

1. Call to Order
The Meeting was called to order by the Chair at 9:30 a.m.

2. Certification of Quorum
The Secretary-Treasurer certified quorum with more than half of the Members present. A
total of 22 Members attended the meeting.

K.Davis joined the meeting at 9:32 a.m.

3. Chair’s Remarks
The Chair welcomed the Members and made the following remarks:
• Two of our Guelph Lake Conservation Area staff have recently been awarded for

their quick-thinking and lifesaving, selfless actions when faced with a medical
emergency experienced by another employee in the workplace. Brad Dixon,
superintendent at Guelph Lake received the Ontario Provincial Police
Commissioner’s Citation for Lifesaving St John’s Ambulance Life Saving Award, and
Carter McCrossin, Park Operations Technician received an Ontario Provincial Police
Commissioner’s Commendation. Thanks to these members of staff, and
congratulations for the formal recognition.

• Vahid Taleban has accepted a new position as Manager of Flood Operations.
Recognizing the critical role of Flood Management at the GRCA and the need to
increase support at the leadership level, this new position is responsible for Flood
Forecasting and Warning, Natural Hazard Mapping and Management, and

1



Engineering responsibilities for the Permit/Plan Review function for the GRCA. Vahid 
has been an integral part of our engineering and flood management team since 
2017.  

• The Chair and CAO attended Conservation Ontario Council on September 25 where
their respective budget for 2024 was approved.

• The Board watershed tour on September 28 was a successful and enjoyable day out
in the field. Thanks to all the staff who participated in making that day a success and
the Board member who were able to attend.

• D.Miller expressed his appreciation for the tour, noting that it was a great learning
experience and an opportunity to get to know staff, and suggested that it be offered
to each new Board.

• S.Lawson has been providing, when requested, presentations to participating
municipal councils on the Category 2 MOUs, with more scheduled in the next few
weeks. The process is going well so far with no major concerns identified.

• S.Lawson shared an update on the organizational structure.

4. Review of Agenda

23-150
Moved By John Challinor II
Seconded By Susan Foxton
THAT the agenda for the General Membership Meeting be approved as circulated.

Carried 

5. Declarations of Pecuniary Interest
There were no declarations of pecuniary interests made in relation to the matters to be
dealt with.

6. Minutes of the Previous Meetings

23-151
Moved By David Miller
Seconded By Bruce Banbury
THAT the minutes of the General Membership Meeting of September 22, 2023 be
approved as circulated.

Carried 

7. Business Arising from Previous Minutes
There was no business arising from the minutes of the previous meeting.

8. Hearing of Delegations
23-152
Moved By John Challinor II
Seconded By Brian Coleman
THAT one unregistered delegation be permitted to present for three minutes in
accordance with Administrative By-law 1-2023.

Carried 

• Peter Pautler addressed the General Membership to share concerns related to the
Outdoor Environmental Education Program, sharing some history of the program and
discussing the importance of continued hands-on environmental education for
students.

K.Chew joined the meeting at 9:48 a.m.

2



23-153
Moved By Kevin Davis
Seconded By Doug Craig
THAT the unregistered delegation be permitted to present for an additional three
minutes.

Carried 

• The delegation continued the presentation, sharing concerns related to existing
infrastructure and the expansion of virtual programming.

The Chair thanked the delegation for his presentation. M.Devine requested that staff 
circulate the speaking notes provided by the delegation. 

9. Presentations
There were no Presentations.

10. Correspondence

10.a Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing - Proposed legislation to return
lands to the Greenbelt and Oak Ridges Moraine 

23-154
Moved By Shawn Watters
Seconded By John Challinor II
THAT Correspondence from the Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing regarding
the proposed legislation to return lands to the Greenbelt and Oak Ridges Moraine be
received as information.

Carried 

11. 1st and 2nd Reading of By-Laws
None.

12. Reports:

12.a GM-10-23-80 - Budget 2024 - Draft #1
• S.Radoja provided a detailed overview of the first draft of the 2024 budget,

highlighting the new framework per Regulations under the Conservation
Authorities Act.

• The presentation included detailed information regarding revenue and
expenditure estimates, program and operating costs, with comparisons to prior
years. There was an overview of the funding methods for category 1, 2, and 3
programs and services as well as general operating expenses under the new
budget framework. S.Radoja also provided information about the budget timeline
as it relates to municipal notification, consultation, and apportionment approval.

• The first draft budget estimate reflects a 2.5% increase for municipal
apportionment as compared to 2023 levy allocations.

• J.Challinor thanked staff for their efforts toward the new budget format and
inquired about the use of reserves, and how they are replenished. S.Radoja
noted different purposes for the various reserve funds, noting that when they are
used for operating costs it is as a method of stabilization to help keep municipal
apportionments and program estimates consistent from year to year. Additionally,
S.Radoja indicated that the guiding principle of building reserves is followed.

• K.Davis requested that the year-over-year differences be displayed as a
percentage in future iterations of the budget, and inquired about plans to move
towards a multi-year budget model. S.Radoja noted that five-year forecasts for

3



water-control infrastructure are prepared annually and that an asset management 
plan is being developed to inform ongoing capital project and infrastructure 
expenses. 

• S.Shantz inquired about funding for category three programs and discussed the
proposed allocation of the reserves. S.Radoja confirmed that category three
programs do not receive municipal apportionment and will require self-generated
funds or alternate funding sources. Allocating any surplus back to category one
or general operating expenses will assist in offsetting the municipal
apportionment as proposed for the 2024 budget. K.Armstrong added that any
budget surplus will be discussed by the Board annually throughout the budget
process as it is a requirement identified in the legislation. Some board members
indicated their preference to have the surplus remain in category three since the
programs are not otherwise funded.

• S.Shantz asked what happens if there is a deficit overall in category 3 programs
and S.Radoja advised that reserves could be used and which reserve would
dependent on the nature of the deficit.

• The Chair summarized the discussion, noting that anomalies may be identified
and discussed as we transition to the new budget framework. To clarify the note
about category three surplus allocations, S.Lawson noted that surplus from
category one cannot be allocated elsewhere as they are mandatory programs
and services funded by municipal apportionment. S.Lawson reiterated that no
new programs or significant expenses are introduced as part of this budget and
that the GRCA has traditionally used surplus from some programs to offset
expenses in other programs.

23-155
Moved By John Challinor II
Seconded By Ken Yee Chew
THAT Report Number GM-10-23-80 - Budget 2024 - Draft #1 be approved for
consultation purposes, circulated to all participating municipalities, and posted to the
GRCA website.

Carried 

12.b GM-10-23-81 - Budget Draft #1 - Municipal Apportionment
There were no questions or concerns related to this item. 

23-156
Moved By John Challinor II
Seconded By Brian Coleman
THAT Report Number GM-10-23-81 - Budget 2024 - Draft #1 - Municipal
Apportionment be received as information.

Carried 

12.c GM-10-23-75 - Cash and Investment Status
There were no questions or concerns related to this item. 

23-157
Moved By Gord Greavette
Seconded By Christine Billings
THAT Report Number GM-10-23-75 - Cash and Investment Status – September
2023 be received as information.

Carried 

12.d GM-10-23-82 - Financial Summary
There were no questions or concerns related to this item. 

4



23-158
Moved By Jerry Smith
Seconded By Shawn Watters
THAT the Financial Summary for the period ending September 30, 2023 be
approved.

Carried 

12.e GM-10-23-73 - 2024 Board Meeting Schedule
There were no questions or concerns related to this item. 

23-159
Moved By Brian Coleman
Seconded By Bruce Banbury
THAT the 2024 Grand River Conservation Authority Board Meeting Schedule be
approved.

Carried 

12.f GM-10-23-74 - New Guelph Lake Nature Centre Update
• D.Miller complimented the common-sense approach to this project as it relates to

funding and planning.

23-160
Moved By John Challinor II
Seconded By Dave Miller
WHEREAS the Grand River Conservation Authority remains committed to supporting
the construction of a new Guelph Lake Nature Centre;

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT staff proceed with tendering the construction 
of the new Guelph Lake Nature Centre and report back to the General Membership 
for construction award approval. 

Carried 

12.g GM-10-23-76 - Outdoor Environmental Education Program Review
• L.Stocco provided a presentation on the review of the program, which was driven

by changes to the Conservation Authorities Act and operational changes
throughout the pandemic. With the changes to the Conservation Authorities Act,
this is a Category 3 program that operates with a deficit. The Board provided
direction to achieve breakeven operations within a reasonable time period and
that the transition reserve could be used in the interim to offset the deficit.

• The presentation highlighted the current program delivery model and the state of
existing infrastructure, risks, and considerations related to funding for
maintenance of the facilities, security of the various properties, and the GRCA's
reputation as a leader in outdoor education programming.

• The proposed next steps and new direction for the program were identified and
include the following key recommendations: transitioning the Outdoor
Environmental Education Program to operate from within the GRCA’s
Conservation Areas, expanding the hybrid program delivery model, and ensuring
an appropriate staffing model is in place.

• K.Davis inquired as to whether the operational change is required to generate
operational efficiencies or is a result of infrastructure costs, and L.Stocco
confirmed that both were considerations highlighted as reasoning to review the
program model. K.Davis further inquired about expanding virtual learning and the
importance of maintaining hands-on education, and the long-term considerations

5



of the use of the Apps' Mill Nature Centre property. K.Davis also asked if school 
boards have been consulted on the review. 

• L.Stocco noted that a thorough analysis of potential future uses of the properties
has not yet been completed as a first step is to focus on relocating the program,
and that extensive discussions with the school boards have been held and have
clearly identified the recommendation to relocate the program. She also advised
that the transition to hybrid programming could be on-site at Conservation Areas,
other GRCA locations, and at schools.

• J.Challinor inquired about revenues and school funding, and suggested that staff
provide more frequent updates to the Board as changes progress. L.Stocco
noted that the suggested hybrid model of the program has come at the request of
the school boards, as transportation costs are becoming unmanageable.

• There was discussion from the Board related to the importance of a hands-on
learning model in a natural environment as opposed to virtual programming, and
L.Stocco provided responses noting that hands-on environmental experiences
will be maintained at GRCA properties, particularly within Conservation Areas
with existing infrastructure and resources to support the new programming
model.

• Further discussion points from C.James, K.Chew, and D.Miller included looking
at other external groups or secondary education as potential partners, looking at
community groups, and discussing fundraising opportunities with donors who
have supported the education programs in the past.

• D.Miller and K.Davis suggested including this program within category two
agreements with municipalities. K.Davis further suggested that no changes be
approved until discussions with participating municipalities about funding can be
held and introduced a motion to defer the recommendations and that staff
discuss funding the program and the facilities with participating municipalities.

• Clarification was provided by staff that the nature centre properties and the
relocation of the programming are separate issues. Additionally, outdoor
education is a category three program and separate funding agreements with
municipalities are permitted for category three programs and services.

• Following discussion, staff and the Chair reiterated that the direction to staff is to
bring the issue to participating municipalities to determine their interest in funding
the existing program model and infrastructure to support the program. S.Radoja
confirmed that the Budget 2024 Draft 1 assumes no change in the education
program and a decision today does not impact the draft budget model; however
funding to support the program would be needed on an ongoing basis, if kept the
same as current.

23-161
Moved By Susan Foxton
Seconded By John Challinor II
THAT the Grand River Conservation Authority endorse the proposed actions and
transition plan outlined within this report to move its Outdoor Environmental
Education Program towards a breakeven business model that does not rely on
municipal apportionment (levy);

AND THAT staff report back to the board at minimum on an annual basis on progress 
made. 

23-162
Moved By Kevin Davis
Seconded By Brian Coleman

6



THAT the motion 23-161 be deferred until the January 2024 meeting of the 
General Membership to allow discussion with participating municipalities about 
funding the program and nature centre facilities. 

Carried 
12.h GM-10-23-78 - Provincial Offences Act Officer Appointments - Section 30.1

There were no comments or questions regarding this item. 

23-163
Moved By Susan Foxton
Seconded By Sandy Shantz
THAT the Grand River Conservation Authority re-appoint all Provincial Offences Act
Officers under Section 30.1 of the Conservation Authorities Act, to take effect on the
date of proclamation.

Carried 

12.i GM-10-23-77 - Conestogo Dam Bridge Deck Rehabilitation - Energy Attenuator
- Project Award
There were no comments or questions regarding this item.

23-164
Moved By Bruce Banbury
Seconded By Sandy Shantz
THAT the Grand River Conservation Authority award the contract for the Conestogo
Dam Bridge Deck Rehabilitation – Energy Attenuator supply and installation project
to Royal Fence Limited for the amount of $129,500 (excluding HST).

AND THAT an overall project budget of $142,450 (excluding HST) be approved for 
this project. 

Carried 

12.j GM-10-23-72 - Permits Issued under Ontario Regulation 150/06
There were no comments or questions regarding this item. 

23-165
Moved By Gord Greavette
Seconded By Colleen James
THAT Report Number GM-10-23-72 – Permits Issued under Ontario Regulation
150/06 be received as information.

Carried 

12.k GM-10-23-79 - Current Watershed Conditions
There were no comments or questions regarding this item. 

23-166
Moved By Shawn Watters
Seconded By Jerry Smith
THAT Report Number GM-10-23-79 – Current Watershed Conditions as of October
17, 2023 be received as information.

Carried 

13. Committee of the Whole
Not required.

7



14. General Business
There was no General Business.

15. 3rd Reading of By-Laws
None.

16. Other Business

16.a Governance and Attendance

• J.Challinor addressed the Board and noted that it has been one year since hybrid
meetings were implemented, and suggested considering how in-person
attendance may be encouraged or considered as the default option.

• Many Board members provided input on the benefits and challenges with in-
person, virtual, and hybrid meetings. Ultimately while in-person does provide
more engagement opportunities, other considerations such as climate impact
and carbon emissions, as well as accessibility and increased attendance were
noted as positives for the hybrid model.

• The Chair summarized the discussion noting good support for all models, and
overarching support to continue the hybrid meeting option. It was suggested that
staff can consider revised language in the administrative by-law to encourage
attendance at Board meetings be in-person whenever it is feasible.

K.Davis left the meeting at 11:39 a.m.

17. Closed Meeting

23-167
Moved By Brian Coleman
Seconded By Jerry Smith
THAT the General Membership enter a closed meeting in accordance with the Municipal
Act section 239(2) for the following purpose(s): labour relations or employee
negotiations, and litigation or potential litigation.

Carried 

23-168
Moved By Susan Foxton
Seconded By Ken Yee Chew
THAT the General Membership reconvene in open session.

Carried 

17.a Minutes from the previous closed session

23-169
Moved By John Challinor II
Seconded By Mike Devine
THAT the minutes of the minutes of the previous closed session be approved as
circulated.

Carried 

17.b Labour Relations or employee negotiations

23-170
Moved By Brian Coleman
Seconded By Bruce Banbury

8



THAT the Grand River Conservation Authority received Report GM-10-23-C07 Proposed 
Outdoor Environmental Education Program Staffing Model as information. 

Carried 

17.c Litigation or potential litigation

23-171
Moved By Gord Greavette
Seconded By Kari Williams
THAT Report No. GM-10-23-C07 Update - Violation of Ontario Regulation 150/06 be
received as information.

Carried 

18. Next Meeting - November 24, 2023 at 9:30 a.m.

19. Adjourn
The meeting was adjourned at 11:49 a.m.

23-172
Moved By Bruce Banbury
Seconded By John Challinor II
THAT the meeting of the General Membership be adjourned.

Carried 

Chair Secretary-Treasurer 

9



 

 

 

Grand River Conservation Authority 
Agenda – CA Act Regulations Committee 

Date: 
Time: 
Location: 

November 8, 2023 
3:00 p.m. 
GRCA Zoom Virtual Meeting 

Members Present: John Challinor II, Susan Foxton, David Miller, Chris White 
Regrets: Shawn Watters 
Staff Samantha Lawson, Karen Armstrong, Sonja Radoja, Lisa Stocco, 

Eowyn Spencer 

1. Call to Order 
The meeting was called to order by the Chair at 3:00 p.m. 

2. Certification of Quorum 
Quorum was certified with four of five Members present. 

3. Review of Agenda 
Moved by: Susan Foxton 
Seconded by: John Challinor 
THAT the agenda for the Conservation Authorities Act Regulations Committee Meeting be 
approved as circulated. 

Carried 
4. Declarations of Pecuniary Interest 
5. Minutes of the Previous Meeting 

Moved by: David Miller 
Seconded by: John Challinor 
THAT the minutes of the previous Conservation Authorities Act Regulations Committee 
Meeting held on August 16, 2023 be approved as circulated. 

Carried 
6. Discussion Items: 

6.1. Excerpt from draft General Membership Minutes from October 27, 2023 
• The excerpt from the draft Minutes was provided as reminder of context of the 

discussion that occurred at the Board meeting regarding the deferral of the Motion on 
the Outdoor Environmental Education Program staff report. Minutes are subject to 
Board approval. 

10



 

 

6.2. Outdoor Environmental Education Program and Facilities Funding Agreement 
Request 
• K.Armstrong provided an overview of the matter, noting that approval is being 

requested to circulate to participating municipalities a letter that was drafted based 
on Board direction from the previous Board meeting. The draft letter provides 
background information in support of the request from the Board to determine if 
participating municipalities would be interested in financially supporting the outdoor 
environmental education program operating costs and the facilities in which they 
operate. 

• K.Armstrong also noted that as a category three program under provincial legislation, 
agreements with municipalities will be required and will need to be in place by 
December 31 to conform with the legislation. 

• The Chair reminded the Committee that at the October meeting of the General 
Membership, staff provided a recommendation to move the education program out of 
the GRCA Nature Centres and continue to operate them out of GRCA Conservation 
Areas, and the Board supported a motion to defer the decision until January to 
provide staff with time to reach out to municipal councils. There is a question of 
understanding as it is unclear if it was intended that staff reach out only to the 
municipalities that inquired about the program at Apps’ Mills, or to all participating 
municipalities in the Grand River watershed. The discussion at the Board was largely 
focused on the Apps’ Mills Nature Centre facility specifically, however the motion 
referenced participating municipalities. 

• K.Armstrong provided further information, highlighting that previously the Board 
direction to staff through the programs and services inventory process had been to 
find a way for the program to operate on a break-even basis. Outdoor education is 
not classed as a mandatory or municipal apportioned program under the CA Act, and 
as a category three program, previous board direction was that these programs 
would be collectively self-funded. Under the legislation, Category Three programs 
and services can be funded by municipalities through cost-apportioning agreements 
if there is interest. 

• There was a lot of discussion and questions from the Committee, and staff 
responded to clarify the matter and identify the key concerns, challenges, and 
potential solutions to move forward. Discussion covered the following key points: 

o The operation of nature centre facilities is not a part of the legislated core 
mandate of conservation authorities or the GRCA’s strategic plan and 
objectives. 

o The estimated operating deficit for the program for 2024 is approximately 
$300,000, however long-term operating and capital costs to maintain both the 
program as well as the aging infrastructure need to be considered.  

o Staff conducted a thorough review of the program and the recommendations 
made in staff report GM-10-23-76, took into account the needs and 
responsibilities of the GRCA, as well as the needs of the main users (some 
watershed school boards). The school boards and some other user groups 
have requested virtual and alternate delivery options, such as program 
delivery at school sites. These options make the program more accessible. 

o The recommendation to move the program to operate out of the conservation 
areas maintains ample opportunities for hands-on learning experiences and 
provides cost-savings and improved program alignment since infrastructure 
and staff resources already exist in the conservation areas. It was noted that 
staff do not recommend operating one facility differently than others. 

11

https://pub-grca.escribemeetings.com/Meeting.aspx?Id=802c001b-2830-4cc5-b42e-f057e3aa72a8&Agenda=Agenda&lang=English&Item=33&Tab=attachments


 

 

• The Committee identified the following concerns and discussion points: 
o It was generally determined, through discussion, that the request from the 

Board was that staff are to reach out to the City of Brantford and the County 
of Brant as opposed to all participating municipalities since no other 
representatives voiced specific concerns with other facilities at the time. 

o The letter should include the costs of operating the Apps’ Mill Nature Centre 
as that was the property discussed. 

• There was further discussion to clarify the matter of legislative timelines, as well as 
specific procedural matters with respect to the Resolution as passed at the October 
meeting, as well as potential solutions. Key concerns being: 

o In accordance with new provincial regulations, the GRCA is required to 
demonstrate conformance with all regulations including those related to 
category one, two, and three programs and services and budgetary matters 
by December 31.  

o If one or more participating municipalities wish to support the Apps’ Mill 
Nature Centre in 2024, an agreement would be required by December 31 
which is not a feasible timeline. 

o To demonstrate conformance, the 2024 Budget must highlight how category 
three programs are to be funded, and previous direction to staff from the 
Board included identifying outdoor education as a category three program to 
be supported by self-generated funds and from reserves for 2024, with a 
longer-term plan to operate a break-even program. 

o With respect to the Motion to Defer the staff recommendation as provided in 
the staff report, it was determined following the meeting that a deferral until 
January is not timely enough for compliance with the regulations, so a 
solution will need to be determined and implemented at the November Board 
meeting. Various potential solutions were considered. 

• Following the lengthy discussion, the following points were determined: 
o A concise letter will be drafted to highlight financial matters specific to Apps’ 

Mill Nature Centre and sent to the City of Brantford and the County of Brant, 
as it was generally determined that the intent of the Board was not to poll 
each of the GRCA’s 22 participating municipalities. 

o The procedural specifics about the matter of deferring the motion to January 
will be addressed at the November meeting of the Board, with the goal of 
conformance to provincial legislation as the main consideration. 

7. Other Business – None. 
8. Next Meeting – At the Call of the Chair 
9. Adjourn 

The meeting was adjourned at 4:05 p.m. 

Moved by: Sue Foxton 
Seconded by: John Challinor II 
THAT the meeting be adjourned. 

Carried 

12



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

November 16, 2023 By Email: clerks@brantford.ca; kdavis@brantford.ca 
 copy: bhutchings@brantford.ca 

City of Brantford Office of the Mayor and Council 
100 Wellington Square 
Brantford ON  N3T 5R7 

Dear Mayor Davis and City of Brantford Council, 

Re:  Funding Agreement Request – Outdoor Environmental Education Program and 
Apps’ Mill Nature Centre 

At a meeting of the General Membership of the Grand River Conservation Authority (GRCA) on 
October 27, 2023, staff were directed to contact the County of Brant and the City of Brantford to 
inquire about their interest in entering into agreements to provide funding toward the operating 
and capital costs for the Outdoor Environmental Education Program and the Apps’ Mill Nature 
Centre facility and grounds. The total amount of funding requested is $265,000, which includes 
$70,000 to cover the operating deficit and $195,000 in capital maintenance and project support 
costs for continuing to operate this Program at the Apps’ Mill Nature Centre. 

The projected operating deficit for the overall Program is estimated to be $312,000 in 2024, of 
which $70,000 represents the deficit associated with continuing to operate at the Apps’ Mill 
Nature Centre and includes costs for cleaning and routine maintenance, and additional capital 
maintenance project and staff support. 

In 2022, a condition assessment was conducted by a consultant at the Apps Mill NC property. 
That assessment identified several capital maintenance projects, some of which have been 
completed since that time. The recommended capital maintenance projects for the 2022-2024 
period that have not been completed to date and are not currently budgeted for in the Outdoor 
Environmental Education Program amount to approximately $185,000. Between 2025 and 2042, 
there are an additional $1,838,500 (in 2022 dollars) of capital maintenance projects 
recommended, and additional related capital maintenance project support costs would also be 
incurred. 

If your municipality is interested in discussing this further, please contact me at 
slawson@grandriver.ca or 519-621-2763, ext.2210 by January 19, 2024. 

Sincerely, 

Samantha Lawson 
Chief Administrative Officer 

13

mailto:slawson@grandriver.ca�
mailto:bhutchings@brantford.ca
mailto:kdavis@brantford.ca
mailto:clerks@brantford.ca


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

November 16, 2023 By Email: clerks@brant.ca; david.bailey@brant.ca 
 copy: Alison.Newton@brant.ca 

County of Brant Office of the Mayor and Council 
26 Park Avenue, Box 160 
Burford ON    N0E 1A0 

Dear Mayor Bailey and County of Brant Council, 

Re:  Funding Agreement Request – Outdoor Environmental Education Program and 
Apps’ Mill Nature Centre 

At a meeting of the General Membership of the Grand River Conservation Authority (GRCA) on 
October 27, 2023, staff were directed to contact the County of Brant and the City of Brantford to 
inquire about their interest in entering into agreements to provide funding toward the operating 
and capital costs for the Outdoor Environmental Education Program and the Apps’ Mill Nature 
Centre facility and grounds. The total amount of funding requested is $265,000, which includes 
$70,000 to cover the operating deficit and $195,000 in capital maintenance and project support 
costs for continuing to operate this Program at the Apps’ Mill Nature Centre. 

The projected operating deficit for the overall Program is estimated to be $312,000 in 2024, of 
which $70,000 represents the deficit associated with continuing to operate at the Apps’ Mill 
Nature Centre and includes costs for cleaning and routine maintenance, and additional capital 
maintenance project and staff support. 

In 2022, a condition assessment was conducted by a consultant at the Apps Mill NC property. 
That assessment identified several capital maintenance projects, some of which have been 
completed since that time. The recommended capital maintenance projects for the 2022-2024 
period that have not been completed to date and are not currently budgeted for in the Outdoor 
Environmental Education Program amount to approximately $185,000. Between 2025 and 2042, 
there are an additional $1,838,500 (in 2022 dollars) of capital maintenance projects 
recommended, and additional related capital maintenance project support costs would also be 
incurred. 

If your municipality is interested in discussing this further, please contact me at 
slawson@grandriver.ca or 519-621-2763, ext.2210 by January 19, 2024. 

Sincerely, 

Samantha Lawson 
Chief Administrative Officer 

14

mailto:slawson@grandriver.ca�
mailto:Alison.Newton@brant.ca
mailto:david.bailey@brant.ca
mailto:clerks@brant.ca


Grand River Conservation Authority 
Report number:  GM-11-23-84 

Date:  November 24, 2023 

To:  Members of the Grand River Conservation Authority 

Subject:  Cash and Investment Status – October 2023 

Recommendation: 
THAT Report Number GM-11-23-84 Cash and Investment Status – October 2023 be received 
as information. 

Summary: 
The cash position including Notes Receivable of the Grand River Conservation Authority as at 
October 31, 2023 was $61,057,915 with outstanding cheques written in the amount of 
$250,035. 

Report: 
See attached. 

Financial Implications: 
Interest rates, etc. are shown on the report. 

Other Department Considerations: 
Not applicable. 

Prepared by: Approved by: 
Carol Anne Johnston 
Senior Accountant 

Karen Armstrong 
Deputy CAO/Secretary Treasurer 

Sonja Radoja 
Manager of Corporate Services 

15



 

 

 

  

  

   

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

    

     

     

    

     

    

    

       

    

   

    

   

   

     

 

    

   

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

         

   

    

  

 

Grand River Conservation Authority 

Cash and Investments Status Report 

October 31, 2023 

Interest 

BANK ACCOUNTS Location Type Amount Rate 

CIBC Current Account 12,406,702 5.40% 

RBC Current Account 119,539 nil 

Wood Gundy Current Account 0 nil 

CIBC - SPP Holding Current Account 606,166 5.40% 

TOTAL CASH - CURRENT ACCOUNT 13,132,407 

Face 2023 Total 

Value Interest 

INVESTMENTS Date Invested Location 

CIBC Renaissance 

CIBC High Interest 

One Investment Savings 

October 23, 2019 Cdn Western Bank 

January 16, 2020 Cdn Western Bank 

September 15, 2021 Cdn Western Bank 

September 23, 2021 Province of Ontario 

September 23, 2021 ManuLife Financial 

December 8, 2021 Province of B.C. 

December 14, 2022 Royal Bank 

December 14, 2022 National Bank 

December 14, 2022 CIBC 

December 14, 2022 Bank of Montreal 

June 28, 2023 CIBC 

Type 

High Interest Savings Account 

High Interest Savings Account 

High Interest Savings Account 

Bond 

Bond 

Bond 

Bond 

Bond 

Bond 

Bond 

Bond 

Bond 

Bond 

Non-Redeemable GIC 

Amount 

7,638,704 

4,568,639 

4,607,809 

2,010,000 

3,000,000 

1,500,000 

2,300,000 

2,000,000 

2,050,356 

2,000,000 

4,054,000 

4,100,000 

4,096,000 

4,000,000 

Interest 

Rate 

4.55% 

4.55% 

5.465% 

2.800% 

2.597% 

2.597% 

1.230% 

2.237% 

1.180% 

2.333% 

2.983% 

3.300% 

2.700% 

5.250% 

Yield 

Rate Date of Maturity 

4.55% not applicable 

4.55% not applicable 

5.465% not applicable 

2.78% September 6, 2024 

2.45% September 6, 2024 

1.21% September 6, 2024 

1.23% December 2, 2026 

1.34% May 12, 2030, call date 2025 

1.18% December 18, 2023 

4.87% December 5, 2023 

4.84% March 4, 2024 

4.36% May 26, 2025 

4.59% September 11, 2024 

5.25% June 28, 2024 

Earned/ 

Accrued 

241,871 

120,347 

236,158 

55,625 

73,383 

18,537 

27,156 

37,326 

22,978 

87,901 

190,857 

174,281 

182,053 

107,014 

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 47,925,508 $1,575,488 

TOTAL CASH AND INVESTMENTS $61,057,915 

* Reserve Balance at December 31st, 2022 33,621,402 

Investment By Institution 

% of Total Portfolio 

C.I.B.C. 42% 

Royal Bank 4% 

Bank of Montreal 9% 

National Bank 9% 

Cdn Western Bank 14% 

ManuLife Financial Bank 4% 

One Investment Program 10% 

Province of B.C. 4% 

Province of Ontario 5% 

100% 

* Reserve balances are reviewed annually by the Board in November. 

16



Grand River Conservation Authority 
Report number:  GM-11-23-86 

Date:  November 24, 2023 

To:  Members of the Grand River Conservation Authority 

Subject:  Reserves 2023 

Recommendation: 
THAT the Property and Liability Insurance Reserve be maintained at an amount equal to opening 
balance, less significant uninsured losses, and no interest to be allocated to this reserve for 2023;  
AND THAT the Building and Mechanical Equipment Reserve be maintained at an amount equal 
to opening balance, plus amount transferred from the small office equipment reserve, less 
expenses or any unspent budgeted building maintenance and equipment amounts be transferred 
to this reserve for future expenditures, and no interest to be allocated to this reserve for 2023;  
AND THAT the Personnel Reserve be maintained at an amount equal to opening balance, less 
expenditures or accruals for sick leave, vacation, staff restructuring and/or termination of 
employees, less CEWS claims interest charges, and no interest be allocated to this reserve for 
2023;  
AND THAT the Transition Reserve be maintained at an amount equal to opening balance, less 
forecast transfers from reserve, plus interest;  
AND THAT the Nature Centre Reserves be maintained at amounts equal to opening balance, 
less expenses related to major maintenance of the Nature Centre buildings, plus interest; 
AND THAT the Information Systems and Technology Reserve be maintained at a level where 
interest income and charge-out rates equal total operating and capital costs over the long run; 
AND THAT the Cottage Lot Program Reserve be maintained at an amount equal to the opening 
balance, plus unspent 2023 budgeted cottage lot expenses related to service fee expenses, plus 
interest; 
AND THAT the Grand River Water Management Plan Reserve be maintained at an amount equal 
to opening balance, less expenses related to updating the water management plan as budgeted 
(or forecast), plus interest;   
AND THAT the Planning Enforcement Reserve be maintained at an amount equal to opening 
balance, plus any savings related to budgeted and unspent legal fees, less any expenses in 
excess of budget related to enforcement of planning regulations, plus interest;  
AND THAT the Property Rental Reserve be maintained at an amount equal to opening balance, 
less unbudgeted maintenance expenses related to rental properties, plus any unspent budgeted 
property repairs and maintenance expenses including demolition costs, plus interest; 
AND THAT the Watershed Restoration Reserve be maintained at an amount equal to opening 
balance, plus special project funding surpluses, less expenditures for wetland acquisitions or 
enhancements in the watershed, less expenditures for natural heritage restoration projects and 
conservation services watershed restoration projects as outlined in the budget (or forecast), plus 
interest; 
AND THAT the Forestry Management Reserve be maintained at an amount equal to opening 
balance plus transfers to reserve of timber revenues, less expenses related to forest management 
expenses as budgeted (or forecast), plus interest;   

17



AND THAT the Master Plans Reserve be maintained at amount equal to opening balance, less 
expenditures for Master Plans as budgeted (or forecast), plus interest; 
AND THAT the Water Management Operating Reserve be maintained at amount equal to opening 
balance, less expenditures for engineering staffing, plus interest; 
AND THAT the Cambridge Desiltation Pond Reserve be maintained at an amount that reflects 
the funds advanced to the Authority by the City of Cambridge, less actual cost to maintain the 
pond, plus interest; 
AND THAT the Completion of Capital Projects Reserve be maintained at an amount that reflects 
obligations under outstanding capital contracts, less payments;  
AND THAT the Gravel Reserve be maintained at an amount that includes all gravel income to 
date, less eligible expenditures, consistent with the original or subsequent agreements with the 
Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry, plus interest;  
AND THAT the Land Sale Reserves be maintained at amounts that include the proceeds of land 
sales, less costs (including interest charges) incurred to prepare lands for sale, less net 
expenditures and/or borrowing authorized by the Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry 
(MNRF) and as per policy statement dated June 13, 1997 (including floodplain mapping 
expenses), plus interest;  
AND THAT the General Capital Reserve be maintained at an amount which reflects the surplus 
transferred in from the former Dunnville Lock reserve, less expenditures for any Water 
Management Capital projects approved by the General Membership, less unbudgeted 
expenditures related hydro turbine repairs plus any repayment of the loan related to the 
Conestogo turbine repairs, plus interest; 
AND THAT the Conservation Areas Capital/Stabilization Reserve, increased/decreased by any 
surplus/deficit generated by the Conservation Areas in 2023, plus interest; 
AND THAT the Gauge Reserve be maintained at an amount equal to opening balance less 
expenses related to gauge equipment as identified in the budget (or forecast) as applicable, plus 
interest; 
AND THAT the Water Control Structures Reserve be maintained at an amount equal to the 
opening balance, less any funding required for spending in excess of budget, plus any unspent 
major maintenance budget amount, plus any unspent operating budget amount that was to be 
funded from general levy, plus interest; 
AND THAT the Motor Pool Equipment Replacement Reserve be maintained at a target level of 
approximately 25% to 30% of replacement cost of the Motor Pool fleet, plus interest;   
AND THAT the Motor Pool Insurance Reserve be maintained at an amount equal to the opening 
balance, plus interest, less significant uninsured losses. 

Summary: 
The Grand River Conservation Authority’s reserves are established by resolutions of the 
General Membership and are presented in the audited financial statement as a part of the 
“Accumulated Surplus”, in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). 
Details of reserve amounts are also provided in the notes to the audited financial statements. 
This report outlines the nature of movements to and from reserves and provides estimates of 
reserve balances for 2023. 
By year-end 2023, reserves are forecast to be $50.5 million which represents an increase of 
$1.8 million. Significant increases to reserves include: $600,000 conservation area operating 
surplus, $1.6 million interest income, $115,000 hydro revenue, and $170,000 timber sales 

18



revenue. These increases are offset by decreases of $465,000 for motor pool capital purchases, 
$100,000 for Information Systems expenses, $100,000 for transition staffing costs, and 
$175,000 for engineering staffing expenses. 

Report: 
Reserves are established and confirmed annually by resolution of the Board. Some Reserves are 
required by provincial policies (Gravel and Land Sales) and some are discretionary and used to 
avoid fluctuations in municipal funding requests (Information Systems and Technology 
Replacement, Motor Pool Replacement, General Capital Reserve). Conservation Authorities are 
not allowed to directly debenture for expenditures, so it is important to anticipate needs and set 
aside funds for future projects in reserves. Interest is accrued to reserves where required by 
provincial policies and/or board direction.  
A description of reserve activity during year 2023 is presented in the following two formats: 
1. Breakdown by Operating, Capital, Motor Pool 
2. Breakdown by “GRCA-controlled” reserves and reserves with “Outside Control/Interest” 

Reserves are forecast to be $50.5 million representing an increase of $1.8 million.   
Significant forecast reserve movements (approximate amounts) include: 

Increases to Reserves: 
• Conservation Areas Operating Surplus  $600,000 
• Interest Income Earned $1,640,000 
• Cottage Lot Program (deferred road maintenance expenses) $100,000 
• Hydro Revenue $115,000 
• Timber Revenue  $170,000 
• Conservation Services-Special Project Revenue $35,000 

Decreases to Reserves: 
• Motor Pool Capital Expenses $465,000 
• Information Systems Expenses $100,000 
• Floodplain Mapping Project $30,000 
• Use of Water Management Operating Reserve for staffing $175,000 
• Use of Transition Reserve for staffing  $100,000 

Land Sale Proceeds Reserves 
These reserves have a provincial interest and may be used for the following types of expenditures:  
1. Acquisition of environmentally sensitive lands and ecologically significant lands. 
2. Major maintenance of flood control structures. 
3. Hazard land mapping in support of plan input or regulation programs. 
4. Flood and erosion capital projects and related studies. 
5. Watershed/Subwatershed management plans, which are inter-municipal in scope. 
6. Other Capital Projects of provincial interest, with prior approval. 

During 2022, the Lieutenant Governor in Council assigned ministerial power for conservation 
authorities from the Ministry of Environment, Conservation and Parks (MECP) to the Ministry of 
Natural Resources and Forestry (MNRF). MNRF (as per policy statement 6.3 dated June 13, 
1997) retains the right to either deny the use of reserves that have a provincial interest or to 
otherwise direct the use of such reserves. In addition, effective January 1st, 2023 the 

19



Conservation Authority Act contains Section 21(7) which outlines a provision that allows the 
government to direct a share of land sales proceeds to Category 1 programs in certain 
circumstances and within 90 days of notice of the disposition. 
The Land Sale Proceeds reserve is forecast to be approximately $22.9 million by yearend 2023. 

Transition Reserve 
At the January 22, 2021 general meeting (report GM-21-01-05 ‘Budget 2021-draft #2’), the 
board passed a motion to create the Transition reserve. The purpose of the reserve is to fund 
expenditures related to the transitioning of GRCA to new provincial regulations requirements 
and/or fund costs related to managing expenses impacted by COVID-19 or revenue losses due 
to COVID-19. As at December 31, 2022, the reserve balance is $2.0 million. For 2023, 
$100,000 is forecast to be taken from this reserve to fund staffing costs related to meeting the 
requirements of the new regulations to generate a land inventory. 

Status of Loan from General Capital Reserve for Conestogo Turbine Repairs 
Funds totalling $421,617 were borrowed from the general capital reserve in 2006 for repairs to 
the Conestogo turbine. At the time of the loan, it was suggested (no formal board motion) that 
the general capital reserve be repaid but there was no specific mention of interest. The 
‘Reserves 2006’ board report to the Administration, Finance and Personnel committee dated 
November 14, 2006, stated that replenishment of the reserve would be addressed via future 
budgets. The Conestogo turbine loan balance (principal plus interest less repayments) is 
$119,854 as at December 31, 2022. Surplus hydro revenue allocated to the general capital 
reserve as repayments have been $67,000, 365,000, $60,000 and $20,000 in 2019, 2020, 2021 
and 2022 respectively. Interest calculated on the loan to end of 2022 is $210,237. If by year-end 
hydro production generates a surplus in excess of the budgeted surplus that surplus will be 
allocated to the general capital reserve as repayment of the balance owing. At present, a 
surplus of $116,500 has been forecast which would leave a loan balance of $7,549 at year end 
2023. A decision regarding replenishing the reserve for future hydro repairs and maintenance 
can be determined via future budget/forecast exercises. 

Conservation Area Reserve 
This reserve was budgeted to decrease by $500,000, to facilitate funding $2.0 million in the 
2023 capital spending budget. Instead, the reserve is currently forecast to increase by 
$600,000. This is the result of forecast revenue exceeding budgeted revenue by $1.6 million 
(budget $10.0 million versus forecast $11.6 million) offset by a forecast increase in operating 
expenses of $500,000 for a net positive impact of $1.1 million on the reserve compared to 
budgeted reserve movement.  

Attached Schedules: 
• Schedule 1 - Summary Reserve Report – Forecast 2023  
• Schedule 2 - Reserve Activity Detail – Forecast 2023 (by Operating, Capital, Motor Pool) 
• Schedule 3 - Graph of Reserves – 2014 to 2023 
• Schedule 4 - Purpose of Reserve and Guidelines for calculating amounts 

Financial Implications: 
In 2023, it is forecast that reserves will increase by $1.8 million to $50.5 million.  Reserves were 
budgeted to decrease $500,000 in 2023. The forecast increase is primarily driven by the 
Conservation Areas reserve increasing by $600,000 instead of decreasing by $500,000 and 
interest income to exceed budget by $400,000. 

20



Significant differences between budget and forecast are: 
Positive Impacts on Reserves 

• Conservation Area Surplus $1,100,000 
• Interest Income increased $400,000 
• Information Systems Expenses reduced $200,000 
• Cottage Lot Program Expenses reduced (road maintenance) $100.000 
• Timber Revenue to reserves $170,000 
• Demolitions Expenses reduced (deferred) $100,000 
• Water Control Structures and Gauge Expenses (deferred) $150,000 
• Personnel Expenses reduced (vacancy savings) $ 70,000 

Other Department Considerations: 
None. 

Prepared by: Approved by: 
Sonja Radoja 
Manager of Corporate Services 

Karen Armstrong 
Deputy CAO/Secretary-Treasurer 

21



   

     

     

 

   

     

   

 

   

   

 

 

    

  

  

  

 

   

  

  

 

  

 

   

 

 

  

    

   

      

   

  

 

 

    

Grand River Conservation Authority SCHEDULE 1 

SUMMARY RESERVE REPORT - FORECAST 2023 

General Meeting - November 24, 2023 

ACTUAL 

2022 

270,383 

1,239,846 
1,104,112 

2,048,704 

1,312,640 

1,318,602 

1,180,650 

113,939 

526,179 

737,976 

268,275 

424,958 

1,000,000 

1,879,368 

92,064 

2,734,473 

5,709 

162,000 

7,339,262 

971,275 

1,163,108 

25,893,523 

259,716 

22,172,367 

73,501 

120,611 

139,487 

22,197 

77,836 

22,865,715 

$48,759,238 

"NET CHANGE" 

INCR EASE/(DECREASE) 

2022 VS 2023 

Type A: GRCA Controlled 

Operating Reserves (designated) 

Property & Liability Insurance 0 

Building & Mechanical Equipment 0 

Personnel 0 

Transition (26,297) 

Forestry 218,383 

Information Systems and Technology (50,484) 

Cottage Operations 142,473 

Grand River Water Management Plan 4,099 

Planning Enforcement 18,931 

Property Rental Expenses 26,548 

Watershed Restoration 44,651 

Master Planning 15,288 

Water Management Operating NEW-2022 (141,003) 

Motor Pool Equipment (409,307) 

Motor Pool Insurance 3,311 

Capital Reserves (designated) 

Water Control Structures 93,371 

Cambridge Desiltation Pond (763) 

Completion of Capital Projects 0 

Conservation Areas-Stabilization/Capital 864,023 

Gauges 34,939 

Capital Reserves (undesignated) 

General Capital Reserve 158,341 

Total Type A: GRCA Controlled 996,504 

Type B: Reserves with Outside Control/Interest 

With MNRF Interest (Capital Reserves) 

Gravel 9,343 

Land Sale Proceeds Reserve 767,642 

With School Board Interest (Operating Reserves) 

App's Nature Centre 2,643 

Laurel Creek Nature Centre (4,661) 

Guelph Lake Nature Centre 5,020 

Taquanyah Nature Centre 799 

Shade's Mills Nature Centre 2,801 

Total Type B: Outside Control/Interest 783,587 

TOTAL 1,780,088 

Transfer 

In 

(Interest Income) 

                               DETAILS OF

Transfer 

In 

  "NET CHANGE" 

Transfer 

Out 

  FORECAST 2023 

Description of Transfer 

0 

0 
0 

73,703 (100,000) OUT-Land Management Position 

47,976 170,407 IN-Timber Revenue 

47,816 1,418,700 (1,517,000) IN-Chargebacks; OUT-Operating/Capital costs 

42,473 100,000 IN-Road Maintenance expense savings 

4,099 

18,931 

26,548 

9,651 35,000 IN-Special Project funding 

15,288 

33,997 (175,000) OUT-Engineering Position 

57,693 1,300,000 (1,767,000) IN-Chargebacks;OUT-Operating/Capital costs 

3,311 

93,371 

183 (946) OUT-Cambrige Desiltation Pond costs 

0 

264,023 600,000 IN-Conservation Area Surplus 

34,939 

41,841 116,500 IN-Hydro Generation Revenue 

815,843 3,740,607 (3,559,946) 

9,343 

797,642 (30,000) OUT-Floodplain Mapping 

2,643 

4,339 (9,000) OUT-Repairs & Maintenance Expense 

5,020 

799 

2,801 

822,587 0 (39,000) 

$1,638,430 $3,740,607 ($3,598,946) 

FORECAST 

2023 

270,383 

1,239,846 
1,104,112 

2,022,407 

1,531,023 

1,268,118 

1,323,123 

118,038 

545,110 

764,524 

312,926 

440,246 

858,997 

1,470,061 

95,375 

2,827,844 

4,946 

162,000 

8,203,285 

1,006,214 

1,321,449 

26,890,027 

269,059 

22,940,009 

76,144 

115,950 

144,507 

22,996 

80,637 

23,649,302 

$50,539,326 

22



          

  

         

                           

                        

                                    

                     

                

                       

                       

                       

                          

                        

                          

                  

                        

                      

                      

                            

                    

                  

   

                     

                                                                        

 

         

  

   

 

    

      

    

      

    

    

    

    

   

  

 

    

  

                                      

   

         

                         

                     

                      

  

         

                          

                                     

                                 

                        

RESERVE ACTIVITY DETAIL - FORECAST 2023 (by Operating, Capital and Motor Pool) SCHEDULE 2 

Balance OPERATING RESERVES 

Dec 31 22 

Year-to-date 

Income to Res 

Year-to-date Year-to-date 

Interest Outputs fr Res 

Balance 

Sept 30/23 

Forecast 

Interest 

Fcst Change 

Incr (Decr) 

Fcst 

Dec 31/23 

Recommended 

Changes 

Recommended 

2022 Balance 

270,383 Property & Liability Insurance - 270,383 0 270,383 270,383 

1,239,846 Building & Mechanical Equipment - 1,239,846 0 1,239,846 1,239,846 

0 Small Office Equipment (consolidate) - - 0 0 0 

1,104,112 Personnel - 1,104,112 0 

(100,000) 

(9,000) 

1,104,112 1,104,112 

2,048,704 Transition 55,277 2,103,981 18,426 2,022,407 2,022,407 

73,501 App's Nature Centre 1,982 75,483 661 76,144 76,144 

120,611 Laurel Creek Nature Centre 3,254 123,865 1,085 115,950 115,950 

139,487 Guelph Lake Nature Centre 3,765 143,252 1,255 144,507 144,507 

22,197 Taquanyah Nature Centre 599 22,796 200 22,996 22,996 

77,836 Shade's Mills Nature Centre 2,101 79,937 700 

(138,376) 

100,000 

80,637 80,637 

1,318,602 Information Systems and Technology 1,064,025 35,862 (1,023,949) 1,394,540 11,954 1,268,118 1,268,118 

1,180,650 Cottage Lot Program 31,855 1,212,505 10,618 1,323,123 1,323,123 

113,939 Grand River Water Management Plan 3,074 117,013 1,025 118,038 118,038 

526,179 Planning Enforcement Reserve 14,198 540,377 4,733 545,110 545,110 

737,976 Property Rental Expenses 19,911 757,887 6,637 764,524 764,524 

1,312,640 Forestry Management Reserve 170,407 35,982 1,519,029 11,994 1,531,023 1,531,023 

424,958 Master Plans 11,466 436,424 3,822 

(175,000) 

35,000 

440,246 440,246 

1,000,000 Water Management Operating 25,498 1,025,498 8,499 858,997 858,997 

268,275 Watershed Restoration (Wetland Restoration) 7,238 275,513 2,413 312,926 312,926 

11,979,896 TOTAL OPERATING RESERVES 1,234,432 252,062 (1,023,949) 12,442,441 84,021 (287,376) 12,239,086 12,239,086 

0 - 7,369 

Balance CAPITAL RESERVES 

Dec 31 22 

Year-to-date 

Income to Res 

Year-to-date Year-to-date 

Interest Outputs fr Res 

Balance 

Sept 30/23 

Forecast 

Interest 

Fcst Change 

Incr (Decr) 

Fcst 

Dec 31/23 

Recommended 

Changes 

Recommended 

2022 Balance 

5,709 Cambrige Desiltation Pond 137 (946) 4,900 46 4,946 4,946 

162,000 Completion of Capital Projects 162,000 0 162,000 162,000 

259,716 Gravel 7,007 266,723 2,336 269,059 269,059 

(1,023,241) Contaminated Sites (27,608) (1,050,849) (9,203) (1,060,052) (1,060,052) 

13,369,663 Land Sale - Woolner 360,724 13,730,387 120,241 13,850,628 

804,655 

2,024,327 

13,850,628 

804,655 

2,024,327 

776,714 Land Sale - Valley Lands - KW 20,956 797,670 6,985 

1,954,035 Land Sale-Valley Land-KW (Pioneer Tower) 52,719 2,006,754 17,573 

6,287,110 Land Sale - Valley Land - Guelph 169,632 6,456,742 56,544 6,513,286 6,513,286 

257,139 Land Sales - Residential Properties 6,938 264,077 2,313 

(30,000) 

266,390 266,390 

518,663 Land Sale - Laurel 13,994 532,657 4,665 507,322 507,322 

184 Land Sale - Puslinch 8 192 3 195 195 

4,477 Land Sale - Woolwich 122 4,599 41 4,640 4,640 

27,623 Land Sale - Elora 746 28,369 249 

116,500 

600,000 

28,618 28,618 

1,163,108 General Capital Reserve 31,381 1,194,489 10,460 1,321,449 1,321,449 

971,275 Water Gauges 26,204 997,479 8,735 1,006,214 1,006,214 

7,339,262 Conservation Areas -Capital & Stabilization 198,017 7,537,279 66,006 8,203,285 8,203,285 

2,734,473 Water Control Structures 73,778 2,808,251 19,593 2,827,844 2,827,844 

34,807,910 TOTAL CAPITAL RESERVES - 934,755 (946) 35,741,719 306,585 686,500 36,734,804 0 36,734,804 

Balance 

Dec 31 22 

MOTOR POOL RESERVE 

Equipment Replacement 

Insurance 

Year-to-date 

Income to Res 

Year-to-date Year-to-date 

Interest Outputs fr Res 

Balance 

Sept 30/23 

Forecast 

Interest 

Fcst Change 

Incr (Decr) 

Fcst 

Dec 31/23 

Recommended 

Changes 

Recommended 

2022 Balance 

1,879,368 1,006,345 43,270 (1,373,960) 1,555,023 14,423 (99,385) 1,470,061 1,470,061 

92,064 2,483 94,547 828 95,375 95,375 

1,971,432 TOTAL MOTOR POOL RESERVE 1,006,345 45,753 (1,373,960) 1,649,570 15,251 (99,385) 1,565,436 0 1,565,436 

Balance 

Dec 31 22 

TOTAL RESERVES 

Operating Reserves 

Capital Reserves 

Motor Pool Reserves 

Year-to-date 

Income to Res 

Year-to-date Year-to-date 

Interest Outputs fr Res 

Balance 

Sept 30/23 

Forecast 

Interest 

Fcst Change 

Incr (Decr) 

Fcst 

Dec 31/23 

Recommended 

Changes 

Recommended 

2022 Balance 

11,979,896 1,234,432 252,062 (1,023,949) 12,442,441 84,021 (287,376) 12,239,086 12,239,086 

34,807,910 - 934,755 (946) 35,741,719 306,585 686,500 36,734,804 36,734,804 

1,971,432 1,006,345 45,753 (1,373,960) 1,649,570 15,251 (99,385) 1,565,436 1,565,436 

48,759,238 TOTAL RESERVES 2,240,777 1,232,570 (2,398,855) 49,833,730 405,857 299,739 50,539,326 0 50,539,326 

23



 

 

GRCA Schedule 3 

Graph of Reserves 2014 to 2023 

D
o
lla

rs
 

60,000,000 

50,000,000 

40,000,000 

30,000,000 
Total 

Capital 

Operating 

Motor Pool 

20,000,000 

10,000,000 

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Year 

24



 

 
       

     

    

  
 

    
     

     

         
       

      
   

       
    
         

     
    

         
         

   

      

 

 
 

 

 
     

      
      

  
 

   
      

 

      
  

   

SCHEDULE 4 

GRAND RIVER CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
PURPOSE OF RESERVES & GUIDELINES FOR CALCULATING AMOUNTS 

Reserves Purpose and Guidelines 

RESERVES WITH 
OUTSIDE CONTROL 

Gravel For expenses that are in accordance with MNRF policies (including 
land purchases) and for water treatment capital expenditures. Any 
gravel income would be added to this reserve. 

Land Sale Proceeds Reserve established via land sale proceeds net of selling costs and 
costs to prepare land for sale. Expenditures funded by this reserve 
must be in accordance with Ministry of Natural Resources and 
Forestry (MNRF) policies. Following the 2018 June provincial election 
the Lieutenant Governor in Council assigned ministerial power for 
conservation authorities from MNRF to the Ministry of Environment, 
Conservation and Parks (MECP). In 2022, power for conservation 
authorities transferred back to MNRF. Funds were borrowed from this 
reserve to fund major maintenance of GRCA turbines and the reserve 
are was repaid with interest in 2020. During 2018 approval received 
from MNRF to utilize up to $1.8 million over the period 2018 to 2021 
for hazard tree management. 

Nature Centres For building major maintenance and repairs. 

GRCA CONTROLLED 
RESERVES 

Property & Liability 
Insurance 

For losses not covered by our property and liability insurance policies 
and to cover deductibles as necessary. Reserve was established with 
premium savings realized at the time GRCA increased the deductibles. 

Building and Mechanical 
Equipment 

For head office large repairs and maintenance (office renovations, 
roof, roads, boiler room, air conditioning) and for replacement of 
small office equipment. 

Personnel For unbudgeted expenses related to compensation and benefits 
including: restructuring, severance, sick leaves, vacation liability, 
emergency costs (i.e. flood overtime, pandemic), LTD severance. In 

25



    

     
      

   

 

 

      
     

   
     
 

  
 

 

   
      

   
    

     
  

      
         

     
  

 

   
  

 

    
       
 

 

       

      
    

      
   

 

     
       

   

  
 

       
     

      

    

Reserves Purpose and Guidelines 

2022 added expenses related to Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy 
(CEWS) interest charges. If interest charges are refunded to GRCA the 
proceeds will be returned to this reserve. 

Transition 
Established in January 2021 (see ‘Budget 2021-draft#2) this reserve is 
for expenditures related to the transitioning of GRCA to new 
provincial regulations requirements and/or fund costs related to 
managing expenses impacted by COVID-19 or revenue losses due to 
COVID-19. 

Information Systems and 
Technology 

(formerly called 
Computer Replacement) 

For computer equipment, telecommunications equipment and 
software. The reserve acts as a pool with operating and capital 
expenses funded by this reserve and then internal charges to 
departments used to replenish the reserve. Internal charges set to 
cover average annual cost (operating and capital) of information 
systems and technology. 

Cottage Operations For cottage lot program common area service expenses (i.e. roads and 
hazard tree maintenance). Allows for smoothing of costs included in 
annual operating budget and available to fund unanticipated 
unbudgeted costs. 

Grand River Water 
Management Plan 

For expenses related to implementing and maintaining the Grand 
River Water Management Plan. Established with surplus realized in 
2008. 

Planning Enforcement For expenses related to enforcement of planning regulations. 

Forest Management For expenses related to forest management (clarify: GRCA lands 
versus public lands as well). Each year Timber Sale revenue is 
allocated to the reserve and surplus from the Private Land Tree 
Planting program including Burford Nursery may be allocated to this 
reserve. 

Property Rental For unanticipated unbudgeted property rental expenses. Each year if 
the property rental program realizes a surplus an amount may be 
allocated to the reserve. 

Cambridge Desiltation 
Pond 

For expenses related to maintaining the City of Cambridge Pond as 
per agreement. City originally advanced funds to GRCA for this work. 
Each year actual expenditures are funded by this reserve. 

26



    

 
 

      
        

       

       
      

  

  
   

    
     

    
  

       
    

     

      
     

   

  
  

 

    
    

    

 
 

 

       

  

     

   
     

 

       
          
      

    
      

      
  

 
    

  

Reserves Purpose and Guidelines 

Completion of Capital 
Projects 

For expenses related to projects underway (committed). This reserve 
includes funds set aside for Upper Grand Restoration Projects and 
each year actual expenditures funded through this reserve. 

Master Plans For expenses related to preparing master plans for GRCA lands. 
Established in 2019 with $120,000 input from GRCA 2018/2019 year-
end surplus. 

Water Management 
Operating – NEW 2022 

For expenses incurred within the water management program 
operating expenses related to staffing for engineering positions. This 
reserve established by transferring $1,000,000 from the ‘water 
control structures’ reserve. 

General Capital For expenses related to GRCA water management capital projects. 
This reserve was originally established with funds held for the 
Dunnville lock project which never proceeded. 

Gauges For expenses related to construction of water monitoring gauges. 
Reserve established from prior years unspent flood forecasting and 
warning and gauge budgets. 

Watershed Restoration 
(previously Wetland 
Acquisition) 

For expenses related to wetland acquisitions or enhancements to 
wetlands in the watershed, natural heritage restoration projects, and 
conservation services watershed restoration projects. 

Conservation Areas 
Capital/Stabilization 

Capital: 

For capital expenses that are unanticipated and/or budgeted for. 

Stabilization: 

To fund operating deficits. 

This reserve is increased in years when the conservation areas achieve 
an overall surplus including a surplus driven by the deferral of capital 
projects. 

Water Control Structures For expenses related to major maintenance of water control 
structures. To extent that capital projects were budgeted for and not 
completed by year-end, any unspent amount will be placed in this 
reserve. This reserve will also be increased by any operating surplus 
realized by the Dam program. Allows for smoothing of costs included 
in annual operating budget and available to fund unanticipated 
unbudgeted costs. 

27



    

 
 

    
     

     
     

       
  

     
    

      

 

Reserves Purpose and Guidelines 

Motor Pool Equipment 
Replacement 

For motor pool equipment. The reserve acts as a pool with operating 
and capital expenses funded by this reserve and internal charges to 
departments used to increase the reserve. A target amount for this 
reserve is approximately 25% - 30% of replacement cost. Internal 
charges are set to cover average annual cost (operating and capital) of 
motor pool operations. 

Motor Pool Insurance For expenses related to non-insured vehicle damage/loss including 
deductibles. Reserve was established with premium savings realized 
at the time GRCA increased the deductibles. 

28



Grand River Conservation Authority 
Report number:  GM-11-23-90 

Date:  November 24, 2023 

To:  Members of the Grand River Conservation Authority 

Subject:  Financial Summary for the Period Ending October 31, 2023 

Recommendation: 
THAT the Financial Summary for the period ending October 31, 2023 be approved. 

Summary: 
The Financial Statements include the 2023 actual year-to-date income and expenditures. The 
budget approved at the February 24, 2023 General Meeting is included in the Budget column. 
The Current Forecast column indicates an estimate of income and expenditures for the whole 
year. At this time a net surplus of $614,000 at year-end is anticipated. 

Report: 
The Financial Statements for the period ending October 31, 2023 are attached. 

A. Self-Generated Revenue increased by $320,000 
• Resource Planning revenue decreased by $50,000 due to decreased volume of plan 

review. 
• Conservation Lands donations increased by $30,000 in support of trail improvements 

and benches. 
• Conservation Lands revenue increased by $50,000 as a result of 2022 storm related 

insurance proceeds. 
• Hydro Production revenue increased by $40,000. 
• Conservation Area revenue increased by $200,000 due to revised projection of 

annual fee revenue. 
• Investment income increased by $50,000. 

B. Operating Expenses increased by $30,000 
• Resource Planning administration expenses increased by $10,000 due to 

recruitment costs. 
• Resource Planning compensation and benefits decreased by $50,000 due to 

vacancy savings. 
• Corporate Services administration expenses decreased by $10,000 due to 

reallocation of recruitment costs to Resource Planning. 
• Conservation Lands other operating expenses increased by $30,000 for additional 

trail work and new benches funded by the Foundation. 
• Miscellaneous other operating expenses increased by $50,000 due to property 

damage and vandalism. In some instances, insurance proceeds may be realized 
related to these expenditures. 

C. Capital Expenses decreased by $20,000 
• Water Resources-Planning and Environment capital expense for water quality 

monitoring equipment decreased by $20,000. 

29



D. Funding from Reserves decreased by $20,000 
• Transfer from the Gauge reserve decreased by $20,000 due to capital expenditure 

savings. 
E. Funding to Reserves increased by $240,000 

• Transfer to the General Capital reserve increased by $40,000 due to surplus hydro 
revenue. 

• Transfer to Conservation Area reserve increased by $200,000 as a result of the 
increase in forecast revenue. 

Financial Implications: 
The activity summarized will result in a $614,000 surplus as at December 31, 2023. 

Other Department Considerations: 
The management committee and appropriate supervisory staff receive monthly financial reports 
and advise the finance department of applicable forecast adjustments. 

Prepared by: Approved by: 
Kayleigh Keighan  Karen Armstrong 
Financial Controller  Deputy CAO/Secretary-Treasurer 

30



GRAND RIVER CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
FINANCIAL SUMMARY - FORECAST 

General Membership - November 24, 2023 

FORECAST - September 30, 2023 - NET RESULT $564,000 

CHANGES - OCTOBER 2023 

Sch 1 Water Resources-Planning and Environment $20,000 
($20,000) 

Capital Expenses decrease (Instrumentation) 
Funding from Gauge Reserve decrease 

$0 

Sch 4 Resource Planning ($50,000) 
($10,000) 
$50,000 

Self Generated Revenue decrease - Plan Review 
Administration Expense increase (recruitment) 
Compensation & Benefits Expenses decrease (vacancy savings) 

($10,000) 

Sch 9 Corporate Services $10,000 Administration Expense decrease (recruitment) $10,000 

Sch 10 Conservation Lands $30,000 
($30,000) 
$50,000 

Donations - Foundation increase 
Other Operating expenses increase 
Self Generated Revenue increase - Storm related insurance proceeds 

$50,000 

Sch 12 Hydro Production $40,000 
($40,000) 

Hydro Production Revenue increase 
Transfer to Hydro Reserve increase 

$0 

Sch 13 Conservation Areas $200,000 
($200,000) 

Conservation Area Revenue Increase ($11.6M to $11.8M) 
Transfer to Conservation Area Reserve Increase 

$0 

Sch 14 Miscellaneous ($50,000) 
$50,000 

Other Expenses increase 
Investment Income increase 

$0 

FORECAST - October 31, 2023 - NET RESULT $614,000 

31



                                                      
                                                                               
                                                                                        
                                                                            
                                                      
  

                                                                               
                                                                               
                                                                            
                                                                               
                                                                

                                                                               
                                                                        
                                                                                                               
                                                                               
                                                                                         
                                               
                                                                               
                                                                                                                  
                                                                
                                                                          
                                                                                                      
                                                                          
                                                                                   
                                                                               
                                                              
                                                                                    
                                               
                                               

 

GRAND RIVER CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDING October 31, 2023 

Actual Budget Actual Previous Current Forecast 
SCHEDULE 2022 2023 YTD Forecast Forecast Change 

REVENUE 
Municipal 
General Municipal Levy (Operating) various 11,580,000 12,018,000 12,018,000 12,018,000 12,018,000 -
General Municipal Levy (Capital) various 950,000 950,000 950,000 950,000 950,000 -
Special Municipal Levy various 99,593 130,000 305 130,000 130,000 -
Other various 536,972 800,000 1,318,823 840,000 840,000 -

13,166,565 13,898,000 14,287,128 13,938,000 13,938,000 -

Government Grants 
NDMNRF Transfer Payments various 449,688 449,688 449,688 449,688 449,688 -
Source Protection Program-Provincial various 569,995 640,000 391,324 602,000 602,000 -
Other Provincial various 688,888 982,500 1,202,427 982,500 982,500 -
Federal various 431,024 190,000 283,116 200,000 200,000 -

2,139,595 2,262,188 2,326,555 2,234,188 2,234,188 -
Self Generated 
User Fees and Sales 

Enquiries and Permits 4 591,330 590,000 488,759 550,000 550,000 -
Plan Input and Review 4 598,852 554,000 372,048 494,000 444,000 (50,000) 
Consulting 4 - - 3,726 - - -
Nursery and Woodlot Management 5 636,389 415,000 621,627 650,000 650,000 -
Conservation Lands Income 10 65,050 71,000 44,936 71,000 71,000 -
Conservation Areas User Fees 13 11,232,460 10,000,000 11,807,413 11,600,000 11,800,000 200,000 
Nature Centres and Camps 8 519,747 500,000 360,868 609,000 609,000 -
Merchandising and Sales 8 872 - 417 - - -

Property Rentals 11 2,910,172 3,006,000 2,841,042 3,006,000 3,006,000 -
Hydro Generation 12 589,334 580,000 602,742 580,000 620,000 40,000 
Land Sales 10 15,196,404 - - - - -
Grand River Conservation Foundation various 435,141 552,000 135,397 202,000 232,000 30,000 
Donations various 23,473 135,000 56,935 135,000 135,000 -
Landowner Contributions 5 163,602 180,000 190,594 200,000 200,000 -
Investment Income 14 866,001 1,350,000 1,397,791 1,350,000 1,400,000 50,000 
Miscellaneous Income various 27,822 35,000 11,125 35,000 85,000 50,000 
Total Self-Generated Revenue 33,856,649 17,968,000 18,935,420 19,482,000 19,802,000 320,000 
TOTAL REVENUE 49,162,809 34,128,188 35,549,103 35,654,188 35,974,188 320,000 

32



 

                                                                
                                                                               
                                                                
                                                         
                                                                
                                                                               
                                                                               
                                                                         
                                                         
                                                           
                                                                   
                                                                                       

                                                                 
                                                                                              
                                                                
                                                                            
                                                           
                                                 

                                                                              
                                                                               
                                                                   

                                                                    
                                                                               
                                                                               
                                                                          
                                                         

                                                                               
                                                                                       
                                                                                   
                                                                      
                                                                                   
                                                                                                          
                                                                                                           
                                                                                         
                                                                               
                                                                
                                                 
                                                      

                                                                                      
                                                                   
                                                            
                                                                              

GRAND RIVER CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDING October 31, 2023 

Actual Budget Actual Previous Current Forecast 
SCHEDULE 2022 2023 YTD Forecast Forecast Change 

EXPENSES 
OPERATING 

Water Resources Planning & Environment 1 1,979,753 2,373,900 1,790,153 2,187,900 2,187,900 -
Flood Forecasting and Warning 2 774,798 923,000 702,880 764,000 764,000 -
Water Control Structures 3 1,667,314 1,944,200 1,454,213 1,944,200 1,944,200 -
Resource Planning 4 2,229,262 2,574,200 1,796,732 2,574,200 2,534,200 (40,000) 
Forestry & Conservation Land Property Taxes 5 1,327,936 1,402,500 1,263,009 1,477,500 1,477,500 -
Conservation Services 6 449,256 605,700 422,853 570,700 570,700 -
Communications & Foundation 7 406,064 597,500 317,699 442,500 442,500 -
Environmental Education 8 817,034 810,100 888,210 1,048,100 1,048,100 -
Corporate Services 9 4,048,436 3,890,790 3,047,308 3,857,790 3,847,790 (10,000) 
Conservation Lands 10 2,100,710 2,613,600 2,071,084 2,527,600 2,557,600 30,000 
Property Rentals 11 1,257,435 1,665,200 993,732 1,375,200 1,375,200 -
Hydro Production 12 250,261 95,500 59,974 95,500 95,500 -
Conservation Areas 13 8,144,188 8,500,000 8,600,906 9,000,000 9,000,000 -
Miscellaneous 14 19,233 - 95,601 - 50,000 50,000 
Information Systems 16 1,171,003 1,557,000 1,074,412 1,347,000 1,347,000 -
Motor Pool 16 1,001,110 939,000 763,661 917,000 917,000 -
Less: Internal Charges (IS & MP) 16 (2,172,113) (2,496,000) (1,838,073) (2,264,000) (2,264,000) -
Total OPERATING Expenses 25,471,680 27,996,190 23,504,354 27,865,190 27,895,190 30,000 

CAPITAL 
Water Resources Planning & Environment 1 56,922 110,000 26,440 110,000 90,000 (20,000) 
Flood Forecasting and Warning 2 188,310 190,000 139,369 190,000 190,000 -
Water Control Structures 3 1,347,653 1,500,000 465,598 1,500,000 1,500,000 -
Conservation Areas 13 934,152 2,000,000 1,722,301 2,000,000 2,000,000 -
Information Systems 16 154,773 170,000 102,443 170,000 170,000 -
Motor Pool 16 615,925 850,000 650,951 850,000 850,000 -
Less: Internal Charges (IS & MP) 16 (390,588) (241,000) (905,340) (473,000) (473,000) -
Total Capital Expenses 2,907,147 4,579,000 2,201,762 4,347,000 4,327,000 (20,000) 

SPECIAL 
Water Resources Planning & Environment 1 127,969 210,000 149,166 260,000 260,000 -
Flood Forecasting and Warning 2 341,735 90,000 61,599 90,000 90,000 -
Forestry 5 52,653 100,000 66,446 100,000 100,000 -
Conservation Services 6 757,372 1,090,000 774,750 1,090,000 1,090,000 -
Environmental Education 8 26,600 500,000 20,335 100,000 100,000 -
Conservation Land Purchases/Land Sale Expe 10 17,660 - 3,637 - - -
Conservation Lands 10 229,921 - 424 - - -
Miscellaneous 14 27,323 35,000 33,994 35,000 35,000 -
Source Protection Program 15 569,995 640,000 426,651 602,000 602,000 -
Total SPECIAL PROJECTS Expenses 2,151,228 2,665,000 1,537,002 2,277,000 2,277,000 -

Total Expenses 30,530,055 35,240,190 27,243,118 34,489,190 34,499,190 10,000 
Gross Surplus 18,632,754 (1,112,002) 8,305,985 1,164,998 1,474,998 310,000 

Prior Year Surplus Carryforward 567,177 562,502 - 562,502 562,502 -
Total Funding FROM Reserves (Funding) 3,377,001 4,653,000 - 3,830,000 3,810,000 (20,000) 
Total Funding TO Reserves (22,014,431) (4,103,500) - (4,993,500) (5,233,500) (240,000) 
NET SURPLUS 562,502 - 8,305,985 564,000 614,000 50,000 

33



Grand River Conservation Authority 
Report number:  GM-11-23-88 

Date:  November 24, 2023 

To:  Members of the Grand River Conservation Authority 

Subject:  Human Resources Policies Update 

Recommendation: 
THAT the Human Resources Policies dated November 14, 2023 be approved and 
implemented. 

Summary:  
Staff complete periodic reviews of GRCA’s Human Resources Policies and changes are 
made to: 

• Reflect organizational changes; 
• Provide greater clarity with respect to current practice; 
• Reflect policy changes that have been approved by the General Membership 

since the last policy update;  
• Reflect policy changes that are required due to recent changes in legislation; and 
• Include policy changes recommended by staff but not yet implemented. 

Report: 
The updated Human Resources Policies (HR Policies) are being submitted for General 
Membership approval in accordance with the Grand River Conservation Authority By-law 
No. 1-2023, Section B.10 pertaining to Human Resources Policies which states: 

“The Authority shall approve and amend from time to time corporate policies, 
including Human Resources Policies, for employees containing conditions of 
employment and benefits.” 

The last update of HR Policies was approved by the General Membership in September 
2022. 
Some minor edits were made throughout the document, and the word Director was 
removed to reflect the current organizational structure. The significant recommended 
changes include: 

Human Resources Policy 
Section Number 

Summary of Significant Changes 
(New or modified) 

1.General Conduct of GRCA Employees 

1.3 Diversity, Equity, and 
Inclusion Policy (DEI) Added: New policy 

34



Human Resources Policy 
Section Number 

Summary of Significant Changes 
(New or modified) 

2. General Conditions of Employment 

2.2 Police Record Check and 
Offense Declaration 

Modified: To include those employees who have 
obtained a designation/credential that requires a 
police record check   

5. Uniforms, clothing and Safety Equipment 

5.3 Boot Allowance Modified: Increase in boot allowance effective 
January 1, 2024 

5.3.1  Modified: For full time regular employees 

5.3.2  Modified: For seasonal employees 

5.4 Safety Equipment Added: Items that are currently provided 

6.0 Use of Employee-Owned 
Vehicles 

Added: Financial responsibility and personal 
insurance liability to reflect current practice 

7. Use of GRCA Owned or Leased Equipment  

7.1 Vehicle and Equipment  Modified: Clarify the restrictions of non-employees 
as passengers  

10 Purchasing Policy and Guidelines 

10.6 Purchasing 
Limits/Authorized Buyers 

Modified: Update job position titles and added 
Water Quality Engineer 

11. Purchase Orders  

11.1 Use of Purchase Orders Added: Purchase Orders for Commodities and 
Multi-year contracts to reflect current practice 

11.5 Approval Requirements for 
Expenditures Exceeding 
Original Purchase Order Limit 

Modified: Update to reflect current practice 

14. Seasonal, Temporary, Part-time, Casual Employee and Student 
Requirements 

14.5 Students Modified: Update to reflect current practice 

35



Human Resources Policy 
Section Number 

Summary of Significant Changes 
(New or modified) 

17 Hours of Work  

17.6 Standby  Modified: Update to reflect current practice 

22 Training and Development 

22.1 Job Skills Training 
Programs Modified: Update to reflect current practice 

23 Travel and Other Expenses Eligible for Reimbursement 

23.2 Meals 
Modified: Update to reflect current practice and 
provide clarification on reasonable expenses and 
receipts 

24 Employee Recognition Programs 

24.1 Service Recognition 
Program 

Modified: Increased dollar value of gifts in most 
service categories 

32. Employee Assistance Program 

32. Employee Assistance 
Program Modified: Update to reflect current program 

Financial implications: 
The updated HR Policies will not result in any change to the approved budget. 

Other department considerations: 
Not applicable. 

Prepared by:    Approved by: 
Krista Bunn Karen Armstrong 
Manager of Human Resources Deputy CAO/Secretary-Treasurer 

36



 

 

Grand River Conservation Authority 
Human Resources Policies 

37



 

 

Table of Contents: 
1 GENERAL CONDUCT OF GRCA EMPLOYEES ............................................................................. 7 

1.1 General Conduct ........................................................................................................................... 7 
1.1.1 General Policies ............................................................................................................................ 7 
1.1.2 Conflict of Interest ......................................................................................................................... 7 
1.1.3 Outside Activities-General ............................................................................................................ 7 
1.1.4 Outside Activities-Financial Interest .............................................................................................. 7 
1.1.5 Outside Activities-Payment for Services ....................................................................................... 7 
1.1.6 Acceptance of Gifts ....................................................................................................................... 7 
1.1.7 Outside Activities-Elections within the GRCA watershed .............................................................. 8 
1.1.8 Outside Activities-Elections outside the GRCA watershed ............................................................ 8 
1.1.9 Confidentiality ............................................................................................................................... 8 
1.2 Workplace Harassment, Violence and Discrimination .................................................................. 9 

1.2.1 General Policies ............................................................................................................................ 9 
1.3 Diversity, Equity and Inclusion ...................................................................................................... 9 
1.4 Smoking, Alcohol and Drugs ...................................................................................................... 10 

1.4.1 1.4Smoking ................................................................................................................................. 11 
1.4.2 1.4.1 Alcohol and Drugs .............................................................................................................. 11 
1.5 Acceptable Use of Information and Information Technology Resources .................................... 12 

1.5.1 General ....................................................................................................................................... 12 
1.5.2 Access ........................................................................................................................................ 12 
1.5.3 Passwords .................................................................................................................................. 12 
1.5.4 Physical Security ........................................................................................................................ 12 
1.5.5 Network and Systems Security ................................................................................................... 12 
1.5.6 Employee-owned Electronic Devices .......................................................................................... 13 
1.5.7 Software ..................................................................................................................................... 13 
1.5.8 Data ............................................................................................................................................ 13 
1.5.9 Protection of Data and Backup Procedures ................................................................................ 13 
1.5.10 Email Retention ........................................................................................................................ 14 
1.5.11 Monitoring ................................................................................................................................. 14 
1.5.12 Legal Proceedings .................................................................................................................... 14 
1.5.13 Message Content ...................................................................................................................... 14 
1.5.14 Internet Use .............................................................................................................................. 14 
1.5.15 Social/New Media ..................................................................................................................... 15 
1.5.16 Recording Conversations in the Workplace .............................................................................. 16 
1.5.17 Failure to Comply ...................................................................................................................... 16 
1.6 Storage of Personal Property ..................................................................................................... 17 

2 GENERAL CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT ............................................................................... 17 
2.1 Attendance ................................................................................................................................. 17 
2.2 Police Record Check and Offence Declaration ........................................................................... 17 
2.3 Resignation ................................................................................................................................. 21 
2.4 Redundant Positions and Layoff ................................................................................................. 22 
2.5 Complaint Procedures ................................................................................................................ 22 

3 OFFENCES AND PENALTIES ....................................................................................................... 22 
3.1 Termination and/or Suspension .................................................................................................. 22 
3.2 Hearing ....................................................................................................................................... 23 
3.3 Driving Privileges ........................................................................................................................ 23 

38



 

 

3.4 Disciplinary Notices .................................................................................................................... 23 
4 ESTABLISHMENT OF NEW POSITIONS AND HIRING PROCEDURES ...................................... 23 

4.1 Establishment of New Positions .................................................................................................. 23 
4.2 Filling of Vacant or New Positions .............................................................................................. 24 
4.3 Working Relationships ................................................................................................................ 25 
4.4 Employment Reference Check Policy ......................................................................................... 25 

5 UNIFORMS, CLOTHING AND SAFETY EQUIPMENT .................................................................. 26 
5.1 Uniforms ..................................................................................................................................... 26 
5.2 Wearing of Uniform Clothing ....................................................................................................... 26 
5.3 Boot Allowance ........................................................................................................................... 28 

5.3.1 Regular Full Time Employees: .................................................................................................... 28 
5.3.2 Seasonal Employees: ................................................................................................................. 28 
5.3.3 Temporary Full-Time Employees: ............................................................................................... 28 
5.4 Safety Equipment ....................................................................................................................... 28 

6 USE OF EMPLOYEE-OWNED VEHICLES .................................................................................... 29 
7 USE OF GRCA-OWNED OR LEASED EQUIPMENT .................................................................... 29 

7.1 Vehicles and Equipment ............................................................................................................. 29 
7.2 GRCA Vehicles Assigned to Employees ..................................................................................... 30 

8 MOVEABLE ASSETS POLICY ...................................................................................................... 31 
8.1 Policy .......................................................................................................................................... 31 
8.2 Purpose ...................................................................................................................................... 31 
8.3 Definitions ................................................................................................................................... 31 
8.4 Guiding Principle ......................................................................................................................... 31 
8.5 Mandatory Requirements ............................................................................................................ 31 
8.6 Equipment Categories ................................................................................................................ 33 

9 PETTY CASH ................................................................................................................................. 34 
10 PURCHASING POLICY AND GUIDELINES .................................................................................. 34 

1.1. General Policies .......................................................................................................................... 34 
10.1 Purchasing Limits and Authorization ........................................................................................... 35 
10.2 Purchases from Employees ........................................................................................................ 36 
10.3 Purchases by Employees ........................................................................................................... 36 
10.4 Procurement of Consulting Services ........................................................................................... 37 
10.5 Purchasing Limits/Authorized Buyers ......................................................................................... 37 
10.6 Preliminary Efforts ...................................................................................................................... 38 
10.7 Bid Request Formats .................................................................................................................. 39 
10.8 Emergency Purchases ................................................................................................................ 40 

11 PURCHASE ORDERS ................................................................................................................... 41 
11.1 Use of Purchase Orders ............................................................................................................. 41 
11.2 Use of Purchase Cards ............................................................................................................... 42 
11.3 Use of Blanket Purchase Orders: ............................................................................................... 42 
11.4 Conditions Where Purchase Orders Are Not Required ............................................................... 42 
11.5 Approval Requirements for Expenditures Exceeding Original Purchase Order Limit.................. 43 

12 STAFF ORGANIZATION ................................................................................................................ 44 
12.1 General Responsibilities of Officers and Senior Staff ................................................................. 44 
12.2 Management Committee ............................................................................................................ 44 
12.3 Acting Chief Administrative Officer ............................................................................................. 44 

13 REGULAR SERVICE EMPLOYEE REQUIREMENTS ................................................................... 45 
13.1 General Requirements: ............................................................................................................... 45 

39



 

 

14 SEASONAL, TEMPORARY, PART-TIME, AND CASUAL EMPLOYEE and STUDENT 
REQUIREMENTS........................................................................................................................... 45 

1.2. Seasonal Service ........................................................................................................................ 45 
1.3. Temporary Service ..................................................................................................................... 46 
1.4. Part-Time Hourly-Rated Service ................................................................................................. 46 
1.5. Casual Part-Time Service ........................................................................................................... 46 
1.6. Students ..................................................................................................................................... 47 

15 SALARY AND WAGE ADMINISTRATION ..................................................................................... 47 
15.1 Establishment of Salary and Wages ........................................................................................... 47 

15.1.1 Salary and Wage Scales ........................................................................................................... 47 
15.2 Staff Development Program ........................................................................................................ 48 

16 STAFF POSITION LISTING ........................................................................................................... 49 
17 HOURS OF WORK ........................................................................................................................ 49 

17.1 Minimum Hours of Work ............................................................................................................. 49 
17.2 Hours of Work - Bargaining Unit Employees ............................................................................... 50 
17.3 Overtime Non-Union ................................................................................................................... 50 
17.4 Overtime – Bargaining Unit Employees ...................................................................................... 50 
17.5 Standby ...................................................................................................................................... 50 
17.6 Flex-Time Schedules .................................................................................................................. 51 

17.6.1 Flex Hours ................................................................................................................................ 51 
17.6.2 Flex Work Week ........................................................................................................................ 51 
17.6.3 Flex Schedule Review .............................................................................................................. 52 
17.7 Inclement Weather/Office Closures ............................................................................................ 52 

17.7.1 Definition - Inclement Weather .................................................................................................. 52 
17.7.2 Employee Responsibility ........................................................................................................... 52 
17.7.3 Family Demands ....................................................................................................................... 52 
17.7.4 Payment .................................................................................................................................... 52 
17.7.5 Sick days .................................................................................................................................. 53 
17.8 Scheduled Time .......................................................................................................................... 53 
17.9 Disconnect from Work ................................................................................................................ 53 

18 PAID HOLIDAYS ............................................................................................................................ 55 
18.1 Paid Holidays .............................................................................................................................. 55 
18.2 Working on a Paid Holiday .......................................................................................................... 56 
18.3 Christmas Eve and New Year’s Eve - Early Closure .................................................................. 56 

19 ANNUAL VACATION ...................................................................................................................... 57 
19.1 General ....................................................................................................................................... 57 
19.2 Regular Employees .................................................................................................................... 57 
19.3 Seasonal Employees .................................................................................................................. 58 

20 LEAVE OF ABSENCE .................................................................................................................... 58 
20.1 Leave of Absence with Pay ........................................................................................................ 58 
20.2 Leave of Absence without Pay ................................................................................................... 58 

20.2.1 Unpaid Leaves .......................................................................................................................... 58 
20.2.2 Sick Leave ................................................................................................................................ 59 
20.2.3 Family Caregiver Leave ............................................................................................................ 59 
20.2.4 Family Responsibility Leave ..................................................................................................... 59 
20.2.5 Bereavement Leave .................................................................................................................. 59 
20.2.6 Critical Illness Leave ................................................................................................................. 59 
20.2.7 Child Death Leave or Crime-Related Child Disappearance Leave ........................................... 59 

40



 

 

20.2.8 Domestic or Sexual Violence Leave ......................................................................................... 59 
20.2.9 Family Medical Leave ............................................................................................................... 59 
20.2.10 Declared Emergency Leave .................................................................................................. 59 
20.2.11 Reservist Leave .................................................................................................................... 60 
20.2.12 Organ Donor Leave ............................................................................................................... 60 
20.3 Leave of Absence – Bereavement .............................................................................................. 60 
20.4 Leave of Absence – Pregnancy/Parental .................................................................................... 60 
20.5 Leave of Absence – Adoption ..................................................................................................... 61 
20.6 Personal Day .............................................................................................................................. 61 

21 SERVICES of EMPLOYEES AS JURORS OR WITNESSES ........................................................ 62 
22 TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT .................................................................................................. 62 

22.1 Job Skills Training Programs ...................................................................................................... 62 
22.2 Corporate Training Programs ..................................................................................................... 63 

22.2.1 Tuition Fees: ............................................................................................................................. 63 
22.2.2 Graduate Programs: ................................................................................................................. 64 

23 TRAVEL AND OTHER EXPENSES ELIGIBLE FOR REIMBURSEMENT ..................................... 64 
23.1 General ....................................................................................................................................... 64 
23.2 Meals .......................................................................................................................................... 65 
23.3 Assignments to Temporary Work Locations ............................................................................... 65 

24 EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION PROGRAMS .................................................................................... 66 
1.7. Service Recognition Program ..................................................................................................... 66 
1.8. Employee Departure Program .................................................................................................... 67 

25 WORKPLACE SAFETY AND INSURANCE BOARD COVERAGE ................................................ 67 
26 PENSION PLANS FOR REGULAR SERVICE EMPLOYEES ........................................................ 67 

26.1 Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System (OMERS) ..................................................... 67 
26.1.1 Contributions ............................................................................................................................. 68 
26.1.2 Normal Retirement Age ............................................................................................................ 68 
26.2 Canada Pension Plan ................................................................................................................. 68 

27 ONTARIO HEALTH INSURANCE PLAN ........................................................................................ 68 
28 GROUP BENEFITS ........................................................................................................................ 68 

28.1 Group Life Insurance .................................................................................................................. 68 
28.2 Dependent Group Life Insurance ................................................................................................ 68 
28.3 Long Term Disability (LTD) Plan ................................................................................................. 68 
28.4 Dental Insurance ......................................................................................................................... 68 
28.5 Extended Health Care Insurance ................................................................................................ 69 

29 TERMINATION OF SERVICE ........................................................................................................ 69 
29.1 Retirement .................................................................................................................................. 69 
29.2 Termination of Service Prior to Retirement ................................................................................. 69 
29.3 Entitlement at Death ................................................................................................................... 69 

30 SHORT TERM DISABILITY PLAN ................................................................................................. 70 
30.1 Sick Pay Credits – Eligibility and Rate ........................................................................................ 70 
30.2 Use of Sick Pay Credits .............................................................................................................. 71 
30.3 Work Incentive ............................................................................................................................ 71 

31 EMPLOYEE PURCHASE PLAN – PERSONAL COMPUTERS ..................................................... 71 
32 EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM ......................................................................................... 72 
 

41



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 7 of 72 

1 GENERAL CONDUCT OF GRCA EMPLOYEES 
1.1 General Conduct 

1.1.1 General Policies 

Employees of the GRCA shall: 

 Give value for value received; 

 Treat other Employees and the general public courteously and respectfully; 

 Perform all duties in an efficient and professional manner; 

 Observe and comply with the laws of Canada and Ontario and the Human Resources and 
Health and Safety Policies of the GRCA; 

 Comply with the Regulations of the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board at all times as 
posted; 

 Comply with the Ontario Human Rights code as it applies to discrimination and harassment in 
the workplace. 

1.1.2 Conflict of Interest 

Employees must carry out their duties and conduct themselves in such a manner that objectivity and 
impartiality are construed in both fact and appearance. Employees shall act in the best interests of 
the GRCA and it is the responsibility of the Employee to identify and report any potential or actual 
conflict of interest to their Supervisor. 

An Employee will not use gifts in the solicitation of business for the GRCA. 

 

1.11.1.3 Outside Activities-General 

Employees of the GRCA shall not engage in any outside activity, office, or employment which, in the 
opinion of the Chief Administrative Officer, interferes with the performance of his/her duties, or which 
conflicts with the interests of the GRCA. 

1.1.31.1.4 Outside Activities-Financial Interest 

Employees of the GRCA shall disclose to the Chief Administrative Officer any financial interests where 
the Employee directly owns or indirectly owns, is beneficially entitled to or has an interest in any land, 
building, leases, mortgages, goods, services, or contract which is offered for option, sale, lease, or 
assignment to the GRCA. 

1.1.41.1.5 Outside Activities-Payment for Services 

Employees may act as a consultant, lecturer, advisor or work in his/her trade and accept remuneration 
for such activity, providing such activity: 

 Is approved by the Chief Administrative Officer; 

 Does not interfere with the performance of his/her duties as an Employee and is not engaged 
in during his/her hours of work; 

 Does not conflict with the interest of the GRCA. 

1.1.51.1.6 Acceptance of Gifts 

Employees of the GRCA shall not accept any gifts, payments, services, privileges, or favours from 

42



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 8 of 72 

any person or business organization that has dealings with the GRCA except in instances where 
the value of such item is nominal, received infrequently, the item has no resale value and 
acceptance of such items doesdo not impair the ability (in fact or appearance) to perform one’s 
duties in an objective and impartial manner. 

Such gifts must always be of a form and substance such that an impartial observer could not construe 
them as an improper incentive. Employees should not accept gifts that do not conform to the above 
policy. 

An Employee will disclose the receipt of any gift, favour, etc. to their Supervisor. 

1.2 Entertainment 

Employees of the GRCA engaged in any entertainment associated with business practices should 
ensure such entertainment: 

 is infrequent 

 legitimately serves a definite business purpose 

 is appropriate to the business and responsibilities of the individuals involved 

 is consistent with public sector practices 

Such activities must always be of a form and substance such that an impartial observer could not 
construe them as an improper incentive. 

1.1.61.1.7 Outside Activities-Elections within the GRCA watershed 

Employees may stand as a candidate for election to Federal office, Provincial office, or Municipal 
Council in the area over which the GRCA has jurisdiction, provided that: 

 He/she has been granted leave of absence without pay for the period commencing on the day 
provided for the nomination of candidates and ending on the polling day 

 If elected, he/she resigns his/her position 

 Where an Employee has been granted leave of absence and was not elected, the period of 
leave of absence shall not be included in determining the length of service for any purpose, 
and the service before and after such period shall be deemed to be continuous for all 
purposes. 

1.1.71.1.8 Outside Activities-Elections outside the GRCA watershed 

Employees may: 

 Stand as a candidate for election to any Municipal office in any area outside the area over 
which the GRCA has jurisdiction 

 Hold any Municipal office in any area outside the area over which the GRCA has jurisdiction 

1.1.8  

1.1.9 Confidentiality 

Any confidential information obtained or developed by an Employee in the course of employment, 
must not be directly or indirectly disclosed to any third parties nor used outside of employment with the 
GRCA, unless written consent of the GRCA is first obtained from the Chief Administrative Officer prior 
to disclosure or use. 

43



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 9 of 72 

Collection, use, and disclosure of Personal Information must be in compliance with the Municipal 
Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (see also Human Resources Policy No.1.4.8). 

1.2 Workplace Harassment, Violence and Discrimination 

1.2.1 General Policies 

In accordance with the Ontario Human Rights Code, the GRCA is committed to providing a workplace 
that is safe and free from harassment and discrimination where everyone is treated with respect and 
dignity. 

The GRCA will not tolerate any behaviour which denies individuals their dignity and respect and 
which is offensive, embarrassing or humiliating. All GRCA Employees have a responsibility to respect 
the dignity and human rights of their co-workers. Harassment of another Employee in the carrying out 
of duties or in the provision of goods and services constitutes a disciplinary infraction and will be 
dealt with severely. 

In addition, the GRCA will not tolerate acts of workplace harassment, sexual harassment, or 
workplace violence as defined in the Ontario Occupational Health & Safety Act. 

Please refer to the complete Human Resource Policy 1.2 for greater detail and the GRCA Health & 
Safety Policies 34.1 and 34.2 for further information. 

1.3 Diversity, Equity and Inclusion 

This policy affirms GRCA’s commitment to foster a diverse, equitable and inclusive (DEI) organizational 
culture that encompasses our legal, moral, and ethical responsibilities.  This policy applies to all 
employees and volunteers.  

Policy Statement: 

 We are committed to creating an environment where everyone feels safe, respected, and valued; 
and where employees respect the differences of others and treat others with dignity. 

 We will ensure that the provision of our programs and services are fair and equal to all 
individuals, regardless of their identities.  

 We will act in a manner that is consistent with the Ontario Human Rights Code, Accessibility 
for Ontarians with Disabilities Act  and/or any other applicable legislation.   

 Grand River Conservation Authority will strive to build a culturally competent workforce by 
providing training about diversity, equity, and inclusion, encouraging positive attitudes towards 
cultural differences, raising awareness of unconscious biases and the harmful effects of 
prejudice, discrimination, and microaggressions,  

Definitions: 

Diversity: Diversity refers to the many identities that make us unique and affect our experiences and 
interactions with each other. This includes, but is not limited to our differences in race, national or ethnic 
origin, citizenship, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, income 
source, age, and mental or physical ability. 

Equity: Equity refers to fair treatment, access, and opportunities for all individuals. To produce equity, 
we must address the unequal conditions and positions of people and communities, created by historical 

44



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 10 of 72 

and systemic barriers.   

Inclusion: Inclusion refers to an environment where everyone has the opportunity to fully participate, 
and each person is valued for their distinctive skills, experiences, and perspectives. 

Dignity: Being treated respectfully. 

Discrimination: Treating people unequally or making a distinction based on legally protected grounds 
that results in a burden, obligation, or disadvantage that is not imposed on others or which limits access 
to opportunities, benefits, and advantages available to other members of society. 

Microaggressions: Everyday slights, insults, or insensitive actions that may be intentionally or 
unintentionally offensive and are directed at people who belong to marginalized groups. 

Marginalized Groups: Refers to group(s) of people who are historically and persistently 
disempowered and/or rendered powerless. The marginalization can be social, political, or economic. It is 
important to remember that marginalization is not an aspect of the number of people, but rather is related 
to who holds the most power within a system.  

Protected grounds: The characteristics that an employer must not use as reasons to discriminate 
against an individual or group under human rights legislation. Sometimes called prohibited grounds, 
these often include race, colour, creed, ethnic or national origin, religion, sex, gender identity, gender 
expression, sexual orientation, family status, marital status, age, and disability, but protected grounds 
may differ by jurisdiction. 

Unconscious bias: The inclinations or assumptions that we all have that operate without our 
awareness and can include stereotypes and prejudices towards certain individuals or groups. 

Responsibilities:  

The employer and all employees and volunteers are responsible for the success of this policy. 

The Human Resource Manager is responsible for facilitating the communication and operation of this 
policy to all staff and volunteers, including the provision of appropriate trainings that are available. 

Concerns: 

If an employee feels that this policy has been breached, they may file a verbal or written complaint with 
GRCA’s Human Resource Manager. Attempts should be made to reach a resolution on an individual 
level or with the employee’s direct manager before filing a formal complaint; however, if the employee 
does not feel comfortable approaching the individual or their manager about the matter, they may 
contact the Human Resource Manager directly. The complaint will be reviewed and addressed 
confidentially. 

See Also: 

 Canada Human Rights Act 
 Ontario Human Rights Code 
 Ontario Human Rights Commission: Policy on ableism and discrimination based on disability 

 Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act 
 Accessible Canada Act 

If you have questions or need assistance please contact Krista Bunn, Human Resource 
Manager kbunn@grandriver.ca ; (519)621-2763 

1.4 Smoking, Alcohol and Drugs 

45



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 11 of 72 

1.2  

2.11.4.1 1.4SSmoking 

Smoking and vaping of tobacco products and/or marijuana (cannabis) by employees is prohibited in all 
of the GRCA’s facilities that are considered to be enclosed public places or enclosed workplaces, as 
defined in the Smoke-Free Ontario Act, in all GRCA owned, leased, or rented vehicles, and in all of 
the GRCA’s non-enclosed workplaces or outdoor areas within 9 metres of an enclosed 

workplace. Smoking and vaping of tobacco products is permitted but restricted to the designated 
smoking area directly outside of the GRCA’s head office building or other designated smoking 
areas as applicable. See Health and Safety Policy 8.7 Drugs and Alcohol in the Workplace for 
direction regarding smoking of medically prescribed marijuana. 

2.21.4.2 1.4.1 Alcohol and Drugs 

Employees are expected to perform their work duties safely and be fit for duty. It is the expectation 
that all employees are fit to safely and reliably perform their work duties throughout their shift and are 
free from impairment due to alcohol and/or drugs. Accordingly, all employees are prohibited from 
conducting their job responsibilities while under the influence of alcohol, recreational marijuana, or 
illegal drugs. 

Employees concerned about or experiencing alcohol and drug problems are encouraged to seek 
assistance from the GRCA’s Employee Assistance Program (EAP), Human Resource department, 
their primary care physician or appropriate community service before job performance is affected or 
violations occur. It is the employee’s responsibility to self-identify if they have a dependency or 
addiction to drugs or alcohol. Once an employee self identifies, the GRCA will seek assistance and 
accommodate the employee at work and through appropriate medical programs. If an employee is 
found to be under the influence prior to or after an accident that puts the GRCA, staff, or the public at 
risk, the employee may be disciplined up to termination, subject to any accommodation obligation 
which might apply in the individual circumstances. 

The following are expressly prohibited while on GRCA business or premises: 

 the use, possession, distribution, purchase and/or sale of illegal drugs, recreational marijuana 
or drug paraphernalia; 

 the unauthorized use, possession, distribution, purchase or sale of alcoholic beverages; 

 possession and use of prescribed medications not authorized for personal use 

Medical marijuana will be treated the same as all other regularly prescribed medication. The GRCA 
has the same expectations from employees who use medical marijuana asas those who use all other 
types of medication and will accommodate individuals up to the point of undue hardship. Use 
medications responsibly, be aware of potential side effects. Employees must notify their supervisor of 
any potential unsafe side effects where applicable that may impair their ability to effectively perform 
the essential functions of the job and/or may endanger the safety of the individual or other individuals 
in the workplace. 

All information provided in regard to this policy is considered confidential and will be treated as such, 
keeping an employee's privacy as a top concern second only to safety. 

Disciplinary action up to and including termination will be taken for violations of this policy and its 
related practices. 

46



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 12 of 72 

For additional information on this subject, please refer to Health and Safety Policy 8.7 Drugs and 
Alcohol in the Workplace 

1.31.5 Acceptable Use of Information and Information Technology Resources 

1.2.21.5.1 General 

The GRCA uses a variety of computing and communications systems in carrying out its 
business. All communication and information transmitted by, received from, or stored in these 
systems is the property of the GRCA and, as such, is intended to be used for job-related 
purposes only. 

In the course ofWhile carrying out business, the electronicelectronic monitoring of employees may 
occur. 

 

All Employees must read, understand, and conform to this policy before receiving access to the various 
systems in use at the GRCA. Any questions should be directed to the Employee’s Supervisor or the 
Manager of Information Systems and Technology (IS&T). 

1.2.31.5.2 Access 

The GRCA will provide computer accounts to GRCA Employees as required. External people, such 
as volunteers or contractors, may also be providedprovided with accounts as appropriate, and this 
will be determined on a case-by-case basis and all aspects of this Policy will apply to those users. 
The Employee managing the temporary or contract staff assumes responsibility for the identification 
of access requirements and use of the account. Accounts will be revoked on request of the user or 
Manager or when the Employee terminates employment at the GRCA. 

1.2.41.5.3 Passwords 

Initial passwords are assigned by the IS&T Department and Employees must change the provided 
passwords as soon as possible. The GRCA reserves the right to override any Employee-selected 
passwords and/or codes. Employees are required to provide the GRCA with any such codes or 
passwords to facilitate access as needed. Periodically, Employees may be required to change their 
passwords. At no time should an Employee allow a temporary employee, contractor or another 
Employee use of their user nameusername or password. In the case where an Employee does 
provide another person access to Human Resources Policies – May 2022 Page 9 their account, they 
will be responsible for the actions of the individual using their account. Passwords should not be 
stored in computer data files, on the network, or be displayed openly at any workstation. 

1.2.51.5.4 Physical Security 

Access to server rooms and communications closets will be limited to Employees who require access 
for the normal performance of their jobs. Computers with sensitive information installed on the local 
disk drive(s) should be secured in a locked room or office during non-business hours. Equipment 
which is to be removed from GRCA property must be approved in advance by the IS&T Department 
and an inventory of this equipment maintained by IS&T. Any equipment that is to be removed from the 
premises must be documented in accordance with Human Resources Policy No. 7.2 Moveable 
Assets. If the Employee leaves the employment of the GRCA, he or she must return the equipment to 
the GRCA prior to the last day of employment. To ensure protection of data, disposal of any surplus 
Information Technology equipment must be carried out by the IS& T Department. 

1.2.61.5.5 Network and Systems Security 

47



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 13 of 72 

The IS&T Department implements and maintains tools and procedures to provide adequate protection 
from intrusion into the GRCA's computer systems from external sources. No computer that is 
connected to the network can have stored, on its disk(s) or in its memory, information that would 
permit access to other parts of the network. Employees should not store personal, business or other 
credit card/account information, or passwords within word processing or other data documents. 

All Employees are responsible for protecting the network against malware and/or virus attack by 
ensuring that tools installed on their devices, such as firewalls and anti-virus applications, are not 
disabled. Staff should lock their devices or log off of the network when they will be away from their 
workstation for an extended period. 

1.2.71.5.6 Employee-owned Electronic Devices 

Employees may be authorized to access certain GRCA services such as email, calendars, contacts, 
etc. from Employee-owned electronic devices such as computers, tablets, smartphones, etc. Such 
access must be authorized by the Manager of the IS&T Department and the business use of such 
devices will be subject to HR Policy 1.4.11 pertaining to the Monitoring section of this Policy. The 
Employee will be responsible to ensurefor ensuring compliance to the Passwords, Message Content, 
and Network and Systems Security sections of this Policy at all times when accessing GRCA services 
or conducting GRCA business on personally-ownedpersonally owned devices. The GRCA reserves 
the right to withdraw this privilege at any time without notice. 

1.2.81.5.7 Software 

Only legally licensed software will be installed on the GRCA’s computers, smartphones and other 
endnode devices. Users are expected to read, understand and conform to the license requirements of 
any software product(s) they use or install. Employees are expected to use the standard software 
provided by the IS&T Department, or identify applications they need in the course of their work. 

Employees are not permitted to install software, applications, demos or upgrades without the approval 
of the IS&T Department. Employees must use the standard email and messaging systems provided by 
the GRCA for official email communications. 

1.2.91.5.8 Data 

Information and data created or obtained in the course of employment with GRCA is the exclusive 
property of the GRCA. Release of data owned or licensed by GRCA to others shall be in accordance 
with the GRCA’s data licensing policies, which can be obtained from the IS&T Department. 

Collection, use, and disclosure of Personal Information must be in compliance with the Municipal 
Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (see also Human Resources Policy 1.1.10). 

1.2.101.5.9 Protection of Data and Backup Procedures 

All network files are backed up on a regular basis, and backup copies are stored off-site. Office 365 data, 
including SharePoint, Teams, and OneDrive are automatically retained and archived in the Cloud. Data 
stored on other devices, including local PC’s or USB drives are, is not routinely backed up, and as a 
result, important data and applications should not be stored locally on these devices. 

Employees are responsible for ensuring that GRCA information, data and communication remain 
within the control of the GRCA at all times. The storage of GRCA information on personal or non-
GRCA controlled environments, including devices maintained by a third party with whom the GRCA 
does not have a contractual agreement, is prohibited unless such storage has been approved by the 
Manager of the IS&T Department. 

48



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 14 of 72 

1.2.111.5.10 Email Retention 

All emails sent and received through the GRCA’s email system will be automatically archived by 
a centralized secure email archiving application. Archived emails will be retained in accordance 
with regulatory requirements. 

1.2.121.5.11 Monitoring 

The GRCA provides the server, storage, and network infrastructure, email system, personal 
computing devices (including PC’s, smartphones and tablets) and other devices for employees’ use 
on GRCA business. The GRCA reserves the right to monitor the use of its Information and 
Information Technology Resources at any time, with or without notice, to ensure that such use is 
appropriate and in accordance with this Policy. 

The GRCA also maintains video surveillance equipment at various GRCA locations and GPS devices 
in vehicles. The GRCA may monitor the information on this equipment in accordance with the 
GRCA’s Video Surveillance Policy and Procedure and Fleet Management System Policy. 

The GRCA understands that occasional personal use of Information and Information Technology 
Resources by employees may take place. Employees should note that such use, which includes but is 
not limited to personal emails, documents, and other files, is subject to all other sections of this Policy 
and will not be deemed personal or private. 

While the GRCA does not routinely monitor individual usage of its Information and Information 
Technology Resources, the normal operation and maintenance of these resources require backup of 
data and communication, the logging of activity, the monitoring of general usage patterns, and other 
such activities that are necessary for the provision of service. Personal monitoring of a particular 
employee’s usage by the IS&T Department will only take place if required by law or if there is a 
reasonable belief that the Information and Information Technology Resources are being used 
inappropriately. Such personal monitoring and/or disclosure must be approved in advance by the 
Chief Administrative Officer or the Human Resources Department. 

1.2.131.5.12 Legal Proceedings 

Electronic files, including emails, text messages, photos, MS Team chats, meeting recordings 
and/or transcripts, etc sent or received by Employees may be used in legal proceedings or subject 
to disclosure under applicable legislation. Employees should be aware that email messages are 
considered official written correspondence and are potentially the subject of discovery, subpoena, 
Freedom of Information requests, etc. 

1.2.141.5.13 Message Content 

The email system is not to be used to solicit or promote commercial ventures, religious or political 
causes or other non-job-related solicitations. The system is not to be used to create any offensive or 
disruptive messages. Human Resources Policy No. 1 Code of Conduct shall be considered the 
prevailing authority in the event of possible misconduct. In addition, the email system may not be used 
to send or receive copyrighted materials, trade secrets, proprietary information, or similar materials 
without prior authorization. 

Employees are not authorized to retrieve or read any email messages that are not sent to them and 
cannot use a password, access a file, or retrieve any stored information unless authorized to do so 
under the Monitoring section of this Policy. 

1.2.151.5.14 Internet Use 

49



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 15 of 72 

The Internet is to be used for business purposes only. Employees with Internet access are expressly 
prohibited from accessing, viewing, uploading/downloading, or printing material that is in violation of 
the laws of Ontario, Canada, and/or Human Resources Policy No.1 Code of Conduct. In addition, the 
internet may not be used to send or receive copyrighted materials, trade secrets, proprietary 
information, or similar materials without prior authorization. Employees should be mindful that there is 
no assuranc assurancee that e-mail, texts, and attachments sent within the GRCA and on the Internet 
will not be seen, accessed, or intercepted by unauthorized parties. Any Public Wifi Access points that 
have been 

 established for use by GRCA’s visitors may be subject to limited access or a click-through acceptable 
use agreement, as determined by the IS&T Department, to ensure appropriate use consistent with this 
Policy. 

1.2.161.5.15 Social/New Media 

The GRCA makes use of various forms of social/ new media to promote programs, communicate 
topics of interest, educate and engage with the public (e.g. flood warnings, fire bans, promotion of 
GRCA programs, park events, etc.). 

 

It is the responsibility of the Strategic Communications Department or their delegate(s) to manage the 

GRCA’s official presence on social/new media networks and channels and to act as the official  

representative(s) of the GRCA for the purpose of posting content, answering questions, participating in 

discussions, etc. The GRCA acknowledges that other staff may be interested in following and/or  

 contributing to the GRCA’s official social media activities. 

 

From time to time, posts on the GRCA’s social media accounts or about the GRCA can become 
contentious or difficult. The Strategic Communications department monitors its social media channels 
on an ongoing basis. Employees should refrain from participating in these types of online discussions, 
as they require a corporate and strategic approach. For further information, please refer to the 

 GRCA’s Social Media Framework. 

Employees may wish to make their own posts about the GRCA, its activities and/or their program on 
their personal social media channels, andchannels and are encouraged to contact the Strategic 
Communications Department and/or their supervisor for guidance. 

Staff members participating in social media for personal purposes,purposes must not represent 
themselves as an official spokesperson of the GRCA. To ensure their personal posts or comments are 
not perceived as official GRCA communiques, staff should: 

 not use a GRCA email address or user identification for personal social media activities; 

  not use the GRCA’s logo or other protected images on personal posts on social networks, 
blogs, etc 

 not disclose any information entrusted to the GRCA that is confidential or protected by the 

 Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (MFIPPA);  

•not violate any copyrights, trademarks, or intellectual property rights that involve the GRCA 

50



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 16 of 72 

and its partners; and 

  not attempt to convey the GRCA’s policies, practices, or position on an issue when 
participating in personal social media activities. 

When making posts or comments on any social media channel, whether public or private, staff shall 
conduct themselves professionally at all timesalways conduct themselves professionally. Be 
advised that inappropriate comments, videos, photographs, links, etc. on social media should be 
avoided. 

In keeping with Human Resource policies on workplace harassment, violence, and discrimination, 
defamatory or discriminatory content will not be tolerated and is meant to protect the health and safety 
of employees. 

Staff shall abide by these guidelines whether they mention the GRCA by name or not. Even if the 
GRCA is not mentioned specifically, a link could be made to the GRCA, which could negatively affect 

 the organization’s reputation and may be considered a breach of this policy. 

 

This policy is intended to ensure that the image, brand, and reputation of the GRCA are not negatively 
impacted. 

Staff should also be aware that members of the public may use mobile phones and other devices to 
take photographs or make recordings. Staff should always represent the GRCA positively and 
professionally. Staff who are photographed or recorded acting inappropriately or unprofessionally may 
be considered to have breached this policy. 

 Staff are encouraged to refer to the GRCA’s Social Media Framework to further their understanding of 

 the GRCA’s use of social media as a corporate communications tool. If an employee is uncertain 
about this policy or has questions about the Framework, they should speak with their 
Supervisor/Manager/Director. 

1.2.171.5.16 Recording Conversations in the Workplace 

Staff are prohibited from recording conversations (video and/or audio) of other staff members while at 
work (notwithstanding the GRCA’s Video Surveillance Policy and Procedure). Exceptions for recording 
conversations with knowledge and consent include:  

 •Public meetings and workshops 

 •Education and training materials 

 •Communications and media materials 

Authorization from HR can be requested in advance for any exceptional circumstances. 

3.21.5.17 Failure to Comply 

Failure to comply with the Acceptable Use of Information and Information Technology Resources 
Policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment. Any Employee 
who does not understand any part of this Policy is responsible for obtaining clarification from his/her 
Supervisor or the Manager of the IS&T Department. If an employee feels that a particular use of 
yourtheir computer, email, or Internet access should be permissible, but does not seem to be 

51



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 17 of 72 

covered by this policy, they should consult with their Supervisor/Manager/Director. 

1.31.6 Storage of Personal Property 

The GRCA will not assume any responsibility for personal articles that are damaged, lost, or stolen 
on GRCA premises, property or from vehicles. Personal property, including but not limited to 
trailers, boats, and vehicles, are not to be stored at the workplace, including remote worksites, 
except where such services are also available to the public in which case the same rules and fees 
are applicable. 

2 GENERAL CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT 
1.42.1 Attendance 

All Non-Union Employees shall work the days and hours as set out in Human Resources Policy No. 

17. Bargaining Unit Employees shall work the hours as set out in the Collective Agreement. 

All Employees shall complete and electronically submit individual weekly, monthly or such other 
attendance and work records as provided by the Payroll Department. These records shall show the 
Employee’s name and location, time (days and hours worked), nature of work and periods of absence 
with reasons. 

The work record shall be checked for accuracy and authorized by the Supervisor prior to being 
forwarded to the Payroll Department. 

2.12.2 Police Record Check and Offence Declaration 

The GRCA is committed to ensuring the safety and security of persons under the GRCA’s care, 
protecting GRCA’s assets and complying with applicable legislation and other requirements. 

Accordingly, the GRCA will designate those positions and volunteer placements which require a Police 
Records Check (PRC). Employees or volunteers with a designated requirement, or those who have 
obtained a designation/credential that requires a police record check, must immediately inform Human 
Resources of any charges or convictions against them which may affect their ability to perform the 
essential duties of their job. 

Definitions: 

For the purposes of this policy, designated positions and designated volunteer placements include 
those where the essential duties/activities require: 

• employees or volunteers to have contact with and /or operate in a position of trust or authority 
over children or vulnerable persons. (Vulnerable persons are those who, because of their age, 
disability, or other circumstances, are in a position of dependence on others or  

are otherwise at a greater risk than the general population of being harmed by persons in a position 
of authority or trust relative to them); or 

• employees or volunteers whose job duties include financial transactions which involve a 
significant flow of money and/or involve handling purchase orders, credit cards or valuable 
property; or 

• that the position, designation/credential or volunteer placement is required by statute or 
agreements with other agencies to have a Police Records Check. For example, Provincial 
Offense Officer designation. 

For the purposes of this policy, Police Records Check (PRC) refers to a check of records held by the 

52



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 18 of 72 

police. The main source of data is the Canadian Police Information Centre (CPIC). PRC’s are typically 
provided in three formats: 

1. CRIMINAL RECORD CHECK: the most basic form of check and only contains information from the 
CPIC database. 

2. CRIMINAL RECORD AND JUDICIAL MATTERS CHECK: similar to the Criminal Record Check 
and may also include a criminal offence where there are conditions or probation, outstanding 
charges or warrants for a criminal offence, and a court order made against an individual. 

3. VULNERABLE SECTOR CHECK: a more complete search which includes not only CPIC data but 
also information from local police databases which provides information specifically for convictions 
of a sexual nature, whether or not a pardon has been granted. This level of search is only 
conducted where the bona fide occupational requirements/activities of the position or the volunteer 
placement require regular contact with children and/or vulnerable persons. 

PRC Level Required: 

 

 Vulnerable Populations – Vulnerable Sector Check 

 Financial Transactions – Criminal Record Check 

 Statute or Agreement – The type of PRC required will be defined in the agreement 

For the purposes of this policy, an Employee Offence Declaration (EOD) refers to a written declaration 
signed by an employee/volunteer listing all of their convictions for offences under the Criminal Records 
Act (Canada) up to the date of the declaration for which a pardon has not been granted. 

Operating Details: 

Managers and Supervisors, in conjunction with Human Resources, will regularly review job 
descriptions and volunteer placement descriptions for their area to determine which will be designated 
as requiring Police Records Checks based on the bona fide occupational requirements for the job 
and/or applicable statutes or agreements. Any revisions to the list of designated positions and 
volunteer placements will be approved by the Manager of Human Resources. 

Job or volunteer placement descriptions for designated positions will indicate the following: 

  

 a PRC is required 

 the bona fide reason the PRC is required (legislation, etc.) 

 the type of PRC required 

 if there is a requirement for updating the PRC post-hire 

Job postings for designated positions/placements will indicate that a PRC is required. At the time 
interviews are scheduled, each candidate for a designated position or volunteer placement will be 
informed that a satisfactory, current PRC is a job requirement. 

The successful candidate will be required to produce the PRC before commencing their job duties. 

The PRC must be current (no more than 60 days old) and must either be the original paper document 
or digital document as applicable. Photocopies will not be accepted. 

53



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 19 of 72 

A PRC is not the only tool used to determine suitability for a position and minimize risk. Other 
screening and hiring evaluation measures are also used to determine suitability for a position or 
volunteer placement. 

All employees working in positions designated as requiring a PRC; or those employees who have 
obtained a designation/credential that requires a police record check, will also require completion of an 
EOD form by September 1st annually. 

Emergency Provision 

Normally, a candidate shall not commence employment in a designated position until a current PRC 
has been supplied. Only in an exceptional case will a person be permitted to commence employment 
before the GRCA has received the PRC. In such cases, the candidate will be required to provide an 
EOD which may, at the GRCA’s sole discretion, permit the candidate to commence employment for a 
maximum of twenty (20) working days, prior to the submission and receipt of the PRC. Before any 
such exception is made, both parties will agree that a binding agreement shall be entered into 
between the employee and the GRCA, ensuring that the verification be provided without delay and in 
a timely manner. This agreement will preserve the GRCA’s power to revoke the offer of employment 
and dismiss the employee should the EOD provided by the employee prove to be false or misleading 
in any respect. 

Responsibilities: 

Human Resources will ensure the following: 

CCandidates or Potential Volunteers 

 ensure that the requirement for a current PRC is noted on applicable job postings 

 when scheduling job interviews, advise candidates for designated positions that they must 
provide a satisfactory, current PRC prior to being offered a position 

 will provide a form requesting written consent from the candidate to obtain the PRC and to 
disclose the PRC to the GRCA. Information received in response to a PRC will not be used or 
disclosed except for the purpose for which it was requested or as authorized by law. The type of 
PRC required will be identified on the form 

 will provide a letter to the candidate to take to the applicable police department identifying the 
nature of their employment/volunteer position and the type of PRC required (if requested) 

 review the PRC received from the candidate or volunteer and, if necessary, seek any further 
information regarding a PRC 

 if a PRC contains information which may impact a candidate’s suitability for a specific job 
based on the bona fide duties of the job, the PRC will be assessed 

 advise the applicable Supervisor or Manager regarding whether or not the PRC is satisfactory 

 seal the PRC in a marked, confidential envelope and retain in the employee’s HR file or return to 
an unsuccessful candidate 

 at no time will the specific information on a PRC or related documentation be shared or 
discussed outside Human Resources other than with legal counsel, the Deputy CAO and/or 
CAO, as required. 

54



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 20 of 72 

Current Employees & Volunteers 

 ensure all current employees in designated positions and volunteers in designated placements 
submit an EOD by September 1st of each year 

 Ensure all current employees who have obtained a designation/credential requiring a police 
record check submit an EOD by September 1st of each year 

 if an EOD contains information which may impact a candidate’s suitability for a specific job 
based on the bona fide duties of the job, the EOD will be assessed 

 advise the applicable Supervisor or Manager regarding whether or not the EOD is satisfactory 

 seal the EOD in a marked, confidential envelope and retain in the employee’s HR file 

 at no time will the specific information on an EOD or related documentation be shared or 
discussed outside Human Resources other than with legal counsel, the Deputy CAO and/or 
CAO, as required 

 if it is the first time the employee is required to obtain a PRC Hhuman Rresources will provide a 
form requesting written consent from the employee to obtain the PRC and to disclose the PRC to 
the GRCA. Information received in response to a PRC will not be used or disclosed except for the 
purpose for which it was requested or as authorized by law. The type of PRC required will be 
identified on the form 

Candidates for designated positions or volunteer placements 

 Complete and submit written consent form to conduct the PRC 

 Obtain the required PRC from the local or regional Police Services Department in the area in 
which an individual resides. Police Services will generally require applicants to complete a form 
and provide one or two pieces of photo identification before they access the Canadian Police 
Information Centre (CPIC) database. 

 Pay any fees required for their PRC; this may be reimbursable by GRCA Human Resources Dept.  

 Return the PRC, in a sealed envelope or email, marked confidential, directly to the Human 
Resources Coordinator or Manager of Human Resources along with the consent form authorizing 
GRCA to receive and review the results 

Employees or Volunteers 

 Employees in designated positions, or those who have obtained a designation/credential requiring 
a police record check, and volunteers in designated placements must immediately inform Human 
Resources of any charges or convictions against them which may affect their ability to perform the 
essential duties of their job. For example, 

a) Where a position/placement requires contact with, or involves a position of trust or 
authority over children or vulnerable persons, the employee/ volunteer is required to 
report past or current charges or convictions which would include, but are not limited to, 
the following: 

 any sexual offence under the Criminal Code 

 any violations under the Controlled Drug and Substances Act 

 any criminal offence involving minors 

 crimes of violence which include, but are not limited to, threats, assaults and 

55



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 21 of 72 

use, possession, distribution or concealment of a weapon or imitation of a 
weapon 

 propagation of hate literature or incitement to hatred 

 possession, distribution or sale of any pornographic or violent material 

 theft, fraud, property related crimes, break and enter 

 other offences involving dishonest or fraudulent acts 

 other offences specifically related to the job 

b) Where a position/placement is designated as requiring a PRC for any other reason 
(financial transactions, required by statute or agreements with other parties), the 
employee/ volunteer is required to report past or current charges or convictions which 
would include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 theft 

 fraud 

 property-related crimes 

 break and enter 

 other offences involving dishonest or fraudulent acts 

 All current employees in designated positions and volunteers in designated placements are 
required to submit an Employee Offence Declaration by September 1st of each year. 

 Failure to disclose current charges or convictions may result in disciplinary action up to and 
including immediate dismissal. 

See Also: 

Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act 
Ontario Human Rights Code 

Police Record Checks Reform Act, 2015 

Collective Agreement Letter of Understanding #78, Police Reference Checks 

1.52.3 Resignation 

A Regular Employee, other than the Secretary TreasurerSecretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO, a 
Director, or a Manager, may resign from the GRCA’s service by giving his/her immediate Supervisor 
two (2) weeks’ notice in writing of his/her intention to resign with the last official day of work clearly 
defined. He/she may, by written notice and with the approval of the Chief Administrative Officer, 
withdraw the notice of resignation at any time before its effective date if no person has been 
appointed or selected for appointment to the position. 

The Secretary TreasurerSecretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO, a Director, or a Manager shall give at 
least one (1) months’ notice in writing to his/her immediate Supervisor. 

The Chief Administrative Officer shall give at least two (2) months’ notice in writing to the Chair and 
provide a copy to the Manager of Human Resources. 

A Regular Employee who is absent from duty without authorization for a period of five (5) days may be 
declared in writing by the Chief Administrative Officer, to have abandoned his/her position and cease 
to be an Employee of the GRCA. 

56



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 22 of 72 

2.22.4 Redundant Positions and Layoff 

The Chief Administrative Officer must approve the layoff of any Regular, Full-time Employee and the 
elimination of any position, excluding student positions. 

A Manager, Director or the Secretary TreasurerSecretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO may approve the 
layoff of any Seasonal, Temporary, Part-time or student Employee in their Department. 

2.32.5 Complaint Procedures 

An Employee with a complaint or concern related to the workplace must discuss the complaint with 
their immediate Supervisor as soon as possible after circumstances giving rise to the complaint have 
occurred. If satisfaction is not obtained, the Employee should then refer the complaint in writing to the 
next level of commandSupervisor  and then, if necessary, to the Secretary TreasurerSecretary-
Treasurer/Deputy CAO and the Chief Administrative Officer, in that order. 

3 OFFENCES AND PENALTIES 
3.1 Termination and/or Suspension 

Unless otherwise stipulated in the Conservation Authorities Act and amendments thereto: 

The Chief Administrative Officer may: 

 Dismiss any Employee for just cause, which includes failure to observe and comply with the 
Human Resources Policies of the GRCA; 

 Release from employment any Employee during the probationary period of employment; 

 Dismiss any Employee who is in violation of any federal law while in the workplace; 

 Suspend up to five (5) days without pay in cases where, in the opinion of the Chief 
Administrative Officer, the circumstances do not amount to cause for removal from 
employment or dismissal of an Employee who: 

- habitually fails to comply with attendance regulations and directives 

- is absent without permission during their scheduled hours of work 

- reports for duty while incapable of performing assigned duties; 

- misuses GRCA property 

- fails to comply with the instructions of his/her immediate Supervisor 

- other 

 Suspend without pay any Employee required to operate an Employee-owned or GRCA vehicle 
on GRCA business upon any occurrence in license suspension and/or driving prohibition as 
defined by law, covering that period of time that he/she cannot perform all regular duties 
unless: 

- It is possible to change jobs or negotiate an arrangement whereby the duties requiring a 
valid license can be assumed by another Employee with the approval of the Chief 
Administrative Officer. 

- He/she can use a taxicab or other form of public transportation at his/her own expense 

 Dismiss any Employee required to operate an Employee-owned or GRCA vehicle on GRCA 
business upon a second license suspension and/or driving prohibition as defined by law. 

57



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 23 of 72 

Exceptions may be granted in unusual circumstances, i.e. sufficient time must have elapsed 
since the prior suspension to enable it to be treated as a first offence by the courts. 

A Director orThe Secretary TreasurerSecretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO may: 

 Suspend any Seasonal Employee in the Division for up to five (5) days from employment 
without pay for causes outlined in Human Resources Policies No. 1 and No. 3.1. 

 Suspend a Regular Employee without pay, for a period of up to a maximum of four (4) days for 
causes outlined in Human Resources Policies No. 1 and No. 3.1. 

A Manager or Supervisor may: 

 After two (2) written warnings, suspend any Seasonal or Temporary Employee under his/her 
supervision for up to three (3) days from employment without pay for causes outlined in Human 
Resources Policies No. 1 and No. 3.1 provided that a copy of the warning plus a copy of the 
report listing cause is given to the DirectorSecretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO, or his/her 
designate for approval prior to suspension; 

 After two (2) written warnings outlining the cause, suspend a Regular Employee from service 
without pay for a period of up to four (4) days. This suspension along with a copy of the 
warning in report form must be given to a Director orthe Secretary TreasurerSecretary-
Treasurer/Deputy CAO or his/her designate for approval prior to suspension; 

 Recommend through the established chain of command to the Chief Administrative Officer, the 
dismissal of a Regular Employee in report form along with copies of the warnings given. 

3.13.2 Hearing 

Before dismissing or removing a Regular Non-Union Employee from employment for causes as 
outlined in Human Resources Policy No. 3.1 above, the Chief Administrative Officer, or designate, 
may hold a hearing at which he/she is entitled to be present and make representation. 

3.23.3 Driving Privileges 

Employees required to drive Employee-owned or GRCA vehicles shall inform their immediate 
supervisor of any loss of driving privilege and/or driving prohibition. Failure to do so will result in 
immediate dismissal upon discovery. 

3.33.4 Disciplinary Notices 

In all cases where disciplinary notices are given in writing, a copy shall be forwarded to the Manager 
of Human Resources and placed in the Employee’s Human Resources file. 

4.4 ESTABLISHMENT OF NEW POSITIONS AND HIRING PROCEDURES 
4.1 Establishment of New Positions 

The establishment of a new position may occur where the need for such a position is identified by the 
Manager and/or Director. An Employment Requisition Form must be completed and submitted for 
approval by the Secretary TreasurerSecretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO, Director, Manager of Human 
Resources, and Chief Administrative Officer, if the position is: 

 Seasonal, Temporary or Part-time and can be accommodated in the current approved budget, 
or 

 Regular Full-time, including the conversion of a Seasonal, Part-time, or Temporary position 

58



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 24 of 72 

to Regular Full-time, and is accommodated in the current approved budget, or 

 Regular Full-time and specifically identified as a change in a previously approved monthly 
forecast/ financial summary. 

 Any other situation that would result in an increase to the staffing levels. 

A Manager or Director may approve a student position if it can be accommodated in the current 
approved budget.  

3.44.2 Filling of Vacant or New Positions 

When a position becomes vacant or a new position is approved, the Supervisor shall fill the position as 
soon as practicable. The Human Resources Department will provide written confirmation of the terms 
of employment to the Employee. 

A Temporary Employee, as defined in Human Resources Policy No. 14, may have the length of 
his/her term of service renewed annually or extended with the approval of the Manager, Director, 
Secretary TreasurerSecretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO and the Chief Administrative Officer. The 
Human Resources Department will provide written confirmation of the terms of employment to 
the Employee. 

A position in a higher classification level may be filled on a provisional basis by a person lacking the 
necessary experience or training and that Employee will be paid at a rate to be approved by the Chief 
Administrative Officer. Subject to the approval of the Chief Administrative Officer, the Employee will 
be assigned to the classification level established for that position upon attaining the experience or 
training necessary to enable him/her to adequately fulfill the responsibilities attached to the position. 

Salaried Regular positions, which become temporarily vacant due to illness, injury, leave of absence, 
etc., may be filled on a temporary or interim basis at the discretion of the Chief Administrative Officer. 

Vacant or new positions may be filled on a temporary basis at the discretion of the Chief 
Administrative Officer. 

Vacant or new Non-Union Salaried Regular positions may be open for competition at the discretion of 
the Chief Administrative Officer. The following procedures for hiring will apply: 

 The vacant position may be advertised internally to the Employees of the GRCA and 
external advertising may run concurrently. 

 The interview team will consist of a minimum of the Supervisor of the open position and a 
Human Resources representative. 

 An offer of employment shall be prepared by the Human Resources Department and approved 
by the applicable Manager or Director. 

 A Human Resources representative will present the offer of employment to the selected 
applicant. 

Prior to hiring, the selected applicant must provide required documentation such as a valid driver’s 
license, proof of eligibility to work in Canada, registration/designation, degree, diploma and/or 
certificate, as applicable. For persons unable to provide this documentation, the following conditions 
will apply: 

59



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 25 of 72 

 For immediately necessary documentation, the selected applicant will not be allowed to 
commence employment and other candidates will be considered; 

 For documentation not immediately necessary, the selected applicant will be allowed to 
commence employment, however, such documentation must be presented to the Human 
Resources Department within thirty-one (31) calendar days from the start date of his/her 
employment. Failure to do so shall result in termination of employment. 

Upon hiring, Employees will be required to maintain current designations, licences, memberships, etc. 
that are requirements of their position. 

3.54.3 Working Relationships 

The GRCA will not discriminate in its hiring practices against or in favour of, the close family of any 
Employee, former Employee or Member of the Board, except where such hiring will result in an 
Employee being in a conflict of interest related to a reporting relationship or a financial or 
administrative matter. 

For purposes of this policy, close family shall mean a spouse (including common-law spouse), child, 
sibling or parent. Circumstances may exist wherein a relationship between employees is outside of 
this definition but could be perceived to be a conflict of interest. As per Human Resources Policy No. 
1.1.2, it is the responsibility of the Employee to identify and report any potential or actual conflict of 
interest to their Supervisor. 

3.64.4 Employment Reference Check Policy 

The Grand River Conservation Authority recognizes and acknowledges that current and former 
employees may depend on the provision of timely and accurate reference information. This policy 
outlines the acceptable provision of reference information by GRCA employees. This policy serves to 
fulfill the following purposes: 

ꞏ To provide fair and equal treatment of existing and former employees of the GRCA when 
they apply for work at other organizations, and; 

ꞏ To protect the GRCA from legal liability arising from issues surrounding the 
provision of references. 

Requirements: 

1. Requests for employment references for current or former GRCA employees must be handled 
by the Human Resources Department, Division Directors, Managers, Deputy CAO, the CAO, 
and Supervisors to whom the employee directly or indirectly reported. No other employee is 
authorized to release references or any other information concerning current or former 
employees. 

2. The supervisor/manager must confirm a positive reference from Human Resources prior to 
hiring a student who previously worked at the GRCA, in a different capacity/location. 

2. A copy of any reference letter provided must be kept in the employee’s file. 

3.  No references shall be provided to prospective employers without the written consent of the 
employee for whom a reference has been requested. If current and former employees would like a 
reference to be provided, they must consent to the provision of references in writing by signing the 
Reference Check Release Form – GRCA. 

4. Information disclosed, in good faith, to prospective employers, will include: 

60



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 26 of 72 

ꞏ Dates of employment 

ꞏ Title of positions held and duration 

ꞏ Performance management information i.e. job performance, attendance record, etc. 

ꞏ Whether or not the former employee is eligible for re-hire 

5.  Information not provided by the GRCA to prospective employers of former GRCA 
employees includes: 

ꞏ Conjecture, assumption, speculation, opinions, or any other disclosures that could be 
construed as subjective in nature and/or are unsupported by signed documentation. 

ꞏ Any information that is not related to the employment of the former employee (e.g. lifestyle, 
personal problems, race, gender, etc.) 

ꞏ Any information not requested by the organization seeking the reference in question. 

6.  The GRCA reserves the right to provide the requested reference and employee information 
either in writing or over the telephone. All prospective employers seeking the reference will be 
asked to acknowledge the confidentiality of the information requested. 

7.  The GRCA discourages employees from providing personal references, on behalf of the 
GRCA, for individuals who are currently or who have been employed by the GRCA. 

NOTE: Requests for references for current or former volunteers, high school co-op students and 
participants in the naturalist-in-training program may be handled by a non-supervisory regular full-time 
employee upon receiving consent in writing by signing the Reference Check Release Form – Other 
and with approval from the Supervisor or Manager, as applicable. Alternatively, a reference letter may 
be prepared by a non-supervisory regular full-time employee and approved in advance by the 
Supervisor or Manager, asif applicable. All documentation related to reference checks must be 
forwarded to Human Resources. 

45 UNIFORMS, CLOTHING AND SAFETY EQUIPMENT 
5.1 Uniforms 

Uniforms and clothing are issued to GRCA staff primarily for enforcement, safety, and public 
identification. It is therefore imperative that uniforms be worn in their entirety while working, so that a 
professional appearance is maintained at all times while carrying out the duties of their position. 

Each Supervisor who has staff members required to wear uniforms, or other issued clothing will be 
responsible to ensure that Employees follow the requirements for proper, complete, and consistent 
wearing of said uniforms or clothing. 

When required by virtue of their position and as approved by the Employee’s DirectorManager and 
Manager of Human Resources, clothing will be issued to Employees for work. A list specifying 
approved uniform entitlement will be maintained by Human Resources and the items will be funded 
by the Uniform account. Any issuance of items above what is approved or for positions not included in 
the listing will be approved at the discretion of the Employee’s DirectorManager and Manager of 
Human Resources. 

4.15.2 Wearing of Uniform Clothing 

Each Employee is responsible for keeping all GRCA uniforms and clothing issued in good repair and 
clean condition at the Employee’s own expense. 

61



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 27 of 72 

All staff issued uniform and work clothing must wear it at all times during work hours unless approval 
to deviate from this policy is obtained from his or her Supervisor. 

P.O.A. Officers and other staff as designated will receive replacement of issued clothing as required to 
maintain one complete duty uniform. 

Upon leaving the service of the GRCA, all GRCA insignias from issued clothing must be removed 
and returned to the GRCA. POA badges must be returned to the Supervisor when the employee is 
no longer working in a POA role. 

All clothing issued to Seasonal and Part-time staff is the property of the GRCA and shall be returned 
in a clean condition upon leaving the service of the GRCA. 

Uniform clothing must not be worn in combination with non-uniform clothing at any time without 
approval of Manager/Director. No insignias shall be worn on any non-uniform clothing. No uniform 
clothing shall be worn without insignia. 

Uniforms are a key element in the way GRCA employees see each other and the way others see 
GRCA employees. Standards are important to present an overall impression of professionalism. 
Uniformed employees, when dressed in their uniforms, whether on duty or off dutyduty, are subject 
to public scrutiny. Grand River Conservation Authority branded clothing should not be worn in places 
that would not represent the positive image of Grand River Conservation Authoritythe GRCA. Some 
examples of activities where uniform clothing shall not be worn include, but are not limited to, the 
following: 

 Do not participate in personal labour action activities;

 Do not participate in personal political activities;

 Do not engage in selling or soliciting activities of a personal nature;

 Do not engage in any other action or behaviour which society would deem inappropriate for a 
uniformed employee;

 Do not wear uniforms/clothing outside of work;

 If at work and attending to a personal errand the uniform must be covered up (ie personal shirt 
or jacket over the corporate shirt);

 Do not wear GRCA uniforms in personal online profile pictures or posts or other social media. 
Exercise good judgement while working, and do not knowingly pose for social media posts or 
pictures that are not required for work purposes;

 Do not use uniform clothing items for casual wear;

 Do not alter the original look of the uniform (work or dress) in any way; 

GRCA insignias shall be worn on uniform or work clothing only as follows:

Shoulder patches shall be centered on the shoulder one-quarter inch (“ ¼”) below the shoulder seam 
or embroidered on the front left chest of jackets, shirts, coveralls, etc.. Uniforms for staff without POA 
designation will have GRCA logo crests on the shoulders until such designation changes. 

 Cap badges shall be centered on the front of the cap.

 Security identification on uniforms shall be as directed by the Private Security and Investigative 

62



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 28 of 72 

Services Act, 2005 and Regulations.  The term “SECURITY”, in upper case letters not less 
than 1.5 centimetres high and in a contrasting colour must be (a) permanently affixed to the 
chest of the outermost piece of the uniform; and (b) affixed between two and three centimetres 
below the GRCA logo crest.

4.25.3 Boot Allowance 

5.3.1 Regular Full Time Employees: 

The Employer will contribute up to three hundred dollars ($300) over two (2) calendar years on receipt 
of a proper invoice towards the cost of CSA-approved safety boots for all Regular Full-time Employees 
whenever deemed necessary or required by law with written approval of the applicable 
DirectorManager and Human Resources. Effective January 1, 2024, the boot allowance amount will 
be up to three hundred and fifty dollars ($350).  For staff employed in the arboricultural operations 
group who are required to wear specialized forestry safety boots, the Employer will contribute up to 
five ($500) per employee towards the cost of Employer-approved safety boots with a receipt, over two 
(2) calendar years, or less as required, with approval from the Supervisor and Human Resources. 

4.2.15.3.2 Seasonal Employees: 

The Employer will contribute up to one hundred and fifty dollars ($150), once the Employee has 
attained seniority (988 hours), not more than once (one thousand and forty (1,040) hours), and not 
more than once each one thousand and forty (1040) regular hours worked, on receipt of a proper 
invoice towards pairs of CSA-approved safety boots for seasonal Employees whenever deemed 
necessary or required by law with written approval of the applicable DirectorManager and Human 
Resources.  This boot allowance will increase to up to two hundred dollars ($200) effective January 1, 
2024. 

4.2.25.3.3 Temporary Full-Time Employees: 

The Employer will contribute up to one hundred and fifty dollars ($150.00), where the term of 
employment is equal to or greater than six (6) months in length, towards the cost of CSA-approved 
safety boots for Temporary Full-Time Employees whenever deemed necessary or required by law with 
written approval of the applicable DirectorManager and Human Resources. The one hundred and fifty 
dollars ($150) will be payable after the Employee has worked six (6) months, and not more than once 
during the term of the temporary contract with a receipt that is dated within the term of the 
employment. 

4.35.4 Safety Equipment 

GRCA will provide safety equipment such as hard hats, work gloves, puncture proof gloves, dog 
deterrent options, soft body armour, Satellite GPS devices, safety goggles, safety glasses, coveralls, 
rain wear (high visibility), waders, and first aid supplies whenever deemed necessary or required by 
law. 

Employees who are required to wear prescription safety glasses on a regular basis are eligible to 
receive up to a maximum of two hundred ($200) dollars every two (2) years towards the purchase of a 
pair of prescription safety eye glasses in accordance with GRCA conditions and as authorized in 
advance, by the Employee’s Manager. An original receipt from an optometrist must be provided and 
attached to the Prescription Safety Glasses Claim Form and submitted to Human Resources. 

Prescription safety glasses must meet the following conditions: 

 Lens material must be Duralite (polycarbonate) or Plastolite (CR39) material only – no glass 
lenses are permitted at a work site. 

63



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 29 of 72 

 If ultraviolet protection is required, Plastolite material requires UV400 dye. It may also be 
coated for scratch resistance. Duralite material does not require either. 

 All safety glasses must be equipped with permanent CSA-approved side shields. 

 All safety glass frames must be CSA-approved. 

5.6 USE OF EMPLOYEE-OWNED VEHICLES 

Whenever possible, GRCA owned or leased vehicles shall be used to transport Employees and goods 
of the GRCA. 

Employee ownedEmployee-owned vehicles may be used during emergencies or for occasional 
non-recurring travel, with the approval of the immediate Supervisor. 

The approval may be given to an Employee for continuous use of his/her vehicle while carrying out 
any business of the GRCA of a like nature. 

The GRCA assumes no financial responsibility for employee-owned vehicles other than paying the 
kilometric rate when used for approved work purposes. Those driving a personal vehicle on GRCA 
business cannot make claims to the GRCA or their GRCA’s insurer for damages as a result of a 
collision, traffic or parking violations, or unlawful conduct. 

Notwithstanding the above, the prior authorization by the immediate Supervisor is necessary under the 
following conditions: 

 If the round tripround-trip distance exceeds four hundred (400) kilometers; 

  

 If the Employee has been assigned a GRCA owned or leased vehicle for his/her use; or 

 If the Employee is taking, as a passenger, another Employee who has been assigned a GRCA 
owned or leased vehicle;. 

In each case, the distance shall be computed and reimbursed in accordance with Human Resources 
Policy No.23. 

Employees using personal vehicles for GRCA business shall have a valid driver’s license, provide 
required proof of Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance to the Accounting Department 
Employees claiming mileage reimbursement for business use of a personal vehicle will certify by 
signing the Travel & Expense Claim form that they have a valid driver's license and automobile 
insurance policy covering Public Liability and Property Damage with a liability limit of at least 
$2,000,000. and will abide with policies as set out in the Health and Safety Manual relating to use of 
Employeeto Employee- owned vehicles. 

6.7 USE OF GRCA-OWNED OR LEASED EQUIPMENT 
7.1.7.1 Vehicles and Equipment 

Employees in the service of the GRCA whose duty requires them to drive or have charge of a GRCA 
vehicle to use, or to have charge of GRCA equipment: 

 Shall not permit unauthorized persons to operate vehicles or equipment. 

 Must comply with rules relating to GRCA vehicles and equipment as outlined in the GRCA 

64



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 30 of 72 

Health and Safety Manual. 

 Will be responsible for the payment of all and any fines imposed for traffic, parking, or 
other violations. 

 May be assessed the cost of repairs if a result of improper maintenance, operation, and care 
of vehicle and equipment in their charge. 

Only active Employees of the GRCA are authorized to drive or be passengers in GRCA vehicles. All 
drivers must have the proper license specified for the class of vehicle. All drivers of GRCA 
equipment and licensed vehicle drivers must have a G or G2 licence.  In the case of students and 
others to whom the new graduated licensing system in the province of Ontario applies, drivers must 
hold a G2 license. The GRCA reserves the right to request Drivers Abstracts from time to time, for 
Employees who drive GRCA owned vehicles. 

The GRCA owned equipment shall not be available for use beyond GRCA approved projects, 
except as outlined in Human Resources Policy 7.2 when a vehicle is assigned to an employee. 

Employees requiring a Motor Pool GRCA owned vehicle overnight must get prior approval from their 
Manager or Director. 

No Employee shall install any extra equipment in, or disfigure a vehicle in the Employee’s charge. 

4.47.2 GRCA Vehicles Assigned to Employees 

GRCA vehicles will be assigned to Employees on the basis ofbased on economic benefit to the 
GRCA and not as part of the Employee’s compensation. Any GRCA vehicles not conforming to this 
policy will be reassigned to motor pool. 

All GRCA vehicles owned, rented, or leased and assigned to an Employee will be the 
direct responsibility of the Employee. 

For rented or leased vehicles, all drivers must comply with the terms of the rent/lease agreement in all 
respects. 

GRCA owned service vehicles which are assigned to Employees, are not to be driven for personal 
use, except between the Employee’s residence and place of work (work place). Since this is personal 
use, it is not to be included in paid work hours. 

Time spent travelling between an employee’s residence and to a place other than the employee’s 
normal workplace (work site or point of call) for performing work for the GRCAa is not to be included 
in paid work hours, unless the employee is called out after hours. 

The mileage associated with driving the GRCA vehicle between the Employee’s residence and place 
of work (personal use) is a taxable benefit and is reported on T4 forms. However, time spent travelling 
between an employee’s residence and the worksite (point of call) is not considered personal mileage 
and is therefore not required to be reported.  A log book must be kept to record daily personal 
mileage and a form summarizing monthly personal mileage must be submitted to Payroll. The 
employee(s) assigned a GRCA owned service vehicle is responsible to support claims for business 
travel versus personal travel as reported to Revenue Canada on the T4 slip. Any tax assessment 
liability would be the responsibility of the employee. 

Vehicles assigned to a Conservation Area will not be used as a personal vehicle except where the 

65



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 31 of 72 

employee obtains permission from the immediate Supervisor to take the vehicle home; for 
exampleexample, while serving as a Duty Officer. In instances where this occurs, personal use 
mileage must be recorded and reported to Payroll in the same manner as outlined above. 

58 MOVEABLE ASSETS POLICY 
5.18.1 Policy 

Movable assets shall be managed in an efficient, effective, and economic manner ensuring that 
proper control and security measures are in place to safeguard the GRCA’s assets. 

5.28.2 Purpose 

To outline acquisition, tracking, reporting, controls, and security, required for moveable assets. 

5.38.3 Definitions 

Moveable assets are defined as tangible moveable property owned by the GRCA that are either in 
use or being held for later use, trade-in or disposal. Moveable assets include tools and maintenance 
equipment, communications equipment, computer equipment, concession and recreation equipment, 
furniture and office equipment, lab and scientific equipment, motor pool vehicles and equipment. 

Consumables are other moveable GRCA property or materials, not defined as moveable assets above 
such as materials, sanitation supplies and office supplies. 

5.48.4 Guiding Principle 

The amount of management effort put into safeguarding items should be directly related to the risk of 
loss and value of those assets. 

5.58.5 Mandatory Requirements 

(A) Acquisition 

 

All moveable assets must be acquired in accordance with the GRCA Human Resources Policy No. 
10 – Staff Purchasing Policy and Guidelines. 

Moveable assets shall be identified at the time of purchase. The purchase order or supplier invoice 
should be flagged as including a moveable asset(s) so that proper set up in the moveable asset 
database will be initiated. 

Managers should advise the Manager of Corporate Services if there are assets on loan or inherited 
that should be added to the moveable asset database. 

(B) Moveable Assets Tracking 

 

All moveable assets above the minimum values will be tagged with a unique GRCA number and 
assigned to a category as outlined in Appendix A and entered into the moveable assets database. 
Motor pool items are assigned unique M numbers. The Accounting department oversees the 
distribution of GRCA tags. 

Local operating units may establish a lower minimum for tracking purposes if considered necessary. 

The minimum details recorded in the moveable asset database shall include: 

66



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 32 of 72 

 GRCA Tag # 

 item name 

 serial # 

 location of asset 

 date of purchase 

 supplier 

 $ value 

The functions of ordering, receiving, and record keeping must be kept separate as practicable. 

(C) Custody 

 

Generally, assets are not to be utilized for personal use. Exceptions may be made where there is no 
additional cost associated with an asset that is assigned to an individual, such as a computer, a cell 
phone, or other personal device. Any personal use of an asset requires prior authorization from the 
manager of the department responsible for custody of the assets. 

Moveable assets will be assigned to specific locations within the GRCA and individual Employees at 
those locations will be responsible for the care and control of those assets. 

GRCA assets must not be assigned to non-GRCA staff unless authorized by the Manager of 
Corporate Services in writing. 

The database will track all transfers of assets between locations or assignments to individual 
Employees and the Accounting department should be notified. 

Security measures must be in place to ensure the safekeeping of assets. 

(D) Disposal 

 

Methods of disposal include: public sale (auction or other), transfer of ownership, scrap sales, and 
discarding of assets. 

Accounting must be notified of all disposals. In cases of theft, loss, or destruction an “Incident Report” 
must be completedcompleted, and the database updated accordingly. 

(E) Inventories 

 

At least once every three years staff will be requested to confirm the moveable assets assigned to 
them with the exception ofexcept for motor pool which has alternate controls and tracking in 
place. 

Annually, a sampling of moveable assets will be subject to a physical inventory count by the 
Accounting department. The accounting staff person carrying out the physical count will not be the 
Employee assigned custody of the asset. 

All moveable assets assigned to an Employee must be accounted for and returned to the GRCA upon 

67



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 33 of 72 

the departure of the Employee. 

Annually, a report shall be provided to the Manager of Corporate Services detailing additions and 
disposals by category/sub-category. 

An explanation must be provided for any variance of five percent (5%) or greater in the value of the 
closing inventory of each category due to stolen inventory and lost inventory which has been written 
off. The Manager of Corporate Services will discuss appropriate remedial action with the manager(s) 
of the program area(s) impacted. 

(F) Responsibilities 

 

The Accounting Department is responsible for administering this policy and associated procedures as 
well as for the monitoring and oversight of assets. 

Accounting is responsible for maintaining the Moveable Assets Database. The Motor Pool database is 
dynamically populated by the moveable asset database and monitored by the Fleet Coordinator. The 
IS&T department maintains a separate database (spreadsheet) for IS&T equipment and reports 
additions/transfers/disposals on a monthly basismonthly to the accounting department and these two 
databases are reconciled annually. 

The immediate supervisor is responsible for ensuring that staff receives appropriate direction for 
safeguarding assets in their staff’s possession. 

The Manager of Corporate Services or designate: 

  Shall establish procedures as necessary to ensure adequate controls are in place to 
ensure the safeguarding of the assets. 

 Shall approve the removal of movable assets from the database, upon disposition. 

 Shall provide a complete listing of moveable assets to the Secretary TreasurerSecretary-
Treasurer/Deputy CAO annually. 

(G) Controls 

 

Controls to ensure the safeguarding of moveable assets include: 

 Maintaining the moveable asset databases 

 Assigning staff responsibility for safeguarding assets 

 Carrying out periodic inventory counts 

 Reviewing annual changes in moveable assets dollar amounts to identify trends and take 
remedial action where appropriate 

 Segregation of duties between ordering, authorizing, and tracking where practicable. 

5.68.6 Equipment Categories 

APPENDIX A 

LIST OF EQUIPMENT CATEGORIES 

CATEGORY MINIMUM VALUE INVENTORIES 

68



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 34 of 72 

1 Furniture, Furnishings & Office Equipment Over $300 Under 
$300Over $300 

Under $300 

Yes 

Local Discretion 

2 Motor Pool All Yes 

3 Computer and Communications Equipment All Yes 

4 Lab and Scientific Equipment Over $300 Under 
$300Over $300 

Under $300 

Yes 

Local Discretion 

5 Tools and Maintenance Equipment Over $300 

Under $300 

Yes 

Local Discretion 

6 Concession and Recreation Equipment Over $300 Under 
$300Over $300 

Under $300 

Yes 

Local Discretion 

69 PETTY CASH 
A) Funds from petty cash will be used for the following purposes: 

 For purchases less than two hundred dollars ($200) as per Human Resources Policy No. 10. 

 For making change when accepting payment of accounts receivable or rent from lessees of the 
GRCA. 

 For advances not exceeding two hundred ($200) dollars for anticipated GRCA expenses (lunch 
meetings, etc.). The Employee must sign a form acknowledging the advance and agree to 
repay it with cash or a paid invoice within twenty-four (24) hours. When repaid, the form will be 
surrendered to the Employee. 

(B) No advances shall be made to any Employee for personal purposes. 

Any variance from this Regulation must be approved by an Authorized Buyer as defined in Human 
Resources Policy No. 10. 

9.10 PURCHASING POLICY AND GUIDELINES 
1.1. General Policies 

Authorized Buyers shall procure the required quality and quantity of goods and services in a fair, 
transparent and timely manner at the best value to the GRCA, over the life of the product or service. 
This best value to the GRCA will be estimated by considering all factors including, but not limited to 
price, quality, service, terms, and warranties, within the financial controls outlined in this regulation. 
GRCA reserves the right to refuse to enter into any purchase contracts with vendors that have 
commenced litigation or other actions against the GRCA. 

Authorized Buyers shall mean the Chief Administrative Officer or Secretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO, 
and their designates as described in this Policy. 

Authorized Signing Officers shall mean those persons designated to have signing approval under the 
by-laws approved by the General Membership of the GRCA. 

Authorized Buyers not adhering to the purchasing regulations as written shall be subject to penalties 

69



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 35 of 72 

specified by the Chief Administrative Officer or Secretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO, including loss of 
purchasing privileges and possible dismissal. 

6.110.1 Purchasing Limits and Authorization 

Authorized Buyers and their designates shall adhere to the following purchasing limits and procedural 
requirements: 

 Dollar amounts are excluding sales taxes and before any discounts or rebates 

 For purchases of goods and services where delivery is expected over a long period of time, or 
at irregular intervals (under contract, blanket or open orders), the purchase amount is deemed 
to be the total estimated cost for the contract period 

 All Purchase Orders in support of projects are subject to section HR Policy 10 and 11 

 Purchase Orders and/or vendor Invoices will be approved in accordance with section HR Policy 
110.6 

 Any changes must be supported by change order requests in accordance with section HR 
Policy 11.5 

i) Purchases less than two hundred dollars ($200) 

 Purchase orders not required 

 May be paid by the employee and refunded by GRCA via an expense claim or from petty 
cash. The original sales invoice must be attached to the travel expense claim form or 
submitted to the designated petty cash custodian for reimbursement (reference section 
HR Policy 9 – Petty Cash) 

ii) Purchases between two hundred dollars ($200) and less than one thousand ($1,000) 

 Purchase orders are optional (based on Manager preference) 

 Vendors should quote the PO number or the GRCA staff contact who initiated 
the purchase (in absence of a PO) on the invoice 

iii) Purchases between one thousand dollars ($1000) and less than twenty fivetwenty-
five thousand ($25,000) dollars 

 Purchase Orders will be utilized in accordance with section HR Policy 11 

 Quotes and/or bid request process should be considered 

 Vendors should quote the PO number on the invoice. 

iv) Purchases between twenty five thousand dollars ($25,000) and less than one hundred 
thousand dollars ($100,000) 

 Purchase Orders will be utilized in accordance with section HR Policy 11 

 A minimum of three (3) written quotations or bid requests (reference sectionsee HR Policy 
10.8) must be obtained from suppliers 

 If three (3) written quotations or bids cannot be obtained, the reasons must be documented 
and noted on the Purchase Order 

 Reasons for accepting other than the lowest quotation must be documented and retained 

70



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 36 of 72 

on file for post-audit purposes 

v) Purchases greater than one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) before sales taxes must be 
obtained by one of the following open public processes in accordance with section HR Policy 
10.8 – Bid Request Formats and requires Board approval: 

 Public Tender 

 Invitation to Tender 

o Use of a prequalification process is required 

 Request for Proposals (RFP) 

 Request for Quotation (RFQ) 

vi) Special Procedure for Purchases from Nurseries for Tree Planting Programs 

Due to the relatively small number of tree nurseries with sufficient capacity to service GRCA’s 
needs, and the need to grow nursery stock in advance of the tree-planting season, the 
purchasing procedure for the procurement of trees required for tree planting programs will be 
as follows: 

 Staff will invite appropriate pre-qualified nurseries to participate in this program based on a 
five-year rolling forecast of the GRCA’s requirements; 

 Purchase Orders will be placed each year for the year’s planting requirements, subject to 
minor adjustments each year; 

 Trees will be priced at market value, based on published prices from other nurseries; 

 The market price analysis will be retained with the Purchase Order for backup. 

6.210.2 Purchases from Employees 

For purposes of this policy, Employees shall include: 

 GRCA staff members, their immediate family and any relative, whether by blood or marriage; 

 Any business, incorporated or not, within which any of the above hold either alone or 
collectively more than ten percent (10%) interest. 

Purchases from Employees may be allowed, if approved by the Chief Administrative Officer or 
Secretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO who will ensure that all other purchasing policies and procedures 
have been adhered to. 

The Chief Administrative Officer or Secretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO shall not approve a purchase 
from an Employee if in his/her discretion: 

 It can be reasonably assumed the completing of a purchase contract would detract from a staff 
member’s ability to carry out his/her normal duties under the contract of employment 

 The contract is similar in nature to responsibilities and duties contained in the staff member’s 
employment contract 

 It can reasonably be assumed an Employee had particular knowledge that would allow the 
competitive process to be undermined 

6.310.3 Purchases by Employees 

No private use of GRCA-owned supplies or vendor accounts is permitted and items for personal use 

71



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 37 of 72 

cannot be purchased through the GRCA unless specific authorization is obtained from the Chief 
Administrative Officer or Deputy CAO/Secretary TreasurerSecretary-Treasurer. 

6.410.4 Procurement of Consulting Services 

Consulting Services include professional and technical services. Legal services do not apply to this 
section 10.5. 

GRCA procedures for consultant selection are summarized in table 10.1. 

 

Approval of the Secretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO must be obtained whenever the estimated 
consulting fees are between twenty thousand dollars ($25,000) and less than fifty thousand dollars 
($50,000) or the Chief Administrative Officer when fees are between fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) 
and one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000). 

General Membership approval of consultants must be obtained whenever the estimated fees are likely 
to be greater than one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000).HR Policy 10.2 Purchasing Limits and 
Authorization apply in addition to the following consultant selection procedures summarized in Table 
10.1: 

 

Table 10.1 SUMMARY OF CONSULTANT SELECTION PROCEDURES 

Small Regular Assignments 
Between $25,000 

And less than $50,000 
(within approved Budget) 

Large Regular Assignments 
Between $50,000 

And less than $100,000 
(within approved Budget) 

Complex Assignments 

$100,000 and over 
(within approved Budget) 

- Approval of Terms of 
Reference by Secretary 
TreasurerSecretary-
Treasurer/Deputy CAO 
or Chief Administrative 
Officer 

- Identify qualified 
consultants 

- Select consultant 

- Request proposal 

- Negotiate fee and scope of 
work 

- Approval of Consultant by 
Secretary 
TreasurerSecretary-
Treasurer/Deputy CAO 

- Execute Agreement 

- Approval of Terms of 
Reference by 
Secretary-
Treasurer/Deputy 
CAO or Chief 
Administrative Officer 

- Identify qualified consultants 

- Invite proposals 

- Evaluate proposals 

- Negotiate fee and scope of 
work 

- Approval of Consultant by 
Secretary-
Treasurer/Deputy CAO or 
Chief Administrative Officer 

- Execute Agreement 

- Approval of Terms of 
Reference by Chief 
Administrative Officer 

- Identify qualified consultants 

- Invite proposals 

- Evaluate proposals (may 
interview consultants) 

- Negotiate fee and scope of 
work 

- Approval of Consultant by 
General Membership 

- Execute Agreement 

For small assignments costing less than $25,000, sectionHR Policy 10.2 (iii) will apply. Applicable 
agreements must be attached to the purchase requisition. 

6.510.5 Purchasing Limits/Authorized Buyers 

All purchases will be approved by an Authorized Buyer. Limits for purchase approvals are as follows: 

72



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 38 of 72 

 

 

Staff 

Approval Limit 

(aggregate value of purchase before sales 
tax) 

Chief Administrative Officer 
Secretary TreasurerSecretary-
Treasurer/Deputy CAO 

$25,000 and greater 

Directors and Managers (and others as approved 
by the Chief Administrative Officer) 

Under $25,000 

All Other Authorized Buyers* Under $35,000 

*Other Authorized Buyers Include: 
Area Superintendents 
Property Lands Analyst 

Property Superintendent 
Supervisor of Resource Planning 

Supervisor of Conservation Outreach 
Supervisor of Natural Heritage 
Supervisor of Forestry Operations 
Superintendent of Arboriculture 

Supervisor of Maintenance and Operations 
Project Supervisor 

Architect/Supervisor of Information Technology Operations 
Executive Director (Foundation) 

Senior Engineer(s) 

Water Quality Engineer 

Water Control Structures Maintenance Supervisor 
Executive AssistantSupervisor of Administrative Services 

The above positions constitute the list of Authorized Buyers who can approve purchase requisitions, 
generate purchase orders, or approve invoices within their authorization limit and in accordance with 
section HR Policy 10.2. 

Purchasing authority for items included in the annual approved budget shall relate only to the program 
under which the Authorized Buyer is employed, unless Management approves a designated buyer for 
centralized purchasing of designated supplies, equipment, and services on behalf of the GRCA. 

6.610.6 Preliminary Efforts 

The following procedures can be utilized as considered appropriate, prior to conducting bid request 
efforts: 

 Request for Information (RFI) 

A RFI is used to determine the interest of the marketplace to provide goods or services which 
the GRCA is contemplating purchasing. An RFI can also be used to canvass the marketplace 
for insights into a specific need. Presumably, results would lead to a subsequent bid request 
document that incorporates the information acquired. 

 

73



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 39 of 72 

 Request for Expression of Interest (RFEI) 

A RFEI can be used to develop a list of potential vendors for a specific project, often for 
procurement of a good or service. This in turn will be used if a formal bid process is embarked 
upon. The RFEI is not a bid opportunity document. 

 Request for Pre-Qualification (RFPQ) 

A RFPQ can be used to screen vendors or contractors for a project. Respondents are 
evaluated in order toto develop a short list of the most qualified vendors or contractors. 
Weighted evaluation criteria must be used. The RFPQ leads to a subsequent bid request 
process. 

6.710.7 Bid Request Formats 

i) Public Tender 

A Public Tender can be used for purchases greater than one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) 
before sales taxes to obtain the best price when the specifications of the required goods or 
services are clearly defined. 

The Tender Opening Committee shall be comprised of: 

 Either the Chief Administrative Officer, Secretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO, Manager of 
Corporate Services, or Financial Controller 

  

 The applicable Manager or division Director 

 The Project Manager 

In the event of a break in board meetings beyond one month, tenders that fall within the approved 
budget/forecast may be approved by a committee comprised of: 

o The Chief Administrative Officer 

o Secretary TreasurerSecretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO 

o Chair 

o Vice-Chair 

ii) Invitation to Tender 

An Invitation to Tender can be used as a competitive tendering process where qualified suppliers 
or contractors are invited to submit sealed bids for construction or for supply of specific and clearly 
defined goods or services during a specified timeframe. Use of a prequalification process is 
required. 

iii) Request for Proposal 

A Request for Proposals (RFP) will be used for purchases greater than one hundred thousand 
dollars ($100,000) before sales taxes to obtain best value solution to resolve a problem or to 
obtain a good or service when the exact specifications of the solution are not known. Weighted 
evaluation criteria must be used. 

The Evaluation Committee shall be comprised of a minimum of: 

o The Secretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO or Director 

74



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 40 of 72 

o The appropriate Manager 

o The Project Manager. 

o If a consultant has been retained to assist with the RFP, the consultant may be invited to act 
as a resource to the Evaluation Committee, as required 

iv) Request for Quotation 

A Request for Quotation (RFQ) can be used for purchases greater than one hundred thousand 
dollars ($100,000) before sales taxes to obtain the best value when the specifications of the 
required goods or services are clearly defined. A minimum of three quotations are requested, and 
copies are kept on file for audit or reference purposes. Weighted evaluation criteria must be used. 

 

Table 10.2 SUMMARY OF BID REQUEST PROCEDURES 

PUBLIC TENDER & 
INVITATION TO TENDER 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 
(RFP) 

REQUEST FOR QUOTATION 
(RFQ) 

1. A Project Manager will be appointed by the Chief Administrative Officer, or the Secretary- 

Treasurer/Deputy CAO, or Director and the Project Manager will prepare the bid document 
(i.e. Tender, Invitation to Tender, RFP, or RFQ) 

2. Approval of Terms of Reference by Secretary TreasurerSecretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO or 
CAO 

3. Log and safeguard all bid documents received 

4. Bid Documents will be reviewed in the presence of the defined opening committee 
(committee composition based on bid request format –Section HR Policy 10.8 i. to iv.) 

 The Evaluation Committee (RFP) or Project Manager (RFQ) may conduct interviews 
and/or request additional information or 

clarification. 

Table 10.2 SUMMARY OF BID REQUEST PROCEDURES 

5. If purchases are greater than $100,000 before HST, Approval of General Membership is 

required for the awarding of the successful bid 

6. GRCA Signing Officers shall sign the appropriate documents as required 

Bid requests are mandatory for purchases greater than one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) 
before sales tax and are optional for purchases less than one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) 

before sales tax. 

The Project Manager will: 

 Set a budget for the project 

 Advise the Financial Controller or designate when the project starts (open project) 

 Initiate all Purchase Orders, and track all Purchase Orders compared to budget 

Advise the Manager of Corporate Services or designate when the project has been completed 
(close the project) 

6.810.8 Emergency Purchases 

75



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 41 of 72 

Emergency situations may arise where the normal requirements of the Purchasing Policy would put 
the health or safety of people at risk, orrisk or cause a risk of significant property damage. 
Emergencies include, without limitation: 

 an imminent or actual danger to the life, health or safety of an official or an employee while 
acting on the GRCA’s behalf 

 an imminent or actual danger to the life, health, or safety of the public due to a flood, a spill, 
a pollutant, a fire, extreme weather or other occurrence 

 an unexpected and serious failure of a flood or erosion control structure owned or operated by 
the GRCA 

 an unexpected interruption of an essential public service that poses a serious risk to the public 
(e.g. flood forecasting and warning system) 

 an imminent or actual danger of destruction of real property belonging to the GRCA or others. 

 

In an emergency, the following shall apply: 

 

 Emergency Purchases underp to $25,000 

In certain emergency circumstances, work or purchases may be authorized by the Authorized 
Buyer that exceeds their approved purchasing limit to a maximum of $25,000. As soon as 
possible after the work or purchase has been authorized, the appropriate authorized buyer must 
be notified and the Purchase Order must be approved in accordance with section HR Policy 10.6. 

 Emergency Purchases over $25,000 

Any Director or Manager shall be authorized to make emergency purchases in excess of $25,000. 
As soon as possible after the work or purchase has been authorized, the CAO, Secretary- 
Treasurer/Deputy CAO or “acting” designate must be notified and the Purchase Order must be 
approved in accordance with section HR Policy 10.6. A report may be presented to the General 
Membership where the expenditure exceeded one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) at the next 
scheduled meeting, outlining the nature of the emergency and the goods and services purchased 
under this exception. 

711 PURCHASE ORDERS 
7.111.1 Use of Purchase Orders 

Consistent use shall be made of electronic purchase requisitions according to the conditions outlined 
in section HR Policy 10.2 and in accordance with exceptions indicated in section HR Policy 11.4 

Electronic Purchase Requisitions 

• Any staff person can initiate an electronic purchase requisition, which must then be 
delegated to the authorized buyer(s) for approval in a hierarchal manner in accordance 
with section HR Policy 10.6. Contracts, quotations and/or supporting documentation 
should be attached to the requisition. 

•  Once the purchase requisition is approved, Accounting will generate the Purchase Order 
(PO) and forward a copy via e-mail to the staff person who initiated the purchase 

76



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 42 of 72 

requisition. Suppliers may be forwarded a PDF of the PO. Suppliers must quote the PO 
number on their invoice and will be asked to submit invoices electronically to 
accountspayable@grandriver.ca. 

• Invoices received against an approved PO may be authorized for payment by the 
requester if the item/service has been received in good order and the invoice amount does 
not exceed the remaining PO amount. 

• Once the PO has been completely fulfilled, the staff person who initiated the requisition 
will advise Accounts Payable of PO completion either by email or when submitting the 
final supplier invoice to Accounting. 

Purchase Orders for Commodities 

Due to changes in economic conditions, contractspurchases related to commodities may have 
significant pricing fluctuations over the contract term. HR Policy 10.2 must applybe followed upon 
contract establishmentat the time of initial purchase, and HR Policy 11.5 applies for any applicable 
increase requests. 

Purchase Orders for Multi-year contracts 

The purchase order must reflect the total value of the contractpurchase in accordance with HR Policy 
10.2, and should outline the annual contractual amounts on separate line items on the PO. If an 
increase request is required, then HR Policy 11.5 would apply per fiscal year(s). Invoices can only be 
applied to the line item related to the year in which the goods/service is received. 

7.211.2 Use of Purchase Cards 

Purchase cards may be issued to Superintendents, the Secretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO, and others 
as authorized by the Chief Administrative Officer. 

The following limitations on the use of Purchase Cards apply: 

• Five thousand dollars ($5,000) per transaction 

• Up to Ttwenty thousand dollars ($20,000) per month 

The cardholder matches all original vouchers to the monthly statement, indicates the appropriate 
general ledger accounts to allocate expenses to, obtains approval from the appropriate Manager or 
Director who approves the statement and forwards the package to Accounting for processing. 

7.311.3 Use of Blanket Purchase Orders: 

Blanket Purchase Orders should be used when the total dollar value that will be expended is known or 
can be reasonably estimated for the duration of the fiscal year, and where the purchase relates to 
regularly stocked items or recurring similar services (i.e. budgeted expenditure). 

7.411.4 Conditions Where Purchase Orders Are Not Required 

It would not normally be considered necessary to issue Purchase Orders for the following 
expenditures: 

• Purchases of less than one thousand dollars ($1000) in accordance with section HR Policy 
10.2 ii) 

• Purchases of professional services including, insurance, audit, and legal where an 
alternative agreement exists (a signed contract/ agreement for a specific service, an 
engagement letter, etc.) 

77



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 43 of 72 

• Specific payments related to land purchases and easements, payroll and employee 
benefits, membership dues and subscriptions, travel expenses, postage, and other 
similar administrative expenditures 

•  

 Recurring purchases including utility, communications or tax charges where they are 
charged to pre-approved accounts 

•  

11.5 Approval Requirements for Expenditures Exceeding Original Purchase Order Limit  

9.2 Original Purchase Order under $100,000 (before HST) 

A change request will be completed via email or memo and sent for approval using the same 
hierarchal authorization levels as obtained for the initial purchase order. 

Original Purchase Order over $100,000 (before HST) 

Where any purchase of goods or services has been authorized under the staff purchasing policy and 
guidelinesThe following approval rules apply: 

(A), Tthe Chief Administrative Office or Deputy CAO/Secretary TreasurerSecretary-Treasurer may 
authorize disbursement of additional funds provided that the  at least one of the following criteria related 
to additional fundsthe increase request is met.  

Additional funds: 

(a) Do (ia) DoMust not exceed the greater of $100,000 or ten percent 10% of the original 
contract board approved project budget 

(b) (iib) Are available within the program budget or board approved forecast adjustment, or 
board approved project budget 

(c) (iiic) Are required to complete works that are necessary as part of the original contract 

 If all three conditions in 11.5 (a), (b), and (c) are not met, approval of the General 
Membership is required.Approval by the General Membership is required if all of the 
following criteria related to the increase request is met: 

Additional funds: 

 (i) exceed the greater of Must not exceed the greater of $100,000 or ten percent of the 
board approved project budget 

(b) (ii) Are not available within the program budget or board approved forecast adjustment 

(iiic) Are not required to complete works that are necessary as part of the original contract 

 

Where any purchase of goods or services has been previously authorized under this By-law, the Chief 
Administrative Officer or Secretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO may authorize disbursement of additional 
funds provided that the additional funds:      

(a) shall not exceed the greater of $100,000 (before HST) or ten percent (10%) of the original contract 
price;      

(b) are available within the program budget or forecast; and      

(c) are required to complete works that are necessary as part of the original contract.   

78



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 44 of 72 

10.12 STAFF ORGANIZATION 
7.512.1 General Responsibilities of Officers and Senior Staff 

(A) Chair/Vice-Chair(s) 

 

The Chair and Vice-Chair are elected annually by the General Membership and are officers of the 
GRCA charged with responsibilities set out in the By-laws of the GRCA 

(B) Chief Administrative Officer 

 

The Chief Administrative Officer is appointed by, and reports to the General Membership of the 
GRCA consistent with the By-laws of the GRCA. 

The Chief Administrative Officer has full charge and direction of all Employees of the GRCA, including 
the approval of position specifications and salary administration, and is responsible for directing and 
co- ordinating the implementation of programs, policies, and decisions which the GRCA approves or 
adopts. 

The Chief Administrative Officer provides information and liaison to Member Municipalities, 
Provincial/Federal bodies, and members of the public and client groups as requested by the GRCA 
and conducts the official correspondence of the GRCA. 

(C) Secretary-Treasurer 

 

The Secretary-Treasurer is appointed by the General Membership of the GRCA and fulfills the 
requirements of the Secretary-Treasurer as defined in the Conservation Authorities Act and the By- 
laws of the GRCA. The Secretary-Treasurer reports to the Chief Administrative Officer. 

7.612.2 Management Committee 

The Management Committee is composed of the Chief Administrative Officer, the Secretary- 
Treasurer, the Directors, Managers, and others named by the Chief Administrative Officer. 

The Management Committee meets at the call of the Chief Administrative Officer. The Chief 
Administrative Officer or his/her designate shall act as Chair. 

The function of this Committee in general terms shall be to discuss, co-ordinate, and recommend to 
the Chief Administrative Officer an appropriate course of action to be taken by the GRCA regarding 
matters which impact theon GRCA. All such matters must be within staff jurisdiction. 

Special functions of this Committee shall be: 

• To review the material being presented to the Committees of GRCA and to 
contribute recommendations to the Chief Administrative Officer that will reflect the 
best interests of the GRCA; 

• To review budget estimates; 

• To review the progress of various projects and programs of the GRCA; 

• To review new or revised policies and procedures. 

7.712.3 Acting Chief Administrative Officer 

79



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 45 of 72 

In the absence of the Chief Administrative Officer for any reason, the Secretary TreasurerSecretary-
Treasurer/Deputy CAO is “Acting” Chief Administrative Officer. If both the Chief Administrative Officer 
and Secretary TreasurerSecretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO are absent, they will appoint an alternate 
“Acting” Chief Administrative Officer. 

813 REGULAR SERVICE EMPLOYEE REQUIREMENTS 
8.113.1 General Requirements: 

Regular Employees shall mean all Salaried and Hourly-Rated Employees in Regular Service positions 
who have satisfactorily completed the required probationary period. 

Applicants hired for Regular Service shall: 

i. Serve a probationary period of six (6) months which may be extended for a 
further period in exceptional cases as authorized by the Chief Administrative 
Officer; 

ii. Be evaluated during the probationary period as to performance and ability; 

A probationary review shall be conducted with the Employee, upon notification and receipt of the 
Probationary Appraisal form from the Manager of Human Resources, by his/her Supervisor at least 
two (2) weeks prior to completion of the probationary period. A report of this interview (Probationary 
Review Report) must be filed by the appropriate Manager with the Manager of Human Resources, 
prior to the expiration of the probationary period outlining recommendations. 

All Regular Employees shall be entitled to annual vacations, sick leave, and statutory holidays with 
pay and to other Employee benefits in accordance with the Human Resources Policies of the GRCA. 

All Regular Employees shall participate in the GRCA’s Group Insurance Plan. The mandatory 
effective date for enrollment is six (6) months from the start date in a Regular, Full-time position, 
excepting those Employees who can claim exemption through their spouse, etc. 

For the purposes of employee benefits, the probationary period may be waived at the discretion of the 
Secretary TreasurerSecretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO for Regular Employees. Approval from the 
insurer is required. 

All Employees appointed to Regular Service must be enrolled in the Ontario Municipal Employees 
Retirement System (OMERS) pension fund on the date of appointment with no probationary waiting 
period. 

914 SEASONAL, TEMPORARY, PART-TIME, AND CASUAL EMPLOYEE and 
STUDENT REQUIREMENTS 

1.2. Seasonal Service 

i. Seasonal Employees, excluding summer students, shall mean all Employees 
hired by GRCA on a Seasonal basis. 

ii. Seasonal Employees shall: 

1. Receive remuneration only for the actual time worked; 

2. Receive vacation pay each pay period at the rates stipulated in the 
current Employment Standards Act and/or the Collective Agreement; 

3. Contribute to employment insurance in accordance with the current 

80



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 46 of 72 

Employment Insurance Act as required; 

4. Contribute to the Canada Pension Plan; 

5. Contribute to OMERS Pension Plan as applicable; 

6. Receive remuneration for Paid Holidays that fall within their working 
season in accordance with the Employment Standards Act and the 
Collective Agreement (where applicable); and 

7. Contribute to the Group Health and Dental Insurance Plan if applicable 

1.3. Temporary Service 

A temporary position typically relates to employment for a specific project for a defined period of time 
usually less than fifteen (15) months however, under certain circumstances, this term could be longer. 
In addition, a temporary Employee is defined as an Employee who fills in for a full time or seasonal 
Employee who is absent due to an approved leave of absence, illness, vacation, temporary transfer or 
accident. Jobs that become vacant while Employees are on layoff, may be filled by a temporary 
Employee. 

A Temporary Employee shall: 

iii. Receive remuneration only for the actual time worked; 

iv. Receive vacation pay each pay period at the rates stipulated in the current 
Employment Standards Act and/or the Collective Agreement; 

v. Contribute to employment insurance in accordance with the current Employment 
Insurance Act as required; 

vi. Contribute to the Canada Pension Plan; 

vii. Contribute to OMERS Pension Plan as applicable; 

viii. Receive remuneration for Paid Holidays in accordance with the Employment 
Standards Act and the Collective Agreement (where applicable); and 

ix. Contribute to the Group Health and Dental Insurance Plan if applicable 

1.4. Part-Time Hourly-Rated Service 

Part-Time Hourly-Rated Employees shall mean all Employees working regularly scheduled hours less 
than a normal work week as established by the immediate Supervisor. 

A Part-Time Hourly-Rated Employee shall: 

x. Receive remuneration only for the actual time worked; 

xi. Receive vacation pay each pay period at the rates stipulated in the current 
Employment Standards Act; 

xii. Contribute to employment insurance in accordance with the current Employment 
Insurance Act as required; 

xiii. Contribute to the Canada Pension Plan; 

xiv. Contribute to OMERS Pension Plan as applicable; and 

xv. Receive remuneration for Paid Holidays in accordance with the Employment 
Standards Act and the Collective Agreement (where applicable). 

1.5. Casual Part-Time Service 

81



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 47 of 72 

Casual Part-Time Employees shall mean all Employees who work on an intermittent basis where no 
minimum or regularly scheduled hours are established. 

A Casual Part-Time Employee shall: 

xvi. Receive remuneration only for the actual time worked; 

xvii. Receive vacation pay each pay period worked at the rates stipulated in 
the current Employment Standards Act; 

xviii. Contribute to employment insurance in accordance with the current Employment 
Insurance Act as required; 

xix. Contribute to the Canada Pension Plan; 

xx. Contribute to OMERS Pension Plan as applicable; and 

xxi. Receive remuneration for Paid Holidays in accordance with the Employment 
Standards Act and the Collective Agreement (where applicable). 

1.6. Students 

Students performing work of the bargaining unit (with the exception ofexcept for post-secondary co-
operative education students)employed  during the school vacation period only are Non-Union, and 
therefore excluded from the bargaining unit. Other student positions may also be considered Non-
Union. depending on the nature of their work. Students are employed on an hourly basis for a normal 
workweek of five (5) days and work either thirty-five (35) or forty (40) hours per week at such times as 
scheduled by the immediate Supervisor. Students may have the opportunity to work beyond the 
school vacation period up.   until Oct. 15. If they do so and work less than 30 hours per week their 
status remains as a student, however, if they are not going back to school or they are working more 
than 30 hours per week, they will convert to a unionized temporary Labourer job level 2 position for 
this period of time. Co-op students, both paid and unpaid, may be hired by the GRCA. 

Students shall: 

xxii. Receive remuneration only for the actual time worked; 

xxiii. Receive vacation pay each pay period worked at the rates stipulated in 
the current Employment Standards Act; 

xxiv. Contribute to employment insurance in accordance with the current Employment 
Insurance Act as required; 

xxv. Contribute to the Canada Pension Plan; 

xxii.xxvi. Contribute to OMERS Pension Plan as applicable; and 

xxiii.xxvii. Receive remuneration for Paid Holidays in accordance with the Employment 
Standards Act and the Collective Agreement (where applicable). 

  

Students shall receive compensation for a Paid Holiday in accordance with Employment Standards. 

15 SALARY AND WAGE ADMINISTRATION 
9.115.1 Establishment of Salary and Wages 

15.1.1 Salary and Wage Scales 

A Salary Scale shall be established which shall be applicable to Non-Union Employees. 

82



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 48 of 72 

A Wage Scale to be contained in the Collective Agreement shall be established for Bargaining Unit 
Employees. 

15.1.2 15.1.2 Pay-for-Performance 

Employees may progress through the steps in their Salary/Wage Grade based on satisfactory 
performance as evaluated by their individual Supervisors and approved by the Manager and/or 
Director. Employees are assessed based upon the preceding year's performance and is tied to the 
Staff Development Program. The effective date of Pay-For-Performance grid step increases is July 
1st of each year for non-union, regular full timefull-time employees only. 

Employee salary and wage increases must be: 

 Approved by the Chief Administrative Officer; 

 Within budgetary limits; 

 Within the approved Salary & Wage Scale for the positions. 

When applicable, wage scale adjustments shall be effective on the first day of January each year or at 
such other times as approved by the Board or as specified in the Collective Agreement for Bargaining 
Unit Employees. 

Salary scales shall be reviewed annually and at such other times as may be deemed necessary by the 
Chief Administrative Officer to take into consideration market conditions and the cost of livingcost-of-
living index as published by Statistics Canada and recommendations for adjustment shall be made 
through a Confidential Report to the General Membership for approval. 

Bargaining Unit Employees shall adhere to the terms and conditions of the Collective Agreement with 
respect to increment adjustments. 

Reclassification of positions may occur where the nature of the responsibilities attached to a position 
change and where the job evaluation system indicates a change. This change must be approved by 
the Chief Administrative Officer. 

The pay period shall be on a bi-weekly basis, and payment is subject to procedures as set by the 
Chief Administrative Officer. 

The Payroll Department will not issue any remuneration, in advance of the day it is due. 

 

9.215.2 Staff Development Program 

Full-Time, Regular Part-Time, Seasonal, and Temporary Employees are required to participate in a 
Review Meeting with their Supervisor on an annual basis. Annual Staff Development Review Meeting 
forms will be completed and returned to Human Resources by February 28th for Directors and 
Managers and April 30th for all other Employees. 

An non unionnon-union regular full time Employee, who is active on January 1st of any year, is eligible 
for consideration for a grid step on July 1st of the same year (i.e. has completed six (6) months 
continuous full-time service). 

The Staff Development Program is based on the premise that: 

 The GRCA is responsible for assisting in the development of its Employees; and 

83



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 49 of 72 

 Employees are a partner in this process and should communicate their career 
ambitions, training needs, and career goals and development plans. 

 Goals for the year will be jointly developed and aligned with the strategic priorities 
and goals of the department and of the GRCA. 

 Employees have the right to know how they are performing and how their career is 
progressing.   

 This process will include the GRCA corporate values. 

1016 STAFF POSITION LISTING 
Human Resources maintains a current listing of positions and their corresponding wage grades and 
salary and wage scales. 

1117 HOURS OF WORK 
11.117.1 Minimum Hours of Work 

The following minimum hours of work shall apply to all non-union Employees in the GRCA’s service: 

 

NON-UNION SALARIED – Regular hours are thirty-five (35) per week, normally Monday to Friday 
from 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. with one (1) hour lunch break, and at such other times as directed by the 
Chief Administrative Officer, Secretary TreasurerSecretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO or the 
appropriate DirectorManager. 

NON-UNION LAND MANAGEMENT DIVISION FIELD STAFF (including Area Superintendents, 
Supervisor of Central Services, Nursery Superintendent, Supervisor of Forestry Operations and 
the Superintendent of Arboriculture Operations) – Shall work a minimum of eighty (80) hours per 
pay period (ten (10) – eight (8) hour days) during peak season and a minimum seventy (70) hours 
per pay period (ten (10) – seven (7) hour days) during off-season. Peak season is normally April 
1 to October 31, but the appropriate Manager may modify dates for individual areas. 

Area Superintendents shall: 

 work Saturday and Sunday when scheduled; 

 work normal working hours unless otherwise directed as set out in approved work schedules 
for each Conservation Area and other times as deemed necessary by the appropriate Manager 
or the Employee’s immediate Supervisor. 

Salaried “Temporary” Employees shall work the regular days and hours of work established at the 
time of hiring. Hours of work must also be designated on the hiring form by the hiring Supervisor. 

Students are non-union and therefore excluded from the Bargaining Unit. Students are employed for 
the school vacation period on an hourly basis for a normal workweek of five (5) days and either thirty- 
five (35) or forty (40) hours per week at such times as scheduled by the immediate Supervisors. 

Students may have the opportunity to work beyond the school vacation period for less than 30 hours 
per week. If they are working under 30 hours per week their status will remain student. If they are not 
going back to school or they are working more than 30 hours per week they will convert to a unionized 
temporary Labourer job level 2position. 

84



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 50 of 72 

11.217.2 Hours of Work - Bargaining Unit Employees 

Hours of work for bargaining unit Employees will be as described in the Collective Agreement between 
the GRCA and Ontario Public Service Employees Unit (OPSEU – Local 259). 

11.317.3 Overtime Non-Union 

Non-Union Employees, excluding Land Management Field Staff as listed above, will receive 
compensating time off in lieu of overtime on an hour for hour basis, for approved overtime to a 
maximum net accrual of thirty-five (35) hours. Exceptions whereby Land Management Field Staff 
receive pay for overtime must be authorized by the Chief Administrative Officer. 

Claims beyond thirty-five (35) hours in Human Resources Policy No. 17.3 must be authorized by  the 
Chief Administrative Officer. 

Compensating Time Off for Overtime: Non-Union Staff 

Approved overtime credits for the purpose of compensating time off shall be forfeited unless taken 
prior to December 31st of the year in which it was earned. 

Where overtime hours are earned, they must be recorded on the electronic time sheet of the 
Employee on the day in which they were earned, and the eligible accumulation reported in the 
electronic accrual balances. 

When overtime hours are used for time off, they must be recorded as such on the electronic time 
sheet. An Employee shall not be recorded as present if he/she is not at work. 

Overtime shall be pre-approved by the Manager or a Supervisor who is authorized by the Manager for 
that purpose and the approval shall be given before the overtime is performed. In an emergency 
where it is not practical to approve overtime before it is performed, for example for Senior Flood 
Operators and Duty Officers, the overtime shall be approved after the work has been performed. 

11.417.4 Overtime – Bargaining Unit Employees 

Overtime for bargaining unit Employees will be as more specifically described in the Collective 
Agreement between the GRCA and Ontario Public Service Employees Unit (OPSEU – Local 
259). 

11.517.5 Standby 

Non-union Employees who are assigned to standby duty by the appropriate Manager and approved by 
the Chief Administrative Officer shall receive thirty-five ($35.00) dollars per day, Standby pay amount 
will be forty ($40.00) dollars per day effective January 1, 2024. Employees who perform work while on 
standby duty will receive compensating time off based on actual time worked resulting from standby 
calls. 

Standby duty for bargaining unit employees will be as described in the Collective Agreement between 
the GRCA and the Ontario Public Service Employees Unit (OPSEU – Local 259). 

All employees assigned to standby duty must be fit for duty.  It is the expectation that all employees 
are fit to safely and reliably perform their work duties while on standby and are free from impairment 
due to alcohol and/or drugs.  In accordance with HR Policy 1.3.2, all employees are prohibited from 
being under the influence of alcohol, recreational marijuana, or illegal drugs while on standby. 

 

Standby response expectations forinclude the following requirements: 

85



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 51 of 72 

 Conservation Area employees during operating season include:  

 pPhone response 7 days a week, 24 hours a day; attend on site for critical injury, staff 
harassment, staff injury, severe weather event, major damage to property, in full uniform and fit 
for work, ready and available to work without encumbrances 

 Dam Operators:  

 Dam response time to be on-site within of 450 minutes or less, except where specific exceptions 
have been authorized. Additional expectations for response time and duties Dam Operators are 
ascan be found  outlined in the memo “Staff Roles in Flood Management and Dam Operations”. 

 Duty Officer: 

  Phone response 7 days a week, 24 hours a day; be located within the general area; be 
ableavailable to report to the Flood Control Center at the GRCA Administrative Office or other 
location as required during a flood event. Additional expectations regarding response time and 
duties are as per the Duty Officer Manual. 

 Senior Operator: 

  Phone response 7 days a week, 24 hours a day; be located within the general area; Be 
able to report to the Flood Control Center at the GRCA Administrative office or other location as 
requiredavailable during flood events. Additional expectations regarding response times and 
duties are as per the Duty Officer Manual and in the memo “Staff Roles in Flood Management 
and Dam Operations”. 

IT: 

  Part of a 3 week rotation after hours to support EngineeringWater Management, Snenior. 
Operator(s), and the Conservation Area operations with respect tore: the monitoring network 
and connectivity; .  beBe available during flood events.;   Bbe accessible by cell phone and 
have laptop available to respond to calls within one hour; .  Bbe located within the general 
area of the watershed and be able to return to the administration centre if required within two 
hours of the call.   

Flex-Time  

16.117.6 Flex-Time Schedules 

11.5.117.6.1 Flex Hours 

A Manager may approve a ‘flex-hours’ schedule that differs from the regular hours of operation for the 
GRCA on the recommendation of the appropriate Supervisor. Core hours of work shall be maintained 
between 9:30 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. with not less than thirty (30) minutes for a lunch break. 

An Employee’s schedule, as approved by the Manager, will remain the same each week unless a 
change is approved. (see Human Resources Policy No. 17.9). 

11.5.217.6.2 Flex Work Week 

A Manager may approve a ‘flex work week’ schedule. A staff member must submit a written proposal 
and implementation of a flex work schedule must ensure that operational needs continue to be met. 

The implementation of any variation in hours shall not result in any additional overtime work or 
additional payment by reason only of such variation, nor shall it be deemed to prohibit the right of the 
GRCA to schedule any hours of work permitted by the terms of employment. 

86



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 52 of 72 

Work hours may be flexed over no more than four (4) weeks and the arrangement should clearly 
define the hours of work over the relevant time period. This work arrangement may, if appropriate, be 
applied on a seasonal basis. Attendance reporting shall be mutually agreed between the Employee 
and the GRCA.  

Where a flex work week arrangement is proposed for a Bargaining Unit Employee, the Union must be 
informed of the proposal and consent to any individual arrangement. 

11.5.317.6.3 Flex Schedule Review 

Alternative work arrangements may be defined in length, and/or reviewed in accordance with the 
written agreement. At a minimum, a review must occur every two (2) years. The GRCA retains the 
right to terminate the arrangement upon providing four (4) weeks of written notice to the Employee 
and signed by the Supervisor and the Manager in consultation with the Human Resources 
Department. The GRCA will provide a twenty (20) day notice period to the Union prior to terminations 
of individual flex work week schedules of bargaining unit employees. 

11.617.7 Inclement Weather/Office Closures 

The safety and health of Employees and Volunteers is of primary concern to the GRCA. Employees 
and Volunteers will not be expected to work in adverse weather conditions that place their health and 
safety at significant risk. 

11.6.117.7.1 Definition - Inclement Weather 

Intense adverse weather conditions such as heavy snow, ice, rain, or fog, excessive heat, humidity, 
or wind, or other similar weather conditions that create significant risk to the health and safety of 
Employees and Volunteers. 

11.6.217.7.2 Management PracticesEmployee Responsibility 

Responsibility of Employee - In situations of inclement weather, each Employee is responsible for 
making a reasonable effort to arrive at his/her work location and/or his/her clients. If the Employee is 
unable to attend work due to inclement weather, he/she must contact his/her Supervisor (or designate) 
immediately. An Employee will not be disciplined for failing to attend work due to inclement weather, if 
he/she has satisfactorily followed the procedures contained in this policy. 

11.6.317.7.3 Family Demands 

Those Employees who are unable to attend work due to family responsibilities resulting from 
inclement weather (i.e. Schools, daycare facilities being closed, etc.) must contact their Supervisor (or 
designate) immediately. In this case, the Employee may request an Emergency day as outlined in 
Human Resources Policy No.20.2. 

11.6.417.7.4 Payment 

In consultation with the Employee, the Supervisor will select one of the following options for 
addressing the Employee's lost work time (whole or partial day) due to inclement weather (excluding 
operation closures): 

 Loss of pay for the lost work hours 

 Vacation (where the Employee is eligible and if the absence is equal to one half or one 
whole day) 

 Accumulated Overtime 

 Making up the lost time (at home on the day of the inclement weather or working 

87



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 53 of 72 

additional hours outside the Employees normal working hours, with the Supervisor's 
approval) 

  

11.6.517.7.5 Sick days 

 (i.e. short term disability) are not to be used for making up time lost due to inclement weather. 

Operation Closures 

If weather conditions are such that travel to and from work is extremely hazardous, the Chief 
Administrative Officer may declare operations closed for a day or part thereof. The most senior 
Supervisor (or designate) at the office location has the authority to close the respective office location 
or shorten the work day and they must advise their Manager and Director of their actions. 

If the Chief Administrative Officer declares operations closed for a day or any part thereof, Employees 
shall be paid on the same basis as if they worked their regularly scheduled hours. 

11.717.8 Scheduled Time 

In order to allow management to address the current priorities of their Departments (i.e. attend night 
meetings, etc.), weekly hours may be scheduled, which vary from the hours normally worked by an 
Employee. The scheduled time is not restricted to core hours as defined in Human Resources Policy 
No. 17.7, when approved by the Secretary TreasurerSecretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO, Director or 
Manager. The hours worked outside of the normal hours will be offset by compensating time off within 
two (2) weeks, or the Overtime Policy will apply. 

11.817.9 Disconnect from Work 

Disconnecting from work is important for an individual’s wellbeing, and helps employees achieve a 
healthy and sustainable work-life balance. Disconnecting formfrom work means to not engage in 
work- related communications, including emails, telephone calls, video calls, or the sending or 
reviewing of other messages, so as toto be free from the performance of work. 

This policy applies to all employees of the GRCA considered employees under the ESA. 

 

In the ordinary course of business there will be situations when it is necessary to contact other 
employees outside of an employee’s normal working hours, including but not limited to: 

a) when assigned to standby duty as per HR Policy 17.6 or as per the Collective agreement; 

b) checking availability for scheduling; 

c) to fill in on short notice for a colleague who has called in sick or is unavailable for work; 

d) where unforeseeable circumstances may arise; 

e) where an emergency may arise; 

f) where employees voluntarily wish to communicate with one another for work-related purposes 
outside of their normal working hours; or 

g) other business or operational reasons that require contact outside of an employee’s normal 
working hours. 

Nothing in this Policy precludes the GRCA or other employees of the GRCA from contacting 
employees outside their normal working hours for circumstances as outlined above, or as otherwise 

88



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 54 of 72 

required to meet operational needs, subject to any rights or other entitlements the receiving employee 
may have under the ESA. 

Employer Responsibilities 

The GRCA will make reasonable efforts to ensure that all employees, regardless of their place of 
work, are: 

a) informed of what their normal working hours are reasonably expected to be and are informed 
of the circumstances in which they will be expected to engage in work-related communications 
outside their normal working hours; 

b) able to take applicable meal, rest periods, and hours free from work as required by law, 
policy and/or applicable collective agreement language; and 

c) able to take vacation or other leave entitlements as required by law, contract, and/or 
applicable collective agreement language. 

Employee Responsibilities 

All employees should make reasonable efforts to comply with the following in the course of their work: 

 

a) to disconnect from work where possible after fulfilling their required hours based on their 
employment letter or applicable collective agreement provisions. ; 

b) are not expected or required to respond to work-related communication outside their regular 
working hours, while on break, or during any paid or unpaid time off; 

c) cooperate fully with any applicable mechanism utilisedutilized by the GRCA to record working 
time or update their working status (e.g. out-of-office messages), including when working 
remotely, flexibly or when mobile; 

d) be mindful of other employees’, customers/clients’, vendors’ and other third parties’ working 
hours; (e.g. by not routinely emailing or calling outside of normal working hours or expecting 
answers or responses outside of normal working hours) 

e) comply with the GRCA’s overtime policy, Call In policy, Standby policy, and Flex Time 
Schedules, including any requirements to obtain prior approval before performing overtime 
work; For the purposes of this policy, an employee being compensated to be on standby/on 
call does not have the right to disconnect from work related to the reasons for being on-call 
(communication unrelated to being on-call may be addressed during normal working hours). 

f) employees who, on a regular basis, cannot manage their workload during their regularly 
scheduled hours should meet with their direct supervisor/manager to evaluate their current 
workload, priorities, and due dates. Managers/supervisors should work with employees to 
come up with a solution to ensure regular job duties can be completed during their normal work 
day. 

Ability to Disconnect from Work 

An employee’s normal working hours are as set out in the HR Policies and/or applicable collective 
agreement. Normal working hours for employees may vary. It is important to remember that all 
employees’ ability to disconnect from work is within the context of their own individual work schedules 
and GRCA’s operational needs and the duties and obligations of the employee’s position. 

89



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 55 of 72 

Despite the establishment of normal working hours, all employees recognize that there may be busier 
periods or other circumstances where work must be completed outside of normal working hours. 

Nothing in the Policy precludes the GRCA or other employees of the GRCA from contacting other 
employees outside of what may be considered normal working hours or standard business hours, 
subject to any rights or entitlements the receiving colleague or employee may have under their 
employment letter, applicable collective agreement and/or their minimum statutory entitlements under 
the ESA. 

This Policy does not afford employees a “right to disconnect” beyond what is within their individual 
employment letter, applicable collective agreement and/or their minimum statutory entitlements under 
the ESA, which may include rights or entitlements speaking to: normal hours of work and hours free 
from work, overtime pay, meal and/or rest periods, public holidays and public holiday pay, and 
vacation. 

Nothing in this Policy is intended to amend or supersede any grievance procedure or other aspect of 
any applicable collective agreement. 

It may be necessary to communicate with or forward important information to an employee who is not 
working. If employees do send communications to others who are not at work, they should not expect 
a response until the other employee returns. If the matter is urgent or an emergency and requires an 
immediate response from a colleague, employees should reach out to their manager/supervisor, or 
other management designate, if their manager/supervisor is also away from work. 

The GRCA understands the importance for employees to have time off away from work. Employees 
should use their breaks and annual vacation time in accordance with the Collective Agreement and 
Human Resources Policies. 

Reporting Concerns 

All employees are expected and required to report any concerns or issues to their immediate 
supervisor that they feel is impacting their ability to disconnect-from-workdisconnect from work. If 
that is not appropriate or the matter cannot be resolved by doing so, employees should direct their 
concerns or issues to Human Resources. Employees will not be subject to reprisal for reporting such 
concerns as outlined above. 

Posting, Notice, and Retention 

The GRCA shall provide a copy of this Policy to each employee within 30 calendar days of 
implementation. Should any changes be made to the Policy after its implementation, the GRCA shall 
provide each employeeemployee with a copy of the revised Policy within 30 days of the changes 
being made. 

The GRCA will provide a copy of this Policy to all new employees upon onboarding and within 30 
calendar days of the employee commencing employment with the GRCA. 

The GRCA will retain a copy of this and any revised version of this Policy for three years after it 
ceases to be in effect. 

1218 PAID HOLIDAYS 
12.118.1 Paid Holidays 

90



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 56 of 72 

The following days are Paid Holidays: 

 New Year’s Day 

 Family Day 

 Good Friday 

 Easter Monday 

 Victoria Day 

 Canada Day 

 Civic Holiday 

 Labour Day 

 National Day of Truth and Reconciliation 

 Thanksgiving Day 

 Remembrance Day 

 Christmas Day 

 Boxing Day 

 And such other days as may be authorized by the General Membership. 

When any of the above-named Holidays fall on a Saturday or Sunday, the Friday preceding or the 
Monday succeeding such Holiday shall be designated by the Chief Administrative Officer as the day in 
lieu of the Holiday. 

Paid Holidays reported on attendance records and work reports, must be designated as such so as 
toto not confuse them with vacation time or time off. If these Holidays are accumulated and taken at a 
later date, the name of the Holiday must be listed on the report for ease of identification. 

The Employment Standards Act sets out rules for entitlements, pay and premium pay for Public 
Holidays. The GRCA will follow these rules for all days identified in (18.1) as Paid Holidays. As 
outlined in the Employment Standards Act, to qualify, Employees must work their last regularly 
scheduled work day before and their first regularly scheduled work day after the Holiday, unless 
reasonable cause exists for not doing so. Paid holiday pay is based on the regular wages and 
vacation pay over the four (4) weeks preceding the Holiday, divided by twenty (20). 

12.218.2 Working on a Paid Holiday 

Salaried Employees who are required to work on a Paid Holiday will receive time and one-half (1 and 
1/2) for the day and a day to be taken at a time mutually agreeable to the Employee and Supervisor. 

Superintendents I, II, and III, Supervisor of Forestry Operations, Supervisor of Arboriculture and 
Supervisor of Maintenance and Operations who work on any of the Paid Holidays listed above, will 
receive compensating time off on an hour for hour basis: 

Bargaining Unit Employees, who are required to work on a Paid Holiday, will be compensated for such 
Holiday as per the Collective Agreement. 

12.318.3 Christmas Eve and New Year’s Eve - Early Closure 

When an employee is normally scheduled to work on Christmas Eve and New Year’s Eve, the 
employee shall be given a half-day off for both days not to exceed 3.5 hours each day, when those 

91



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 57 of 72 

dates fall on weekdays. 

1319 ANNUAL VACATION 
13.119.1 General 

Annual vacation period shall be based on the calendar year. 

Vacation periods shall be scheduled to the satisfaction of the Chief Administrative Officer or the 
appropriate Manager. 

13.219.2 Regular Employees 

Regular Full-time Employees may be entitled to an annual vacation period with pay as follows: 

Length of Service (Based on Calendar Year) Vacation Entitlement 

1 – 4 continuous years 15 working days 

5 – 9 continuous years 20 working days 

10 – 14 continuous years 22 working days 

15 – 20 continuous years 24 working days 

21 -26 continuous years 27 working days 

27 continuous years 28 working days 

28 continuous years and up 29 working days 

 

Included in the calculation of a Regular Full-time Employee’s length of service shall be: 

 Prior Regular Service; 

 Continuous Temporary Service with the GRCA; 

 Any service credited upon hire. 

Regular Full-time Employees terminating their service during the year who have not taken their annual 
vacation shall be paid for their entitlement pro-rated for those months worked. If, on the date of 
termination, the number of vacation days already taken that year exceeds their pro-rated entitlement, 
the credit for the unearned vacation shall be deducted from the Employee’s pay. 

A Regular Full-time Employee may be permitted to transfer unused vacation days from one (1) year to 
another on the following basis: 

 Written approval from the Chief Administrative Officer must be obtained by December 31 of the 
calendar year in which the unused vacation days are accumulated; 

 An Employee can carry over up to ten (10) days of their annual entitlement from one (1) 
calendar year to the next. In the event of exceptional circumstances, the Chief Administrative 
Officer may grant permission for the Employee to carry over more than ten (10) days. 

 Vacation carryover will only be allowed in compliance with the Employment Standards Act. 

A Regular Part-Time Employee shall receive vacation in the same manner as a Regular Full-time 
Employee except that it shall be based on length of service and pro-rated based on regular or 
seasonal part-time hours of work divided by the hours of work for the equivalent full-time position 
(either one thousand, eight hundred and twenty (1820) hours or one thousand, nine hundred and 

92



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 58 of 72 

seventy-five (1975) hours as applicable). Where no full-time position exists the hours will be divided by 
one thousand, eight hundred and twenty (1820) hours. 

For Hourly Rated Bargaining Unit Employees, vacation entitlement and procedure will be as described 
in the Collective Agreement. 

13.319.3 Seasonal Employees 

Seasonal Employees shall be entitled to vacation pay as per the Employment Standards Act and 
outlined in Human Resources Policy No. 14 

1420 LEAVE OF ABSENCE 
All leaves of absence must have a leave of absence request form completed and approved by the 
Chief Administrative Officer in advance. 

14.120.1 Leave of Absence with Pay 

The Chief Administrative Officer may grant a leave of absence with pay for not more than one (1) 
month in any calendar year to a Regular Employee upon special or compassionate grounds and the 
period of leave shall be charged against the sick pay credits of the Employee. This leave will only be 
granted in exceptional circumstances wherein other options have been exhausted. The length of 
service and past attendance record will be taken into consideration when granting such leave. 

The Chief Administrative Officer may grant a leave of absence with pay for not more than one (1) 
month in any calendar year to a Temporary, Part-time, or Seasonal Employee for sickness, special, 
or compassionate circumstances beyond his/her control. The length of service and past attendance 
record will be taken into consideration when granting such leave. 

14.220.2 Leave of Absence without Pay 

16.1.220.2.1 Unpaid Leaves 

The Chief Administrative Officer may grant a leave of absence without pay for not more than six (6) 
consecutive months, in any calendar year to a Regular Employee provided that such leave shall be: 

 For multiples of one (1) week duration and that the total weeks granted be taken consecutively; 

 Recommended by the appropriate Director or Secretary TreasurerSecretary-
Treasurer/Deputy CAO who must make provisions to carry on the duties of the Employee 
in his/her absence; 

 Considered a saving of expense for the GRCA which can be used to carry on the duties of the 
Employee in their absence; 

 Approved at least one (1) month in advance of the period of leave; 

 Granted in a fair and equitable manner in the event that two (2) Employees request to be 
absent at the same time; 

 Not supplemented by or used in combination with sick leave credits; 

 Vacation time and accrued overtime shall be exhausted prior to requesting a leave of absence 
without pay; 

 Granted only if the Employee agrees to prepay the cost of all employee benefits provided by 
the GRCA’s benefits plan. 

93



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 59 of 72 

Leaves of absence for Bargaining Unit Employees shall be as specifically described in the Collective 
Agreement. 

14.2.120.2.2 Sick Leave 

Employees will be entitled to up to 3 unpaid days of leave per calendar year for personal illness, injury 
or medical emergency as per the Employment Standards Act (ESA). Note, if an employee is eligible 
for GRCA sick pay credits, the sick credits will be counted as ESA leave. 

14.2.220.2.3 Family Caregiver Leave 

As per the Employment Standards Act employees are entitled to unpaid, job protected leave of up to 8 
weeks per calendar year per specified family member. Family Caregiver leave may be taken to 
provide care and support to a specified family member for whom a qualified health practitioner has 
issued a certificate indicating the family member has a serious medical condition. 

14.2.320.2.4 Family Responsibility Leave 

As per the Employment Standards Act employees are entitled to 3 unpaid, days of leave per calendar 
year for illness, injury, medical emergency, or urgent matter relating to a prescribed family member. 

14.2.420.2.5 Bereavement Leave 

Employees are entitled to up to 2 unpaid days of leave per calendar year for the death of a prescribed 
family member as per the Employment Standards Act. Note, if an employee is eligible for the GRCA 
bereavement leave, the GRCA bereavement leave will be counted as ESA bereavement leave. 

14.2.520.2.6 Critical Illness Leave 

Employees are entitled to unpaid, job-protected leave of up to thirty-seven (37) weeks to provide care 
to a critically ill child and are also entitled to take up to seventeen (17) weeks’ unpaid leave to care for 
a critically ill adult who is 18 years or older as per the Employment Standards Act. Employees may 
be eligible to receive Employment Insurance (EI) special benefits for caregivers of critically ill minor 
children who are family members for up to 35 weeks. There is a similar benefit for family members 
who take leave from work to care to critically ill adults for up to 15 weeks. 

14.2.620.2.7 Child Death Leave or Crime-Related Child Disappearance Leave 

As per the Employment Standards Act, employees are entitled to unpaid, job-protected leave of: 

 up to one-hundred and four (104) weeks if a child of the employee dies. 

 up to one-hundred and four (104) weeks if a child of the employee disappears and it is 
probable, considering the circumstances, that the child disappeared as a result of a crime. 

14.2.720.2.8 Domestic or Sexual Violence Leave 

As per the Employment Standards Act, employees are entitled to take up to ten (10) days and up to 
fifteen (15) weeks of leave the first 5 days of which are paid at the amount prescribed by legislation, if 
they or their child experiences domestic or sexual violence, or threats of domestic or sexual violence. 

14.2.820.2.9 Family Medical Leave 

As per the Employment Standards Act, employees are eligible for up to twenty-eight (28) weeks’ leave 
without pay in a 52 week period to provide care or support to specified family members who are 
terminally ill with a significant risk of death occurring within a period of 26 weeks. 

16.1.320.2.10 Declared Emergency Leave 

As per the Employment Standards Act, Declared Emergency Leave gives employees the right to a 

94



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 60 of 72 

leave without pay if the employee will not be performing the duties of his or her position because of an 
emergency declared under the eEmergency Management and Civil Protection Act (the “EMCPA”), 
and one or more of the qualifying conditions exist. 

16.1.420.2.11 Reservist Leave 

As per the Employment Standards Act, job protected, unpaid leave exists for military reservists serving 
on international or domestic operations and to an employee in treatment, recovery or rehabilitation for 
a physical or mental health illness, injury or medical emergency that results from participation in such 
deployment or training.. 

16.1.520.2.12 Organ Donor Leave 

As per the Employment Standards Act, employees are entitled to take up to 13 weeks of unpaid job 
protected leave from work for organ donation; an extension of which may be required for a maximum 
of an additional 13 weeks of unpaid leave. 

14.320.3 Leave of Absence – Bereavement 

For the purposes of this policy, immediate family shall mean spouse, common-law spouse, child, 
mother, father, father-in-law, mother-in-law, sister, and brother. 

The Chief Administrative Officer, Secretary TreasurerSecretary-Treasurer/Deputy CAO, or appropriate 
Director may grant a leave of absence with pay to a Regular Full-Time, Seasonal, and Temporary 
Employee for bereavement. Employees may take bereavement leave on theThe leave of absence 
may be granted on the following basis, for days on which the Employee was otherwise scheduled to 
work: 

 Five (5) days for a death in the immediate family; 

 Two (2) days for the death of a grandparent, grandparent-in-law, grandchild, sister-in-law, 
brother-in-law, daughter-in-law or son-in-law; 

 One (1) day for the death of an aunt, uncle, niece or nephew. 

Bereavement leave days may be taken at the time of death, memorial service, and/or interment. 

Regular Part-time Employees will be eligible for bereavement leave in accordance with this Regulation 
for those days on which they were otherwise scheduled to work. The benefit level will equal the 
number of hours they were scheduled to work on that particular day(s). 

14.420.4 Leave of Absence – Pregnancy/Parental 

Pregnancy/Parental leave shall be in accordance with the Employment Standards Act. 

Upon written request of an employee who is the biological birth mother and has worked continuously 
for the GRCA for a period of thirteen (13) weeks preceding the date of birth, the GRCA shall grant 
an unpaid leave of absence without pay, for a period of up to one and a half (1.5) years. This one 
and a half (1.5) year period will be comprised of a combination of up to seventeen (17) weeks 
pregnancy leave and sixty onesixty-one (61) weeks parental leave. For birth mothers, parental leave 
must normally be taken immediately following the pregnancy leave. 

The employee shall give the GRCA two (2) weeks’ notice, in writing, of the day upon which she 
intends to commence her leave of absence and the date upon which she intends to return. 

New parents have the right to take parental leave when the child is born or first comes into their care. 

95



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 61 of 72 

Upon written request birth mothers who do not take pregnancy leave, and other new parents who 
have worked continuously for the GRCA for a period of thirteen (13) weeks preceding the date of birth 
of the child, the GRCA shall grant a parental leave, without pay, for a period of up to sixty-three (63) 
weeks. Such leave must be taken no later than seventy-eight (78) weeks after the child was born or 
came into their care.  Such leave of absence shall be granted upon two (2) weeks’ written notice by 
the Employee of the commencement of the leave. 

An Employee wishing to return early from a pregnancy leave or parental leave of absence or extend 
the leave shall give the employer four (4) weeks' written notice of his/her intention to return to work. 

The GRCA will continue to pay its share of an Employee's group benefits during pregnancy/parental 
leave, unless the employee requests to suspend enrollment during the leave and that request is 
approved by the insurer. Similarly, if an Employee advises in writing that he/she intends to pay his/her 
share of the pension contribution for the leave period, they have until December 31st of the year 
following the year in which the employee returned to work to make those arrangements and then the 
GRCA will pay the matching pension contribution. If an Employee elects not to pay his/her share of 
the pension contribution, the  

GRCA does not pay its share either, and a period of broken service will result. If, at a future date, the 
Employee wishes to buy-back the period of broken service, he/she would be responsible for both the 
Employee and the Employer contributions. 

Pregnancy/Parental Leave and Vacation Entitlement 

 

The Employee may take vacation at the end of his/her leave or at a later time if requested and the 
GRCA agrees. A payout can only be made if the Employee makes the request in writing. 

14.520.5 Leave of Absence – Adoption 

An unpaid parental leave for adoption will be consideredprovided for an Employee in 
accordance with the Employment Standards Act. 

A request in writing for an unpaid leave of absence of no greater than sixty-three (63) weeks must be 
submitted to the Chief Administrative Officer for approval. 

Unpaid leave of up to sixty-three (63) weeks is available to adoptive parents (mother or father). 
Requests for parental leave must be in writing and a minimum of two (2) weeks’ notice provided. This 
leave is available no later than seventy-eight (78) weeks after the child was born or came into their 
care. 

14.620.6 Personal Day 

Regular full-time, seasonal full-time employees (with a season of at least five months) and temporary 
full timefull-time employees in a position that is at least 12 months in length will be granted two (2) 
paid personal days per year. A personal day must be used in its entirety and not in partial 
increments. An unused personal day cannot be carried from one year to the next and it is not eligible 
to be paid out. 

Please note, the two paid Personal Days are considered a greater right or benefit than the Sick Leave, 
and Bereavement Leave under the Employment Standards Act (ESA) if the reasons for the leave 
overlaps. Therefore, for employees that are eligible for the paid personal days, they are not eligible for 
these ESA leave days. 

96



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 62 of 72 

1521 SERVICES of EMPLOYEES AS JURORS OR WITNESSES 
An Employee who is required to serve as a Juror or is subpoenaed as a Witness in a non-GRCA- 
related court case, will be compensated for loss of pay from their regular scheduled shift due to such 
jury service or appearance in court. Compensation will be based on regularly scheduled hours at 
straight-time hourly rate less the payment received for services as a juror or witness excluding 
payment received for travelling, meals, or other expenses. Time spent in such service as a juror or 
witness shall not constitute a break If the Employee reimburses the GRCA the total amount received 
for service as a Juror or Witness, excluding mileage or traveling expense, the Chief Administrative 
Officer may authorize the payment of full salary or wage for the period the Employee was absent while 
serving as a Juror or Witness. If an Employee refuses to pay the GRCA the monies received for the 
period of service they shall forfeit the right to claim any part of salary or wages for the period of 
absence from duty. 

1622 TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT 
Two (2) categories of training and development have been established: Job Skills Training and 
Corporate Training. They differ in terms of how expenditures are approved and where the funding 
comes from. 

16.122.1 Job Skills Training Programs 

Types of training and development in this category include technical training (job-related), professional 
conferences or job-related conferences, seminars, and workshops.  Attendance at training and 
conferences represents the GRCA’s commitment to professional development opportunities.  It is 
considered part of the employee’s regular work day and therefore employees will not be eligible for 
over time or accumulated time on the days or time spent travelling to and/or attending training and 
conferences.   

Approval of Job Skills Training is at the discretion of the Manager, subject to: 

 The applicability of the particular course; 

 The availability of funding for eligible expenses; 

 The ability of the Department to permit the Employee time off, if necessary, to take the course.; 

 The approval from Human Resources. 

Approved courses are funded through the applicable Department’s budget and require prior 
authorization by appropriate management staff. The following approval limits apply: 

 Directors and Managers may approve events within Ontario, within budgetary limits, where the 
total cost does not exceed two thousand, five hundred dollars ($2500); 

 The Chief Administrative Officer may approve any events outside Ontario and/or any event 
exceeding two thousand, five hundred dollars ($2500). 

In calculating costs when determining the nature of required authorization, the following expenses 
should be included and estimated where necessary: 

 registration fees 

 travel 

 accommodation 

97



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 63 of 72 

 meals 

 other identifiable expenses 

The Manager of Corporate Services will provide, on an annual basis, a summary report to the Chief 
Administrative Officer on Employee attendance at conferences, seminars, and workshops including 
the costs incurred. 

16.222.2 Corporate Training Programs 

Types of training and development included in this category are: 

 Health and Safety 

 Orientation Programs 

 Tuition Fees 

 Corporately mandated training and development programs 

Approval of Corporate Training is managed and funded by an account overseen by the Human 
Resource Department. However, attendance during working hours at such courses is at the 
discretion of the Employee’s Director or Manager. This fund will be accessed on a first-comefirst 
come, first-serve basis throughout the year until the fund has been depleted. Any surplus funds 
forecast for the end of year may be used to assist with outstanding Job Skills Training requests 
where the Department can demonstrate an inability to subsidize through its own budget. 

16.2.122.2.1 Tuition Fees: 

Subject to budget limitations, tuition fees for Regular Full-time Employees will be funded at one 
hundred percent (100%) up to a per course maximum amount equal to the average cost of an 
undergraduate university course, if in accordance with the following criteria: 

 The course is conducted by an accredited educational institution or professional association; 

 The course will improve the skills of the Employee in performing the duties of the GRCA 
either immediately or in the future; 

 The maximum reimbursement is two (2) courses in any calendar year; 

 The employee has satisfactory job performance 

 The request for financial assistance is made prior to the actual enrollment in the course; 

 One-half (1/2) of the tuition fee will be reimbursed upon enrollment and requires the completion 
of a “Tuition Claim Form”. The Employee must provide evidence of successful completion and 
a claim for final reimbursement must be made within six (6) months of having completed the 
course; 

 Financial support shall be limited to tuition fees (textbooks, other course material, supplies, 
other fees and/or travel expenses are not eligible expenses); 

 If the Employee’s employment terminates within two (2) years of completing a subsidized 
program, the Employee may be required to reimburse the GRCA for funding received on a pro-
rata basis. (i.e. the repayable portion will be equal to the percentage of the two (2) years that 
the Employee is not in the employment of the GRCA); 

 Tuition reimbursement will be made via an A/P chequeAccounts Payable and will not be 
included in taxable benefits on T4’s or T4A’s. It is the responsibility of the Employee to 

98



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 64 of 72 

properly complete their Income Tax Return. 

16.2.222.2.2 Graduate Programs: 

Reimbursement for a graduate program (or equivalent) taken at an accredited educational institution is 
approved at the discretion of the Chief Administrative Officer prior to enrollment in the program. Such 
courses must be job-related, may exceed the dollar limits outlined above and will be considered with 
regard to the value of the training for the organization. 

1723 TRAVEL AND OTHER EXPENSES ELIGIBLE FOR REIMBURSEMENT 
Employees will be reimbursed for reasonable and actual expenses incurred while on GRCA business. 
Reimbursement is based on the principles that expenses should be: 

 Related to GRCA business. 

 Modest, appropriate, and reasonable. 

 Submitted in a timely manner and in accordance with this policy. 

When a situation arises and managerial discretion needs to be exercised, managers should consider 
whether the request is: 

 Able to stand up to scrutiny by the auditors and members of the public; 

 Properly explained and documented; 

 Fair and equitable; 

 Reasonable; and 

 Appropriate. 

17.123.1 General 

An Employee, when authorized to travel on normal duty by the appropriatetheir Manager, and when 
authorized to attend conferences, meetings, a course of instruction, and trips of a similar nature, shall 
be entitled to reimbursements for reasonable expenses as follows: 

 Distance in kilometers in accordance with HR Policy 6 and with approved rates when so 
authorized, or rail, bus or economy rate air travel, or use of GRCA owned or leased vehicle; 

 Reasonable out-of-pocket expenses for overnight accommodation, meals, and 
gratuities incurred therewith; 

 Taxi fare or ride share expenses when private automobilepersonal vehicle is not 
used, and such telephone or communication expenses as may be incurred on GRCA 
business; 

 Registration or other fees, when applicable; 

 Parking and Highway Toll charges; 

 Such incidental expenses not covered herein asthat may occur from time to time occur. 

Travel arrangements should result in the most economical use of resources. 

Expense claims must be supported by scanned copies of original itemized receipts that 
clearly show all taxes for accommodation and other expenses when applicable. The hard 
copy of original receipts must be kept by the employee for audit purposes.  

99



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 65 of 72 

The Chief Administrative Officer or Secretary -Treasurer/Deputy CAO must approve all 
expense account claim forms. 

17.223.2 Meals 

Meals will be paid by the GRCA when original itemized receipts for same are provided under 
the following circumstances: 

 The Employee is entertaining guests of the GRCA on official business and such guests and 
the occasion must be identified for audit purposes; 

 The Employee is attending meetings and conferences under appropriate authorization; 

 The Employee is required to work beyond his/her normal hours of work (i.e. early morning 
start, late finish) to complete the project, flood watch duty, evening meetings, etc.; 

 The Employee is performing workplace inspections as part of their membership on the 
Joint Health and Safety Committee; or 

 Under other special circumstances with the prior approval of the appropriate Manager. 

Employees are to use good judgment as to the amounts claimed for meals.  

Where an employee is authorized to pay for the meals of other employees, the receipt or 
accompanying expense report must include a brief explanation of the event and the names of those 
in attendance. The highest-level employee should pay for the meal expense. 

Note: Employees will not be entitled to reimbursement for the purchase of alcohol, unless it is being 
purchasedpurchased for an approved “special event” such as a charity gala, etc. 

Catering 

Catering may be provided under the following circumstances, and as authorized in advance by a 
Manager: 

 The GRCA is hosting a meeting with external parties to facilitate business of the GRCA; 

 Corporate committee meetings where a shorter lunch break is taken and the meeting continues 
after the lunch break for continuity and efficiencyt, e.g. Job Evaluation Committee, Joint Health 
& Safety Committee; 

 At a department and/or division team meeting, on a once-per-year basis; 

 At an all-staff meeting or corporate event; or 

 Under other special circumstances with the prior approval of the Chief Administrative Officer. 

17.323.3 Assignments to Temporary Work Locations 

For purposes of calculating the number of kilometers to be reimbursed for travel when an Employee is 
temporarily assigned to a work stationworkstation other than their regular workstation, the following 
rule applies: 

 Where the travel is in excess ofmore than that normally incurred in traveling to and from an 
Employee’s home to their regular work location, the extra kilometrers driven shall be 
reimbursed at the established rate. 

100



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 66 of 72 

For purposes of being paid for travel time the following rule applies: 

 Hourly Rated Staff: 

When an Employee is required to use their own vehicle, when temporarily assigned to a work 
stationworkstation that is greater than fifty (50) kilometres from their normal workstation, the 
Employee will be reimbursed for the extra kilometers as outlined above and paid a premium 
calculated at one hour of the Employee’s regular wage assuming the travel occurs in addition 
to the normal work day. Employees must get approval from their Supervisor as to whether the 
travel time can be added to their day or included in their regular hours of work. 

 Salary Staff: 

Travel time not included in the workday will be treated as overtime. As per the current overtime 
policy for salary staff, time off can be taken in lieu of overtime pay. Approval must be obtained 
from an Employee’s Supervisor prior to incurring such overtime. 

Staff should discuss mileage reimbursement for travel related to field visits or travel to meetings, 
conferences, seminars, etc. with their immediate Supervisor in order toto determine the 
appropriate method for calculating kilometers. 

1824 EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION PROGRAMS 
1.7. Service Recognition Program 

In recognition of Employees’ years of service with the GRCA, the organization will host a Staff 
Celebration Event annually. During this event, staff will be presented with a gift in recognition of their 
years of service to the GRCA. Staff may choose to donate the cash value to a registered charity, 
however, this is not eligible for a tax receipt. 

Defined below are the milestones and dollar amounts applicable according to various categories of 
staff. Note that years of service are defined to be continuous years of service, which may include 
breaks in service where the break is due to seasonality of work or due to securement/procurement of 
funding. 

For staff whose status is either Regular Full-time, Seasonal (with seniority), or Part-time (with 
seniority), the following cash value guidelines are applicable: 

Milestone (Years of Service) Cash Value 

5 years $5560.00 

10 years $10080.00 

15 years $1050.00 

20 years $200130.00 

25 years $300.00 

30 years $35200.00 

35 years $2400.00 

If a staff member’s status is such that they still have not achieved seniority status upon reaching a 
milestone, a gift with a value not to exceed thirty ($30.00) dollars will be awarded. 

101



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 67 of 72 

For students, upon returning to work for a fifth (5th) season of work, an item of GRCA corporate wear 
(less than fifsixty dollars ($5560.00) in value) will be awarded. 

The purchase of gifts will be the responsibility of the Human Resources Department. 

1.8. Employee Departure Program 

The GRCA recognizes Employees who have retired or resigned during the past year. These 
Employees will be presented with a gift in recognition of their years of service and contributions to 
GRCA. 

Defined below are the gift values applicable according to years of service and by various categories of 
staff. Note that years of service are defined to be continuous years of service, which may include 
breaks in service where the break is due to seasonality of work or due to securement/procurement of 
funding. 

For staff whose status is either (a) Regular Full-time, (b) Seasonal (with seniority), or (c) Part-time 
(with seniority) the following cash value guidelines are applicable: 

 

Years of Service Cash Value 

>5 and < 10 years $ 50.00 

>10 and <15 years $ 75.00 

>15 and <20 years $150.00 

>20 years $200.00 

The purchase of gifts will be the responsibility of the appropriate Manager and co-workers in 
consultation with the Human Resources Department. 

1925 WORKPLACE SAFETY AND INSURANCE BOARD COVERAGE 
All Employees are required to participate in the Ontario Government Workplace Safety and Insurance 
Board (WSIB) program as provided by the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act. Any Employee who 
becomes injured or ill due to an occupational accident or illness that is compensable under the 
Workplace Safety and Insurance Act, shall receive from the GRCA the wages or salary he/she is 
eligible to receive from the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB), to a maximum of eighty-
five (85%) percent of pre-injury earnings, during the period of absence from work to a maximum of 
thirty (30) calendar days following the date of injury, in any fiscal year. The WSIB will reimburse the 
GRCA for these lost-time wages. 

The GRCA will pay the portion of regular wages or salary not paid by WSIB and deduct the value 
from the Employee’s unused sick pay credits (maximum sick pay credits – six (6) days annually. 

2026 PENSION PLANS FOR REGULAR SERVICE EMPLOYEES 
20.126.1 Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System (OMERS) 

All Regular, Full-time Employees shall be required, as a condition of employment, to become a 
member of the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System (OMERS) or if such person is 
already a member of OMERS, to resume his/her contributions without interruption. Other Employees, 
who are not Regular, Full-time, may also have the option of joining OMERS. Human Resources, 
and/or Payroll will advise all eligible Employees of their options. 

102



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 68 of 72 

20.1.126.1.1 Contributions 

Each Employee shall contribute a percentage of his/her earnings as established by OMERS. The 
GRCA shall match the Employee’s contributions to the plan. 

20.1.226.1.2 Normal Retirement Age 

Normal retirement age, as defined by OMERS is 65 years of age. For further details, please refer to 
the OMERS handbook and/or contact the Human Resources Department. 

20.226.2 Canada Pension Plan 

All Employees eighteen (18) years of age and older are required to contribute a percentage of their 
annual earnings to the Canada Pension Plan as required by Federal Regulations to a maximum 
specified in the plan. GRCA will contribute a matching amount. There are dependent benefits as 
specified in the Act for surviving dependents. For those Employees who are eligible as specified in 
the Canada Pension Plan Act, total disability benefits are provided under this plan. 

2127 ONTARIO HEALTH INSURANCE PLAN 
The GRCA will contribute to the Ontario Health Insurance Plan (OHIP) for its Employees in 
accordance with the Ontario Health Tax Regulations 

2228 GROUP BENEFITS 
22.128.1 Group Life Insurance 

A Group Life Insurance Plan is carried on all Regular Full-time Employees following the probationary 
period of employment. The GRCA pays one hundred (100%) percent of the premiums. Details of 

 coverage are outlined in the Group Benefits Plan booklet, available from the Human 
Resources Department. 

All Employee life insurance coverage will carry an Accidental Death and Dismemberment benefit. 

22.228.2 Dependent Group Life Insurance 

All Regular Full-time Employees with dependents will be enrolled in a Dependent Group Life 
Insurance Plan and the GRCA will pay one hundred (100%) percent of the premiums. Details of 
coverage are outlined in the Group Benefits Plan booklet, available from the Human Resources 
Department. 

22.328.3 Long Term Disability (LTD) Plan 

All Regular Full-time Employees of the GRCA shall be required to participate in the Group Long-
Term Disability Plan as a condition of employment and the GRCA shall pay eighty (80%) percent of 
the cost of the premium. Details of coverage are outlined in the Group Benefits Plan booklet, 
available from the Human Resources Department. 

A medical report may be required from the insurance carriers. The insurer reserves the right to 
exclude the Employee from any LTD claim that may result from a pre-existing condition. 

22.428.4 Dental Insurance 

All Regular Full-time Employees will be eligible for enrollment in the Group Dental Insurance Plan, 
covering the Employee and all eligible dependents, providing up to the scale of fees and services 
approved by the current plan. The GRCA shall contribute eighty (80%) percent of the cost of the 
premium. Details of coverage are outlined in the Group Benefits Plan booklet, available from the 

103



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 69 of 72 

Human Resources Department. 

A Seasonal Employee may elect to participate in the Group Dental Insurance Plan according to the 
criteria and conditions as outlined in the Collective Agreement. 

22.528.5 Extended Health Care Insurance 

All Regular, Full-time Employees will be eligible for enrollment in the Group Extended Health Care Plan 
and the GRCA will pay eighty (80%) percent of the cost of the premiums. Details of coverage are 
outlined in the Group Benefits Plan booklet, available from the Human Resources Department. 

A Seasonal Employee may elect to participate in the Group Extended Health Care Insurance Plan 
according to the criteria and conditions as outlined in the Collective Agreement.ement. 

General 

If an Employee is in an unpaid state (receiving E.I. sick benefits, LTD benefits, leave of absence, etc.) 
the GRCA will maintain the above coverage for a period of thirty (30) calendar days, one hundred 
(100%) percent of premium costs will be paid after thirty (30) days by the Employee. 

2329 TERMINATION OF SERVICE 
23.129.1 Retirement 

Eight (8) weeks’ notice is required in advance of an Employee’s retirement date to ensure adequate 
time to process OMERS and other payroll-related paperwork and begin the recruiting process for a 
successor, when applicable. 

23.229.2 Termination of Service Prior to Retirement 

Regular Employee status acquired by Employee will be lost, and their employment terminated for any 
of the following reasons: 

 Voluntary resignation 

 Discharge for cause 

 Absence from work without a reason acceptable to the GRCA for a period of more than 
five (5) consecutive working days. 

All Employee benefits cease the first (1st) day following termination. 

At the time of termination, all Employees shall: 

 Return all GRCA-owned equipment and tools provided for the performance of duties while in 

the employ of the GRCA; 

 Return all GRCA keys to their immediate Supervisor; 

 Return all GRCA-issued clothing, insignia, and identification as per Human Resources 
Policy No. 5. 

23.329.3 Entitlement at Death 

Where any Regular Full-time Employee who has served more than nine (9) months in a Regular Full- 
time position with the GRCA dies, there shall be paid to their beneficiary as specified in the GRCA 
Group Life Insurance policy, the sum of: 

 One twelfth (1/12) of the annual salary; 

 Salary for the period of annual vacation credits and overtime credits; 

104



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 70 of 72 

 Cumulative sick pay credits in accordance with Human Resources Policy No.30. 

2430 SHORT TERM DISABILITY PLAN 
24.130.1 Sick Pay Credits – Eligibility and Rate 

All Employees appointed to Regular Full-time positions at the GRCA will be eligible for GRCA’s 
Short Term Disability Plan. 

Effective December 1st of each year, all eligible Employees will receive an annual credit of six (6) 
days (42 hours) sick leave which will be paid at one hundred percent (100%) of the regular daily rate. 
These six days may be used for sick leave of the employee and/or immediate dependents. On the 
seventh (7th) day of illness and thereafter for subsequent and recurring illnesses, up to the time 
Employees are eligible to receive benefits under the GRCA’s Long-Term Disability Plan (one hundred 
and five (105) days of continuous illness or disability as per Human Resources Policy No.28.3), 
Employees will be paid for sick days on the following scale: 

 Less than one (1) complete fiscal year of service (December 1st to November 30), seventy-five 
percent (75%) of regular daily rate. 

 First (1st) complete year of service, eighty percent (80%) of regular daily rate. 

 Second (2nd) complete year of service, eighty-five percent (85%) of regular daily rate. 

 Third (3rd) complete year of service, ninety percent (90%) of regular daily rate. 

 Fourth (4th) complete year of service, ninety-five percent (95%) of regular daily rate. 

 All years of service thereafter, one hundred percent (100%) of regular daily rate. 

Sick pay credits will not be payable to an Employee during the first three (3) months of service. 

Paid Holidays and regular days off shall not form part of the illness period. 

If an Employee terminates service with the GRCA and returns at a later date he/she will be 
considered a new Employee for purposes of calculating short-term disability benefits. 

Part-time Employees shall be eligible to receive, on a calendar year basis, a sick leave credit 
calculated by taking the regularly scheduled part-time hours divided by the number of annual hours 
associated with the full-time equivalent position multiplied by an annual credit of six (6) days sick 
leave. Sick leave credits granted under this Policy shall not be eligible for the work incentive as 
outlined in Human Resources Policy No.30.3. 

Seasonal Employees who have completed one week of service are eligible to receive an annual 
credit, based on a calendar year, of three (3) days sick leave which will be paid at one hundred 
(100%) of the regular daily rate. The maximum benefit that may be paid under this Policy is three (3) 
days per calendar year. Sick day credits granted under this Policy are not eligible for the work 
incentive as described in Human Resources Policy No.30.3. 

Temporary Employees are eligible to receive an annual credit of three (3) days sick leave which will be 
paid at one hundred percent (100%) of the regular daily rate. Calculation of the three (3) sick day 
credits will be prorated based on term of employment within the calendar year. The maximum benefit 
that may be paid under this Policy is three (3) days per calendar year. Sick day credits granted under 
this Policy are not eligible for the work incentive as described in Human Resources Policy No.30.3. 

105



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 71 of 72 

24.230.2 Use of Sick Pay Credits 

The number of days or part days for which an Employee receives sick pay shall be deducted from 
his/her annual credit and paid on the scale outlined in 30.1(B) above. A Regular Full-time Employee 
participating in the Group Long Term Disability Plan of GRCA shall be eligible to receive benefits 
under that Plan after one hundred and five (105) days of continuous sickness or illness, subject to the 
approval of the insurance provider, and will not be eligible to receive short term disability benefits. 

After five (5) consecutive days’ absence due to non-work-related illness or injury, no sick pay shall be 
allowed unless a certificate of a qualified medical practitioner is forwarded to Human Resources, 
certifying that the Employee is unable to attend to official duties. 

An Employee is considered in full pay state while in receipt of sick pay under the above conditions as 
it may apply to receipt of other benefits. 

24.330.3 Work Incentive 

A work incentive of fifty percent (50%) of unused sick pay credits (annual six (6) day allocation) will be 
paid to the Employee prior to December 31st each year. The incentive will be paid at the regular rate 
of pay as of that date and will be subject to the mandatory deductions that apply to such payments. 

Any leave of absence without pay in excess of one (1) month duration shall be deducted from the 
Employee’s entitlement of sick pay credits at the rate of one-half (1/2) day sick pay credit for each 
month of leave. 

The amount that the GRCA may pay to supplement an Employee’s wages or salary while receiving 
WSIB Benefits will be deducted from the Employee’s entitlement of six (6) days sick leave credits. 

Employees who have less than one (1) year of service on November 30, will be entitled to a pro-rated 
work incentive, based on the number of months worked. 

2531 EMPLOYEE PURCHASE PLAN – PERSONAL COMPUTERS 
The GRCA offers a low-interest loan to Regular Full-time Employees for the purchase of a 
personal computer and accessories (this includes tablets). The loan will be made as follows: 

 The Employee must complete a “Computer Loan Agreement” with the invoice and original proof 
of payment attached and submit the documents to the Payroll Coordinator for processing. 

 Upon approval of the Computer Loan Agreement by the Deputy CAO/ Secretary- Treasurer, the 
Accounting Department will process an accounts payable cheque, made payable to the 
Employee, for the actual cost incurred by the Employee. 

The terms of the loan are as follows: 

 The amount of the loan is not to exceed two thousand dollars ($2000); 

 The loan is to be repaid over a twenty-four (24) month period through payroll deductions; 

 If an Employee has an existing loan under the plan and wants to upgrade their computer, they 
may increase their loan up to the two thousand dollar ($2000) level again once in a calendar 
year; 

 The increase outlined in iii) will be treated as a separate loan and will have a twenty-four (24) 
month repayment schedule; 

 The Employee shall be in default under the following conditions: 

106



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 72 of 72 

 Non PaymentNon-Payment of any installment; 

 Non-compliance with any of the terms and conditions; 

 Death, insolvency, business failure, appointment of a receiver over any part of the property, 
assignment for the benefit of creditors, or by the commencement of any proceeding under any 
bankruptcy or insolvency laws by or against the Employee; 

 Upon any such default, all obligations shall be immediately due and payable; 

 Any balance owing on termination of employment will be due and payable by cheque and/or will 
be deducted from the Employee’s final pay; 

 During any approved leave of absence, including pregnancy and parental leave, loan payments 
must continue as per the Agreement; 

 A taxable benefit, relating to the interest-free component of the loan, will be assessed in 
accordance with the Income Tax Act. 

Seasonal Full-time Employees, with a recurring season length of at least eight months annually, are 
also eligible to participate in the Personal Computer loan program, beginning in their second season of 
employment. All of the above-listed terms will apply with the following exceptions: 

25.1 The amount of the loan is not to exceed one thousand dollars ($1000); 

 The loan is to be repaid over the working season within a twenty-four (24) month period through 
payroll deductions. 

2632 EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 
The GRCA recognizes that problems in and outside of the workplace may affect Employees. Such 
problems could be financial, emotional, legal, social, or medical in nature, or any combination. As  

such, the GRCA provides an Employee Assistance Program (EAP) to help Employees. The EAP 
is a confidential counseling service available to employees and their family members.  The EAP 
is a full-service program based on a series of service sessions of in-person, telephone, video 
and/or email counselling per problem.  Employee participation shall be voluntary, and 
confidentiality shall be assured within the limits of the law.  

Confidentiality 

No information about an Employee’s use of EAP can be released to anyone without their written 
permission. This includes the GRCA, the Employee’s family members, or any other third party. 

Accessibility 

Service is available throughout the watershed and, as much as possible, is flexible in terms of 
accommodating employee’s personal timetables. 

Service Provider 

The EAP service is provided by HumanaCare. To access their services, call 1-877-234-5EAP, or visit 
their website at www.aspiria.ca. All services are provided by licensed professionals. 

Types of Services Covered 

 Counseling (e.g. couple, family and parenting) 

 Assistance with personal issues such as depression and stress 

107



 

Human Resources Policies – November 2023  Page 73 of 72 

 Legal consultations 

 Financial advice (1, 60 minute free consultation per person per issue per year) 

 Work-related problems 

 Nutrition (3 hours of free consultation per person per issue per year) 

Number of Hours of Service Provided 

EAP counselling provides short-term solution-focused therapy.  The therapist involved will create a 
treatment plan that falls within the EAP model,; which could be up to six (6) sessions.  The exact 
number of sessions will be determined by the assigned counsellorounsellercounsellor. 

108



Grand River Conservation Authority 
Report number:  GM-10-29-85 

Date:  November 29, 2023 

To:  Members of the Grand River Conservation Authority 

Subject:  Rockwood Bridge No.5 Replacement 

Recommendation: 
THAT the Grand River Conservation Authority (GRCA) award the tender for the Rockwood 
Bridge No. 5 Replacement to 560789 Ontario Inc. O/A R&M Construction for the amount of 
$238,022.50 excluding HST; 
AND THAT a total budget of $270,000.00 excluding HST be approved. 

Summary: 
Not applicable. 

Report: 
The Rockwood Conservation Area (CA) was acquired in 1959 from Edgar Harris, whose family 
owned the Rockwood Woolen Mill located on the property. A section of Guelph Line, before 
being relocated, ran through the property as well as the former Valley Road before both were 
purchased by the GRCA in 1966. As part of assuming the municipal roadways within the border 
of the CA, was the ownership of the associated bridges. What is now identified as Rockwood 
Bridge No. 5, is a narrow single-lane bridge located on the former Valley Road which consists of 
simple concrete bridge abutments with steel girders and a wooden deck. 
In 2015 the GRCA adopted the Ontario Structural Inspection Manual (OSIM) standard for the 
inspections of its bridges.  Through inspections, Rockwood Bridge No. 5 was identified to have 
severe scouring on the abutments.  The bridge was being monitored as plans to either repair or 
replace the structure were being discussed.  As the condition worsened the bridge was 
ultimately condemned and closed off to public use.  A wooden bridge that spans the existing 
abutments of Bridge No. 5 was constructed as a temporary measure to facilitate pedestrian and 
emergency utility vehicles. The GRCA then retained Moon-Matz Ltd. to design a replacement 
pedestrian bridge that would support maintenance and emergency vehicles. The tender for 
Rockwood Bridge No. 5 was publicly advertised on the Biddingo electronic procurement website 
on October 10, 2023, and closed on November 7, 2023. A total of fifty-five (55) potential bidders 
downloaded the tender package, with sixteen (16) attending the mandatory site meeting. Ten 
(10) bids were received as of the closing time.  
The tender submission was opened with an opening committee consisting of Kayleigh Keighan, 
Financial Controller, Brandon Heyer, Manager of Central Services, and Alan McKee, Project 
Supervisor. The tender submission was opened in the virtual presence of everyone while 
sharing the screen through Microsoft Teams. The results of the tender process are shown below 
in Table 1. 
  

109



Table 1 Tender Results 
Rank Company Tender Amount 

(excluding HST) 

1 560789 Ontario Inc. O/A R&M Construction  $238,022.50 

2 Unique Builders Inc $255,290.00 

2 Clearwater Structures Inc $268,760.00 

4 Lyncon Construction Inc. $298,579.05 

5 Performcrete Inc. $306,150.00 

6 Bomar Landscaping Inc. $348,000.00 

7 2220742 Ontario Inc. O/A Bronte Construction $354,340.00 

8 2585284 Ontario Inc. O/A Benton $420.369.00 

9 Murray Mills Excavating & Trucking (Sarnia) Inc. $459,800.00 

10 HugoMB Contracting Inc. $515,677.00 

Staff are satisfied with the lowest cost submission as it aligns with our requirements and budget. 
Moon-Matz also reviewed the bids for irregularities & completeness and based on the 
submission they have recommended the project be awarded to 560789 Ontario Inc. O/A R&M 
Construction. 
The tender amount includes a $15,000 contingency to account for minor construction and 
design changes. GRCA staff recommend that a budget be approved with an additional internal 
contingency added to allow staff to work with the consultant and the contractor to resolve 
unforeseen required project changes. The total proposed budget is shown in Table 2. 
Table 2: Budget 

Tender Amount (includes a $15,000 contingency) $238,022.50 

Internal GRCA Project Contingency $31,977.50 

Total budget excluding HST $270,000.00 

 

Financial Implications: 
This work will be included in the 2024 Conservation Areas capital budget. 

Other Department Considerations: 
Conservation Areas, Natural Heritage and Resource Planning have been involved with design 
and approval of the proposed bridge. 

Prepared by: Approved by: 
Alan McKee Karen Armstrong 

Deputy CAO/Secretary-Treasurer Project Supervisor 
Brandon Heyer 
Manager of Central Services 

110



Grand River Conservation Authority 

Report number:  GM-11-24-87 

Date:  November 24, 2023 

To:  Members of the Grand River Conservation Authority 

Subject:  Shand Dam Isolation Stoplogs Procurement – Tender Award 

Recommendation: 
THAT the Grand River Conservation Authority award the contract for the Shand Dam Isolation 
Stoplog Procurement to Embertech Industrial Inc. for the amount of $476,000 (excluding HST);
AND THAT an overall project budget of $523,600 (excluding HST) be approved for this project. 

Summary: 
A public Tender for the Shand Dam Stoplog Procurement was posted publicly on Biddingo on 
Friday November 3, 2023.  The GRCA received one (1) tender package prior to the bid closing 
on Wednesday November 15, 2023, and recommends award of the tender to Embertech 
Industrial Incorporated. The Embertech quotation package met all the submission requirements. 

Report: 
The GRCA manages a large portfolio of water control structures. Annual inspections are 
performed at the structures and repair work is identified, then planned and prioritized as part of 
the 5 year budget forecasts. Inspections have identified the need for upcoming remedial work 
on the gates at Shand Dam. Hatch Limited has carried out design and specifications for 
fabrication and tender of stop logs on behalf of the GRCA. This project will carry out fabrication 
and supply of the stoplogs. The design calls for one set of seven (7) metal stop logs to fully 
isolate one of the four (4) dam sluices. The logs will be transferrable to all bays and allow for 
isolation to partial height to allow for work on more than one bay at a time. The gate sluices 
were constructed with isolation stop log gains, however the stoplogs were never supplied with 
the original construction of Shand Dam. The operations regime for the reservoir has been 
changed over the years and the reservoir is no longer drained down to allow work on the gate 
components. The currently identified need for use of the isolation stoplogs include gate 
recoating and refurbishing of seized rollers and worn roller path on the gates. A separate project 
will be carried out for the construction of a storage facility for the new isolation stoplogs.  
Refurbishment of the isolation stoplogs gains will be planned for 2024 to 2025 prior to 
installation of the new isolation stoplogs. 
A Public Tender for fabrication and supply of seven metal isolation stoplogs was posted publicly 
on Biddingo on Friday November 3, 2023. A total of eleven companies picked up the digital 
tender documents. A bid was received by one company, and was opened following tender 
closing on Wednesday November 15, 2023, at 11:00 am at the GRCA Administration Office. 
The Tender Opening Committee consisted of the Manager of Water Infrastructure, Manager of 
Corporate Services, Infrastructure Engineer and Project Advisor. 

Table 1 – Tender Summary 
Contractor Amount (Excluding HST) 

Embertech Industrial Incorporated. $476,000.00 

111



The tender documents were reviewed by Hatch Limited and meet all submission requirements.  
The constrained project schedule to meet provincial grant funding timelines, along with a busy 
market and a small number of specialized suppliers that can deliver this project may have led to 
the low number of bids received for this project. Although only one bid was received it is of the 
opinion of Hatch and GRCA staff that this bid is a fair and competitive price for the project.  The 
proposed project cost by weight of steel is a reasonable price, and references for the supplier 
were interviewed to confirm that Embertech is able to bid competitively and offer good value on 
similar projects. The proposed bid cost will be covered within the existing project budget, with 50 
percent funding approved through the provincial Water and Erosion Control Infrastructure 
(WECI) program. The award of the project is recommended to go to Embertech Industrial 
Incorporated. as meeting all requirements.   

Financial Implications: 
The funding for this project has been included in the Water Control Structures maintenance 
budgets and 50 percent grant funding has been received under the provincial Water and 
Erosion Control Infrastructure (WECI) program. The remaining 50 percent of the project cost will 
be funded from the Land Sale Reserves. The initial budget of $700,000 was established for the 
supply of the stoplogs and refurbishment of the stoplog gains. 

Other department considerations: 
Not applicable. 

Prepared by: Approved by: 
Katelyn Lynch, P.Eng 
Manager of Water Infrastructure 

Samantha Lawson 
Chief Administrative Officer 

112



Grand River Conservation Authority 
Report number:  GM-11-23-89 

Date:  November 15, 2023 

To:  Members of the Grand River Conservation Authority 

Subject:  Current Watershed Conditions as of November 15, 2023 

Recommendation: 
THAT Report Number GM-11-23-89 – Current Watershed Conditions as of November 15, 2023 
be received as information. 

Summary: 
October was generally warmer than usual with precipitation slightly higher than September but 
still below long-term average levels. The temperatures across the watershed remained higher 
than the long-term average throughout the month with multiple days above 20 degrees Celsius. 
During the month of October, the watershed has observed precipitation levels that have been 
around 80% of long-term averages, ranging from as low as 69 percent in Cambridge to 92 
percent in Bellwood area. 
Higher than normal precipitation during summer along with improved groundwater conditions 
prompted the Low Water Response Team to remove the watershed from Level 1 low water 
conditions and return the entire watershed to normal conditions as of September 13, 2023, but 
lower rainfall in September and October may impact watersheds recovery. All reservoirs are 
within their normal operating range. 
Lake Erie continues to be above the long-term average, and between the levels in 2021 and 
2022. The long-term forecast over the next three months is for above normal temperatures and 
near normal precipitation. 

Report: 
Precipitation 
After a wet summer and significant precipitation in June, July and August, the watershed 
experienced a dry fall with significantly lower precipitation in the month of September. 
Precipitation in October has been slightly higher than September. Precipitation over the first two 
weeks of November has also been lower than long-term averages, ranging between 58 percent  
in Kitchener/Waterloo area to 80 percent in Shand Dam area, as shown in Table 1.  This may 
potentially be the result of the El Nino phenomena observed this fall. 

Trends in precipitation, as presented in Table 2, show that during the month of October, the 
watershed has observed precipitation levels that have been around 80 percent of long-term 
averages, ranging from 69 percent in Cambridge to 92 percent  in Shand Dam area.  Over the 
mid-term, the watershed shows signs of recovery from dry conditions in 2022 with normal to 
above normal precipitation at most locations. Over the long term, the precipitation levels appear 
to approach normal long-term averages.  A visual representation of these trends for the Shand 
climate station is provided in Figure 1. 

113



Table 1: Current monthly precipitation for climate stations across the watershed up to 
November 15, 2023 including the long-term average precipitation for half of November. 

Climate Station Current Month 
Precipitation 
(millimeters) 

Long Term Average 
Precipitation 
(millimeters) 

Percentage of Long 
Term Average 

Percent (%) 
Shand 36.8 42.4 87% 

Conestogo 28.4 47.6 60% 

Guelph 30.5 40.2 76% 

Luther 35.6 46.2 77% 

Woolwich 29.6 34.8 85% 

Laurel 24.4 41.8 58% 

Shades 25.3 38.9 65% 

Brantford 29.3 36.8 80% 

Table 2: Precipitation trends as a percentage (%) of the long-term average over the last 18 
months 

Climate Station Last 
Month 

Last 3 
Months 

Last 6 
Months 

Last 12 
Months 

Last 18 
Months 

Shand 92% 87% 100% 107% 94% 

Conestogo 79% 79% 100% 105% 97% 

Guelph 74% 77% 99% 106% 94% 

Luther 78% 73% 100% 113% 99% 

Woolwich 78% 76% 101% 103% 88% 

Laurel 96% 75% 86% 97% 82% 

Shades 69% 81% 107% 108% 91% 

Brantford 79% 68% 90% 106% 94% 

Air Temperatures  
October was generally warmer than usual across the watershed. At the beginning of the month, 
multiple days with maximum temperatures exceeding 20 degrees Celsius were observed across 
the watershed. The average temperature across the watershed during the month of September 
was approximately 2.4 degrees above the long-term average.  At the Shand Dam climate 
station, daily maximum temperatures exceeded 20 degrees Celsius for 7 days during the month 
of October and daily averages ranged between 2 to 21 degrees Celsius with an average daily 
temperature of 10.7 degrees Celsius.  
The air temperature during the first half of November has been typical for this time of the year. 
The average temperature at the Shand Dam climate station over the first two weeks of 
November was 3.5 degrees Celsius which is same as the long-term average for the first half of 
the month of November. 
A visual representation of these trends for the Shand climate station is provided in Figure 2. 

114



Lake Erie Water Levels 
During October, the average lake level was approximately 0.25 meters above the long-term 
average. Levels remained elevated during the first half of November and are 
approximately 0.28 meters above the long-term average. The forecast for Lake Erie is for lake 
levels to continue to remain above the long-term average over the fall and winter months 
following regular seasonal patterns. Figure 3 shows the range of water levels that are expected 
over the next six months as well as the observed water levels over the last three years. 
Reservoir Conditions 
The large reservoirs are generally closer to the top of their normal operating levels with the 
exception of Shand dam which is at the lower range of normal operating level, mainly due to 
drier conditions in the fall, specifically September. Flows through the watershed continue to be 
above the flow augmentation targets.  
Reservoirs have been used to augment river flows during the fall. Through Kitchener, 
augmentation levels dropped from around 60 percent at the beginning of October to around 20 
percent at the end of the month. In Brantford, augmentation levels dropped from around 35 
percent in early October to around 15 percent at the end of October. On Speed River, 
augmentation levels dropped from around 50 percent at the beginning of October to around 25 
percent at the end of the month. These declines may be attributed to the increase in rainfall in 
October, compared to September. Year to date reservoir levels and operating rule curves are 
shown in Figures 4 and 5 for the four largest reservoirs. 
Long Range Forecast  
Environment and Climate Change Canada is forecasting above normal temperatures and closer 
to normal precipitation for the watershed over the 3 months of November, December, and 
January. 
Low Water Response  
The above normal precipitation during the summer months and observed signs of groundwater 
recovery in targeted monitoring locations resulted in the removal of the watershed from level 1 
low water conditions and return of the entire watershed to normal conditions as of September 
13, 2023.  
While the watershed is currently under normal conditions with respect to low water, the low 
precipitation levels observed during the months of September and October along with potential 
consequences of the El Nino phenomena may impact the watershed’s full recovery from the dry 
conditions observed during the previous year. The low water response team will closely monitor 
the conditions and assess the watershed’s status based on observed precipitation and 
groundwater conditions. 
Flood Preparedness  
Reservoir conditions are being monitored closely and staff continue to hold weekly meetings as 
part of planning initiatives, dam operations and flood emergency preparedness.  
County of Brants annual Emergency Management Exercise was conducted on October 19, at 
the Emergency Operations Centre located at OPP station in Paris. GRCA staff participated in 
the exercise and attended the EOC in person, providing support during the exercise as a 
member of the operations team. As part of the exercise, GRCA staff provided travel time for a 
significant amount of fuel spill occurring at Highway 403 on the Grand River, in collaboration 
with representatives from police, fire department and County staff.  
 
Senior Operators, Duty Officers and Communications will be attending Incident Management 
System Training in November. This system is used to manage many types of incidents, 
especially those requiring an emergency response and is used by our municipalities and 
emergency services (police, fire, paramedics).   

115



 
The fall 2023 Flood Coordinators Meeting is scheduled for December 5, 2023, and will be held 
in-person this year. In addition to information on the Flood Warning system, Trudy Kidd, 
Operational Meteorologist from Environment Canada, will give a presentation on severe 
weather in the Grand River Watershed. 

Financial Implications: 
Not applicable 

Other Department Considerations: 
Not applicable 

Prepared by: Approved by: 
Vahid Taleban, M. Sc., P. Eng.   Samantha Lawson 
Manager of Flood Operations    Chief Administrative Officer 
 
  

116



Figures: 
Figure 1: Shand Dam Monthly Precipitation 2019 to November 15, 2023 

 

Figure 2: Monthly Average Air Temperatures at Shand Dam from 2019 to November 15, 2023 

 

0

25

50

75

100

125

150

175

200

Jan-19 Jan-20 Jan-21 Jan-22 Jan-23

M
on

th
ly

 P
re

ci
pi

ta
ito

n 
(m

m
)

Date

Shand Dam Monthly Precipitation 2019- 2023

Monthly Precipitation Long Term Average

-6
-5
-4
-3
-2
-1
0
1
2
3
4
5
6

Jan-19

Jan-20

Jan-21

Jan-22

Jan-23

Te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

 A
no

m
al

ie
s 

( o
C

 )

Date

117



Figure 3: Water levels for Lake Erie at Port Colborne 

 

  

173.5

174.0

174.5

175.0

175.5

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

La
ke

 E
rie

 L
ak

e 
El

ev
at

io
n 

(m
)

Date

Lake Erie Port Colborne Monthly Mean Lake Levels

Long Term Average Lake Erie Level
Most Probable Future Level  Probable Range of Future Levels

118



Figure 4: Shand and Conestogo Reservoir Elevation Plots for 2023 

 

  

408

410

412

414

416

418

420

422

424

426

1-Jan

31-Jan

2-M
ar

1-Apr

1-M
ay

31-M
ay

30-Jun

30-Jul

29-Aug

28-Sep

28-O
ct

27-N
ov

27-D
ec

La
ke

 E
le

va
tio

n 
(m

)

Date

Shand Dam Reservoir Elevation 2023

Rule Curve 2023 Water Level

370

372

374

376

378

380

382

384

386

388

390

392

394

396

1-Jan

31-Jan

2-M
ar

1-Apr

1-M
ay

31-M
ay

30-Jun

30-Jul

29-Aug

28-Sep

28-O
ct

27-N
ov

27-D
ec

La
ke

 E
le

va
tio

n 
(m

)

Date

Conestogo Dam Reservoir Elevation 2023

Rule Curve 2023 Water Level

119



Figure 5: Guelph and Luther Reservoir Elevation Charts for 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

340

342

344

346

348

350

1-Jan

31-Jan

2-M
ar

1-Apr

1-M
ay

31-M
ay

30-Jun

30-Jul

29-Aug

28-Sep

28-O
ct

27-N
ov

27-D
ec

La
ke

 E
le

va
tio

n 
(m

)

Date

Guelph Dam Reservoir Elevation 2023

Rule Curve 2023 Water Level

480

481

481

482

482

483

1-Jan

31-Jan

2-M
ar

1-Apr

1-M
ay

31-M
ay

30-Jun

30-Jul

29-Aug

28-Sep

28-O
ct

27-N
ov

27-D
ec

La
ke

 E
le

va
tio

n 
(m

)

Date

Luther Dam Reservoir Elevation 2023

Rule Curve 2023 Water Level

120


	Agenda
	6. Minutes of the Previous Meetings
	a. Minutes of the Ad-hoc CA Act Review Committee - November 8, 2023
	1. Category 3 Program Request Letter
	1. Category 3 Program Request Letter
	b. GM-11-23-84 - Cash and Investment Status
	b. GM-11-23-84 - Cash and Investment Status
	c. GM-11-23-86 - Reserves 2023
	c. GM-11-23-86 - Reserves 2023
	d. GM-11-23-86 - Financial Summary
	d. GM-11-23-86 - Financial Summary
	d. GM-11-23-86 - Financial Summary
	e. GM-11-23-88 - Human Resources Policies Update
	e. GM-11-23-88 - Human Resources Policies Update
	f. GM-11-23-85 - Rockwood Bridge No.5 Replacement
	g. GM-11-23-87 - Shand Dam Isolation Stoplogs Procurement - Tender Award
	h. GM-11-23-89 - Current Watershed Conditions

